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Fellow Shareholders:

Solid execution in each of our businesses translated into good results for CheckFree in fiscal 2005. We maintained
our focus on increasing free cash flow, our key financial metric, while we continued to invest in building out the
company's advantage in cost and quality efficiency. We continued to drive important innovation and increased
quality within our operating and technology infrastructure and our software solutions, which enabled us to deliver

the competitive advantage our customers require.

A significant part of CheckFree’s core strategy is the belief that, as the market-defining leader in our two
primary service infrastructure markets, we will be advantaged by driving out cost. At the same time, investing
to expand the value we enable our customers to provide to their customers will allow our overall business

volume to continue to accelerate.

We believe this creates growth and expanded opportunity that substantially outpaces the cost reductions we pass
along to our clients. Our results for fiscal 2005 are consistent with previous years in supporting this strategy, as we
were able to meet our targets for iricreased cost efficiency, extend the reach of our Six Sigma Process Excellence

quality initiatives to each part of our organization, and meet our growth targets.

These are the ohjectives we suggested our shareholders track as we began fiscal 2005. These are also the objectives
that allowed CheckFree to further strengthen our core competency of making it easier for financial services

organizations and corporations to manage their complex transaction systems.

Fiscal 2005: Strengthen the Foundation for Growth

Throughout each of our operating divisions, we saw strong performance during the year. We achieved consolidated
revenue of $757.8 million, which represents a 25 percent increase over fiscal 2004, and reported earnings per share

of $0.50 on a GAAP basis, which represents substantial year-over-year improvement.

In Electronic Commerce, we managed the successful integration of the walk-in payments operation into the
unit. We saw consistent growth in both transactions processed, with 905 million for the year, and the number
of bills we delivered electronically, with about 140 million for the year. We achieved broader acceptance of
our flagship electronic billing and payment solution, implementing the latest version of CheckFree Web™ at
hundreds of financial institutions across the United States, and reaching more than half of our total
subscriber base with this advanced solution for single-point bill management. Having established electronic
connections with a greater number of merchants, we continued to increase our electronic rate, with better

than 84 percent of payments now being processed electronically.




- ‘reconciliation. At the same time, we continued to add enhanced functionality to CheckFree APL®™, the current .

I believe one of our greatest achievements this year was the successful expansion of our Software division.

Amidst the improving Separately Managed Accounts industry and the fee-based market overall, our Investment
Services division performed well. We continued to build-out CheckFree EPL®™, our future-platform to support

the managed accounts industry, by introducing early modules for new account workflow and automated.

infrastructure for our money manager and broker/dealer clients. We saw-a 20 percent lift in portfolios under

management year-over-year, with a final tally of 1.9 million portfolios at the end of fiscal 2005.

With a more sharply focused strategy targeting the highly complex back-end financial transaction services
market, this division now has the opportunity to become a more meaningful contributor to our corporate
growth. The acquisition of UK-based Accurate Software expanded our international presence, giving us
critical expertise and market reach. This business complements our existing reconciliation and compliance A
software offerings, and positions us as the global leader in operational risk management and trade process

management solutions that deliver greater efficiency and control over financial transactions.

Fiscal 2006: Execute Like Never Before R

The strength of our core businesses has put us in a solid position for continued growth in fiscal 2006. Maintaining -

this foothold will require that we execute even better than we have in the past.

We are still early in the market maturity of.both eléctronic billing and payment.and Separately Managed‘
Accounts. Over the next 36 months, you should see developments that, when completed, will make today’s
services look simple-by comparison. We have set our sights on speeding up the rate of developmeht, and._yéu
should hold us accountable to widening our lead iri these important markets. To that end, we have

formed a new corporate-wide technology and operétions group headed by our new Chief Information Officer,

Steve Olsen, and have armed him with the resources to increase both speed and scale.

We continue to hold to our goal of improving overall efficiency to sustain bottom-line growth as we drive to -
increase both productivity and ease-of-use throughout our products and services across all three opefatingv — -
divisions. We also recognize that in complex, high-value, high-risk financial transaction services rﬁarkets, there is
increasing focus on the part of buyers to acquire technology and services that guarantee full, value-added

solutions, rather than simply buying and implementing “good technology.” We lead ‘our‘markets in this capability:

and intend to continue to invest in this “full-solution” approach.




Just as aggressively as we want our customers to upgrade to our new and higher value services, we want to
continue to drive down the costs for them. Our push to innovate and drive costs out of our customers’ services
so they can aggressively expand their participation in our targeted markets is the positive win-win result of
increasing return economics. Managing market cost and value is fundamental to leveraging the full competitive

advantage of being a strong market leader.

In fiscal 2006, we are prepared for the expiration of the TransPoint guaranteed minimum revenues, which have
been in place for five years. The expiration of these agreements with First Data Corp. and Microsoft does not
change our underlying business objectives: to improve scalability and efficiency, to lower operating costs and
to continuously innovate to meet the .needs of our customers. We have stated consistently throughout the life
of the TransPoint contracts that we have been investing steadily to expand our markets to increase the growth
of our businesses in anticipation of those revenue commitments expiring in fiscal 2006. You should hold us

accountable for proving that we have done a good job in investing that cash.

In our Electronic Commerce division, we have tremendous leverage given our considerable scale efficiencies and
deep, ongoing investment in innovation that creates low-cost and market-leading — actually, market-defining —
service and value levels. Electronic billing and payment is serving the financial services market well, with most
segments of the retail financial services industry recognizing real increases in profitability from their retail base
through their electronic billing and payment channels. We believe we can continue to increase that profitability
for our clients, and will continue to drive consumer adoption while we enhance the value we deliver to our

Consumer Service Provider clients and billing organizations.

We plan significant investments in increasing scale, and improving industry security and redundancy capabilities
within the entire market. As a primary infrastructure service provider for the U.S. financial services system, we
believe it is a requirement to have the security and disaster recovery capabilities to deal with the potential for
both natural disasters and intentional attacks on our systems. We intend to lead the industry in providing

assurances that our systems are secure.

Fiscal 2006 will also be a big year for investment in the next-generation platform for the Separately Managed
Accounts market. We have shown our Investment Services clients how CheckFree FPL will reach deeper into their
costly manual operations, reducing the costs of managing client portfolios by more than 50 percent — while
increasing their ability to customize investment services for their customers. We've made big claims for this new
platform, and while Multiple Strategy Portfolios and New Account Workflow are early winners, we still have
much to do. The coming year will be the most significant one in CheckFree EPL development, as we build out the
largest portion of the infrastructure. We will also continue to improve our existing APL platform, increasing its

security and back-up capabilities, as well as making incremental improvements in scale efficiency.




In our Software lelSlOn we- will be focused on the successful 1ntegrat10n of the Accurate Software ‘business.

- We are posmoned*to take advantage of our unique global strength in complex financial transaction services,

with a greatly expanded capability to serve:this growing international market Increased regulatory standards
and demands for near-immediate speed in financial transaction management are creating a growmg market
opportunity for us. CheckFree's Software division will continue to look for opportunltles to grow both

organically and externally to expand our leadership in this space.

Across' the enterprise, we also will keep driving our quality initiatives through Six Sigma Process Excellence.

- As transaction volumes and complexities increase, our-customers’ need for accuracy and reliability has never

been ‘more important. We have set the standard for quality in: ouf markets, but we must continue té demand
more of ourselves: Consumer trust and client satisfaction. both reached high levels for us during fiscal 2005.
We will pursue even higher levels for all business units. e

I am pleased with the company’s performance to this point. Moving forward, we have the strength to increase
our investment in each division and grow the business in every key category. ‘At the same time, we are. -
setting high expectations for each of our divisions, requiring-each to execute even -better than-we.have in the

past — raising the bar, as always. -

Pete Kight - B - o

Chairman and Chief Exécutive Officer - o .
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Part 1

Item 1. Business.

19 0 EEre

“All references o “we,” “us,” “our,” "CheckFree” or the “Company” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K mean CheckFree Corporation and all entities owned or controlled by CheckFree Corporation,
except where it is made clear that the term only means the parent company. '

We own many trademarks and service marks. This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains trade .
dress, trade names and trademarks of other companies. Use or display of other parties’ trademarks, trade -
dress or trade names is not intended to, and does not, imply a relationship with the trademark or trade
dress owner. :

Overview

CheckFree was founded in 1981 as an 'electrénic payment processing-company and has become a
leading provider of financial electronic commerce products and services. Our current business was
developed through the expansion of our core electronic payments business and the acquisition of
companies operating in s1m11ar or complementary busmesses

Through our Electronic Commerce Division, we enable consumers to.receive and pay bIHS For the
year ended June 30, 2005, we processed approximately 905 million transactions, and delivered
approximately 140 million electronic bills (“e-bills”). For the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we processed
approximately 245 million. payment transactions and delivered more than 41 million e-bills. The number of
transactions we process each year continues to grow. For the year ended June 30, 2005, growth in the
number of transactions processed exceeded 55%. The Electronic Commerce Division accounted for
approx1mately 76% of our consolidated revenues. B

Through our Investment Services Division, we provide a range of portfoho managcmcnt services to
financial institutions, including broker dealers, money managers and investment advisors. As-of
June 30, 2005, our clients used the CheckFree APL™ portfolio accounting system (“CheckFree APL”)
to manage 1.9 million portfolios, representing more than $1 trillion in assets. The Investment Services
Division accounted for approxxmately 13% of our consolidated revenues.

Our Software Division provides financial software,~ maintenance, support and professional services
under five product lines — bank payments, operational risk management/reconciliation, financial
messaging/corporate actions, compliance and electronic billing — to large financial service providers and
other companies across a range of industries. The Software Division accounted for approximately 11% of
our consolidated revenues. On April 30, 2005, we acquired Accurate Software Limited (“Accurate”),

a U.K.-based provider of reconciliation, exception management, workflow and business intelligence
solutions. As part of the Software Division, Accurate enables us to further solidify our leadership in
financial software and services, expand our global prcsence and client base, and drive continued product

innovation in operational risk management solutions for banks, securities firms and corporations.

Electronic Commerce Division

Introduction. The Electronic Commerce Division enables consumers to receive and pay bills
electronically. Its products enable consumers to: '

s receive e-bills through.the Internet;
* pay any bill — whether it arrives over the Internet or through traditional mail — to anyone; and-
e make payments not related to bills — to anyone.

Consumers using our services access CheckFree’s system primarily through Consumer Service
Providers (“CSPs”). CSPs are organizations, such as banks, brokerage firms, Internet portals and content
sites, Internet-based banks, Internet financial sites, and personal financial management software providers,
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that use our products to enable consumers to receive and/or pay bills electronically. We have relationships
with hundreds of CSPs. Some of our largest CSPs, as determined by type of CSP and number of
consumers using our products, are Bank of America, Charles Schwab & Co., Navy Federal Credit Union,
msn.com, PNC Bank, SunTrust Banks, Wachovia Bank, Washington Mutual, Inc. and U.S. Bank. This list
of our CSPs is not exhaustive and does not fully represent our customer base. Consumers can also access
our system through CheckFree hosted biller direct sites or through www.mycheckfree.com.

Industry Background. 1In 2004, 16.7 billion consumer bills were sent and 14.4% of those were
delivered online, according to TowerGroup. On average, the cost to a biller of submitting a paper bill,
including printing, postage and billing inserts, is $1.10 per bill according to a Gartner Group study. In
contrast, electronic bills reduce that cost by over half. Today, approximately 55% of major billers present
electronic bills in one fashion or another, and an additional 30% of major billers have firm plans to do so,
according to the same Gartner study.

According to Tower Group and the Federal Reserve, an estimated 35 billion paper checks were
written in the United States in 2004, down from about 41.9 billion in 2000. The use of checks for bill
payment imposes significant costs on financial services organizations, businesses and their customers.
These costs include the writing, mailing, recording and manual processing of checks. The majority of
today’s consumer bill payments are completed using traditional paper-based methods. According to Tower
Group, of an estimated 20.7 billion consumer bill payments that occurred in 2004, 68.2% were paid by
paper check, 20.4% were paid by electronic means and the remainder were paid by other means (cash,
payroll deduction, money order, etc.). By comparison, in 2003, consumers used checks to pay 72.1% of
bills, and paid electronically 16% of the time. Many financial services organizations and businesses have
invested in the infrastructure for recording, reporting and executing electronic transactions. We believe the
broad impact of the Internet, the relatively high cost of producing, printing and mailing a paper bill and
the cost to financial services organizations, businesses and customers of processing paper checks will
continue the trend toward increased usage of electronic methods to execute financial transactions.

Products and Services. We provide a variety of products that allow consumers to receive and pay
bills. CSPs can offer our services to customers either through a hosted application, known as CheckFree
Web®™, or through various protocols that link online banking applications to our Genesis billing and
payment engine. Through our CSPs, -we support both Microsoft’s Money and Quicken® for electronic bill
payment. In addition, we offer a small business-based version of CheckFree Web optimized for business
users, CheckFree Web for Small Business®™. All products feature the ability to “pay anyone, anytime,
anywhere” and the ability to receive hundreds of different bills electronically. The most recent version of
CheckFree Web was released in August 2004 and further advanced the capabilities available to consumers,
including same day and next day payments, and substantial ease-of-use improvements.

s Electronic Billing or e-Bill Services. As of June 30, 2005, consumers could view 312 different
e-bills through CSP websites or directly at our website. The following billers are some of our largest
electronic billing customers, as determined by the number of consumers viewing and paying their
e-bills: Bank of America Credit Card, JC Penney Card Services, SBC Communications, Sam’s
Club Credit, Macy’s, Home Depot Consumer Accounts, Lowe’s Consumer Credit Card, Sprint
PCS, Verizon Corporation and Texaco. Actual e-bills delivered in the fourth quarter ended
June 30, 2005, approached 41 million, which is an increase of 11% over the approximately
36.8 million e-bills distributed in the third quarter ended March 31, 2005, and an increase of more
than 58% over the approximately 25.9 million e-bills delivered in the fourth quarter ended
June 30, 2004. For the year, we delivered about 140 million e-bills.

« Electronic Payment or the CheckFree PayAnyone™ Service. Our PayAnyone service allows
consumers to literally pay anyone electronically. Once a consumer has accessed the system, he or
she can either elect to pay an electronic bill delivered by us or can instruct the system to pay any
individual or company within the United States. We complete this payment request either
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electronically, using the Federal Reserve’s Automated Clearing House (“ACH”), or:in some
instances other electronic methods such as Visa ePay, ‘or- by issuing a paper check or draft.

o Automated Clearing House. The Federal Reserve’ s ACH is the pnmary batch oriénted )
electronic funds transfer system financial services organizations use to move funds electromcally,
through the banking 'system. We access the ACH through an agreement with SunTrust Bank.

~ Additional information on the ACH can be found at the Fedcral Reserve Commlssmn s websitet—-

at www federalreserve gov.

-» Paper Chectks or Drafts. ‘When we are unable to move the funds"electronically, we issue a paper
check, drawn on our trust account, or a paper draft, drawn on the consumer’s bank account.

« Payment Method Selection. Our Genesis systcm containg patented techriology that dctermmcs
the preferred method of payment to balance processing costs, operational efficiencies and risk.of
loss. We have been able to manage our risk of loss by using this technology to adjust the mix of
‘electronic and paper transactions in individual cases such that, overall, we have not incurred
losses in excess of 0.41% of our revenues in-any of the past five years., ‘ '

« Walk-in Payment Services. Through our acquisition of American Payment Systems, Inc.
(“APS”)"in June 2004, we are able to offer walk-in payment services at more than 10,000 retail
“and agent locations throughout the United States. The acquisition combines the APSfootprint"
* with our current electronic bllhng and payment infrastructure to offer brlhng orgamzanons a
wider number of payment processing services from a smglc company

Usage Metrics. We report usage metrics in several ways We report global numbers showmg the total
number of transactions. For the year ended June 30, 2005, we processed 905 million transactions, an
increase of 55% over the previous year, and delivered about ‘140 million e-bills, which represented growth
of 72% over e-bills delivered in the prior year. We also report usage based on the relationship we have  «
with the CSP, either a “Full Service” relationship .or a “Payment Services” relationship. A Full Service

~ relationship is one with a CSP that outsources the complete electronic billing and payment process to us.

A Payment Services relationship is one with a CSP that utilizes only a subset of our electronic billing and
payment services or uses one of our other Electronic Commerce Division products. Using these metrics, . .
for the year ended June 30, 2005, we processed approximately 592 million transactions related to Full
Service consumers and approximately 313. million transactions in the Payment Services category. This _
compares to approximately 440 million Full Service transactions and approximately 143 mllhon Payment
Serv1ces transactions in the year ended June 30, 2004.. ‘

e

The CheckFree Advantage. We Have developed numerous systcms and prcgrams to cnhance‘onr
billing ‘and payment products. ' : - o : i

* Scalable Genesis Platform. The Genesis platform is an open infrastructure created to process
e-bills and payments. Prior to the acquisition of APS, all transaction processing for all consumers
using our services was performed on the Genesis platform, cnabhng us to improve our economies of
scale. ‘ :

. Stgma Quality. In fiscal year 2000, we began an internal Sigma quality prograrm, which fies
employee performance evaluations and compensation to the achievement of process and system

improvements which drive customer satisfaction. The program links key drivers of satisfaction to an

internal set of metrics of system avarlablhty and paymerit accuracy and timeliness, to “take our
quality performance to 99.9%, or 4.6 Sigma. As a result of .our Sigma quality program in 2003, we
voluntarily raised our service level agreements across our cntrre basc of CSPs.

o Electronic Payment Rate. FElectronic payments are more cfﬁcrent than paper paymcnts less
expensive to process initially, result in fewer errors and result in fewer customer inquiries. As of
June 30, 2005, we completed over 84% of our-payments electronically. This compares to 79% as of

. June 30, 2004. In addition to sending a large majority of our payments electronically, we also have
developed a process by which we include with the payment additional information the receiving
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merchant has given us about how its payment should be transmitted. We have established
connectivity with thousands of merchants to provide this additional information.

» Experienced Customer Care. We have approximately 800 trained, experienced customer care staff
located in facilities in Phoenix, Arizona; Dublin, Ohio; Aurora, linois; and Wallingford,
Connecticut. The level and types of customer care services we provide vary depending upon the
customer’s or CSP’s requirements. We provide both first- and second-tier support. When we
provide first-tier customer care, we handle all inbound customer calls, in some cases under the
CSP’s name. When we provide second-tier customer support, we provide payment research and
support, and the CSP handles its own inbound customer calls. To maintain our customer care
standards, we employ extensive internal monitoring systems, conduct ongoing customer surveys and
provide comprehensive training programs.

* Real-Time Payment Processing for Walk-In Payments. We offer billers a “real-time” payment
solution, meaning that billers can receive customer payment information as soon as payments are
made at one of our retail agent locations, assuring that unnecessary service shut-offs of customers
who pay their bills at the last minute are avoided. Real-time payments also have the advantage of
minimizing calls to a biller’s call center by providing the biller’s customer with the confidence that
the biller has already received his payment even before the customer leaves the agent location.

Our Business Strategy. Our business strategy is to provide an expanding range of convenient, secure
and cost-effective electronic commerce services and related products to financial services organizations,
Internet-based information sites, businesses that generate recurring bills and statements, and their
customers. We have designed our services and products to take advantage of opportunities we perceive in
light of current trends and our fundamental strategy. The key elements of our business strategy are to:

» Drive increased adoption of electronic commerce services by consumers. We believe that consumers
will move their financial transactions from traditional paper-based to electronic methods if they
have an easy-to-access, easy-to-use, secure, and cost-effective method for receiving and paying their
bills electronically. To drive this transition, we make our e-bill and payment services available
directly, through CSPs and through biller sites so that e-bills are available wherever consumers feel
most comfortable viewing and paying them. We also price our services to our customers in such a
way as to facilitate their offering electronic billing and payment to a broad array of consumers.
CSPs and billers pay us based on the number of their consumers enabled to use our system, the
number of transactions we process, or some combination of both. The price charged for each
consumer or each transaction is negotiated individually with each CSP and may vary depending on:

+ the services provided to the consumers;
+ the nature of the transactions processed; and
+ the volume of consumers, transactions, or both.

We believe this flexibility equips our CSPs and billers to provide consumers with services that will
meet their needs, and that this flexibility makes it more attractive for CSPs and billers to promote our
electronic billing and payment service.

» Continue to improve operational efficiency and effectiveness. We believe that as our business
grows and the number of transactions we process increases, we will be able to take advantage of
operating efficiencies associated with increased volumes, thereby reducing our unit costs. Our
Sigma quality program, high electronic rate, consolidation of platforms, the scalability of the
Genesis system and high-quality customer care centers all help us achieve greater efficiencies.

» Drive new forms of electronic commerce services. We intend to leverage our infrastructure and
distribution channels to address the requirements of consumers and businesses in new electronic
commerce applications. For example, through our purchase of APS, we now offer a more complete
suite of payment services to meet the needs of consumers and billers. In addition, our core payment
and processing network can manage person-to-person and small business payments.
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Technology, Research and Development. Our core technology capabilities were developed to handle
settlement services, merchant database services and online inquiry services on a traditional mainframe
system with direct communications to businesses. We have 1mplemented a logical, nationwide “n-tier”
internetworking infrastructure, which networks together any number of other networks, passing transaction
data among them. For example, we internetwork together networks of billers, consumers, CSPs, retail
agents and financial institutions to complete clectronic billing and payment transactions. Consumers,
businesses and financial services organizations access our electronic billing and payment transaction
internetworking infrastructure through the Internet, dial-up telephone lines, pnvately leased lines or various
types of commun1cat10ns networks. Our computing complex in Norcross Georgia, houses a wide variety of
application servers that capture transactions and route them to our back-end banking, billing and payment
applications for processing. The back-end applications are run on IBM mainframes, Intel platforms or
Unix servers. We have developed databases and information files that allow accurate editing and initiation
of payments to billers. These databases have- been construeted over the past 24 years as a result of our
transaction processmg expenence .

As part of our disaster recovery systems we utilize IBM Busmess Recovery Servrces and EMC
Corporation’s remote disk mirroring technology. Using this system, we are able to recover technical
infrastructire, client communications, in-flight payments and first-tier customer care within 24 hours.

We maintain a research and development group with a long-term ‘perspective of planning and
developing new services and related products for the electronic commerce and financial application’
software markets.. Additionally, we use 1ndependent thrrd party software development contractors as
needed. - : _ o

Sales, Marketing and Distribution. Our marketing and distribution strategy has been to create and
maintain distribution alliances that maximize access to potential customers for our setvices. We do not, for
the most part, market to, of have a direct relationship with, corisumers or end-users of our products and
services. We believe that these alliances enable us to offer services ‘and related products‘to a larger
customer base than can be reached through stand-alone marketing efforts. We seek distribution alliances
with companies who have maximum penetration and leading reputations for quality with our target
customers. These alliances include our relationship with CSPs, billers and- value-added resellers'such as -
Fiserv, FundsXpress, Digital Ins1ght PSCU Financial Services and Sl Corporatlon' Thrs llst of. resellers is »v,‘__ﬁ

not- exhaust1ve and does ot fully represent our customer base

In Order to foster a better understandmg of the needs of our CSPs, billers and resellers, we employ a
number of relatlonshlp managers assigned to each of these specific customers. We also employ marketing
personnel to facilitate joint consumer acquisition programs with each of these customer groups, and to
share industry knowledge and prevrously developed campaigns with their marketing departments. Our
alliance partners market our services in numerous ways, meludmg television, radro and pnnt advertising, in
some cases offermg bill payment services for free.

Competztzon - We face s1gn1ﬁcant competrtlon for. all of our products Our pnmary compet1t1on is the
continuance of traditional paper- -based methods for rece1v1ng and paying bills, both on the part of
consumers and billers. In addition, the possibility of billers and CSPs using rnternal development and
management resources to create in- -house systems to handle electromc billing and payment remains a
competmve threat S : :

Metavante, a drvrsron of Marshall and. Ilsley Corporatlon competes with-us most drrectly from the
perspective of providing pay anyone solutions. to financial services -organizations. A,number of other
companies compete, with us by providing some, but not all, of the services that make up our complete
e-bill and electronic pay anyone service. For example, MasterCard Internatlonal prov1des a service whrch
allows electromc payment to certam merchants :

Western Union, a division of First Data Corporation (“FDC”) and MoneyGram compete ‘with our
walk-in payment servicés..Each has a national -network of retail and agent locations. We also compete with
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smaller walk-in payment providers in different regions of the United States and with billers who have
created in-house systems to handle walk-in payments.

Other Products and Services. In addition to the electronic billing and payment service products, the
Electronic Commerce Division also offers a credit card account balance transfer product, a credit card
refund balance product, an automated recurring payments and software service, which is primarily installed
at health clubs throughout the United States, and other forms of wholesale and retail payment solutions.

Acquisitions. Qur current business was developed through expansion of our core Electronic
Commerce business and the acquisition of companies operating in similar or complementary businesses.
Our major acquisitions related to the Electronic Commerce Division include Servantis Systems Holdings,
Inc. in February 1996, Intuit Services Corporation in January 1997, and MSFDC, L.L.C. (“TransPoint”)
in September 2000. In October 2000, we completed a strategic agreement with Bank of America, under
which we acquired certain of Bank of America’s electronic billing and payment assets. In June 2004, we
acquired APS.

Investment Services Division

Introduction. The Investment Services Division provides a range of portfolio management services to
help more than 275 financial institutions, including broker dealers, money managers and investment
advisors, deliver portfolio management, performance measurement and reporting services to their clients,
primarily for processing separately managed accounts (“SMA” or “SMAs”).

Our client base includes investment advisors, brokerage firms, banks and insurance companies. Our
fee-based money manager clients are typically sponsors or managers of “wrap,” or SMAs, money
management products, or institutional money managers, managing investments of institutions and high net
worth individuals. We also support a growing number of third party vendors providing turnkey solutions.

Investment Services’ primary product is CheckFree APL, a real-time portfolio management system
used by 40 of the top 50 brokers in the United States and 36 of the top 40 money managers. As of
June 30, 2005, our clients used CheckFree APL to manage 1.9 million portfolios representing more than
$1 trillion in assets. ‘

Industry Background. Industry analysts (including Cerulli Associates and Financial Research
Corporation (2003)) predict a compound annual growth in the SMA business to exceed 20% over the next
several years. This projected growth is due primarily to the marketing of fee-based services, like SMAs by
brokerage companies, and consumers’ desire to more efficiently manage the tax 1mphcat10ns of their
investments by leveraging SMAs.

Products and Services. Qur portfolio management products and services provide the following
functions:

* proposal generétion;

» account opening and trading capabilities;
« performance measurement and reporting;
» decision support tools;

« tax lot.accounting;

+ multiple strategy portfolios;

+ straight through processing; and

¢« Depository Trust Corporation interfacing.

In fiscal 2003, we enhanced our CheckFree APL product by creating a Multiple Strategy Portfolio
(“MSP”’) solution. This solution allows our clients to track, on a combined basis, the portfolios of their
customers, even when multiple portfolios are managed by different asset managers.
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for approximately l ,300 managers and 5,600 1nvestment products

Revenues in our portfolio management services are generated per portfolio under management through
multiple year agreements that provide for monthly revenue on.a volume basis. Revenue from our
information services and software is typically generated through multi-year or annual agreements.

Technology.  Our Investment Services Division utilizes IBM technology to run the”portfolio
management software on'a Unix platform. Services are -provided prrmarrly as a service bureau offering with
the data center residing in Chicago, Illinois and four concentration hub sites located-in Jersey City,
Newark, Boston and San Diego. In addition to the dedicated private network, clients use frame relay
services. from several companies to access services. We plan to.introduce a new: technology platform based
on Microsoft NET technology in late 2006 that will include enhanced functionality and further drive:
reductrons in processing costs. We refer to this platform as CheckFree EPL™ (Enhanced Portfolio
Lifecycle). We have contracted w1th Satyam Computer Services Ltd. as our development partner for
CheckFree EPL. . : .

Sales, Marketing and Distribution. We market CheckFree APL through our direct sales force. We -
generate new customers through direct solicitation, user groups and advert1sements We also part1c1pate in.
trade shows and sponsor industry seminars for d1str1but10n alliances.

Competltzon Investment Services competes with potent1al customers building their own 1nternal
portfolio accountmg systems. We also compete with providers of portfolio accounting software and services
like Advent Software, DST, Vestmark, and Integrated Decision Systems, and. service bureau providers. like
SunGard Portfolio Solutions and Financial Models Company, as well as smaller competrtors partnenng
with large: outsourcers inour space.

Other Products and Services. 1In addition to our CheckFree APL portfolio management products, . the
Investment: Services Division‘also offers proposal generation, investment performance, and. reportrng
products and services. Marketed under M-Pact, M-Search® and M Watch®, these products manage data

oyt

Acquiisitions.  Qur current business was developed through the- acqursmon of Secunty APL Inc i’
May 1996, and Mobius. Group, Inc. in March 1999. ‘

Software Division . . _ B T

The Software Division prov1des financial software and’ serv1ces 1nclud1ng software marntenance
support and professional services, through five product lines. These product lines are bank payment
operational risk management/ reconc1hat10n ﬁnancral messagrng/ corporate act1ons comphance and
electronic brlhng _ : : ; oo C ,

 Bank Payment. The Software Division provides ACH and account reconciliation software and
services to banks and bank holding companies. ACH is the primary, batch-oriented eléctronic funds
transfer system financial services organizations use to move funds electronicaily .through the banking
system. Approximately 75% of the nation’s top 50 ACH originators use our solutions for ACH
processing, and more than two-thirds of the nation’s ten billion ACH payments are processed each
year through institutions using our software systems. :

Our ACH software is marketed under the product name CheckFree PEP+" (Paperless Entry
Processing System). PEP+ is an online, real-time system that enables the originating and receiving
of payments through the ACH system. These electronic transactions are substitiites for paper '
checks and are typically used for recurring payments such -as-direct deposit payroll payments; -
corporate payments to contractors and vendors; debit transfers that consumers make to pay .
insurance premiums, mortgages, loans and other bills; and business-to-business payments Our
CheckFree PEP+ reACH™ product, that.can be used-with our PEP+ software, allows returned

i checks, checks at the point- of—sale, and checks sent to a- lockbox tor be converted to electronrc t

' payments : SR ‘ ‘
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Our account reconciliation software is marketed under the product name CheckFree ARP/SMS™
(Account Reconciliation Package/Service Management System). ARP/SMS is an online, real-time
positive pay and reconcilement system. We also provide add-on positive pay modules that enable
banks/financial institutions to reduce exposure to check fraud and manage electronic check
conversion.

s Operational Risk Management/Reconciliation. The Software Division provides software that
enables organizations to reduce operational risk and perform automated reconciliation. Banks, bank
holding companies, securities and insurance firms, corporations, and government agencies use our
operational risk management and reconciliation products and services. Our reconciliation solutions
are marketed under the CheckFree RECON-Plus™ and CheckFree RECON Securities™ brands.
These systems reconcile high volumes of complex transactions that are spread across multiple
internal and external systems and include securities transaction processing, automated deposit
verification, consolidated bank account reconciliation and cash mobilization, and improved cash
control. In fiscal 2002, we released RECON-Plus Frontier™, a multi-tier reconciliation system that
operates over the Internet. In April 2005, we acquired Accurate, whose NXG software provides a
comprehensive, enterprise-wide operational control framework and system for reconciliation,
exception management, workflow and business intelligence. '

» Financial Messaging/Corporate Actions. The Software Division provides software that enables the
management, monitoring and measurement of the flow of securities and cash transactions across a
local or global enterprise. Securities firms, insurance companies, custodian banks, brokerage firms
and asset managers use our financial messaging and corporate actions products and services. These
products are marketed under the names CheckFree TradeFlow TPM™, CheckFree Message
Broker™, CheckFree Message Workstation™ and CheckFree eVent™. In June 2005, we released
TradeFlow TPM 2.0™, a system that enables securities firms to manage transaction processing
across an enterprise via a single, integrated platform.

o Compliance. The Software Division provides solutions that enable banks, bank holding companies,
securities and insurance firms, corporations, and government agencies to maintain compliance with
federal and state regulations. These products support unclaimed property management and
government tax-related compliance reporting. Qur compliance software solutions are marketed
under the names CheckFree APECS™, CheckFree IRS™, CheckFree LCR™ and CheckFree
RRS™.

s Electronic Billing. CheckFree i-Solutions software enables billers to create online bills and
statements and distribute them to their customers for viewing and payment. Our software and
outsourced application hosting services provide e-bill and e-statement creation and delivery, e-bill
payment transaction management, security, tracking and history, online marketing from the biller to
its customers, and customer care.

Licenses. We generally grant non-exclusive, non-transferable perpetual licenses to use our application
software. Our standard license agreements contain provisions designed to prevent disclosure and
unauthorized use of our software. License fees vary according to a number of factors, including the types
of software and levels of services we provide.

Maintenance, Support and Professional Services. Maintenance includes enhancements to our
software. Customers who obtain maintenance generally retain maintenance service from year to year. To
complement customer support, we also offer consulting and professional services at a separate charge.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution. We market software products through our direct and indirect
sales force. Salespersons have specific product responsibility and receive support from technical personnel
as needed. We generate new customers through direct solicitations, user groups, advertisements, direct mail
campaigns and strategic alliances. We also participate in trade shows and sponsor industry technology
seminars for prospective customers. Existing customers are often candidates for sales of additional products
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or for enhancements to products they have already purchased We alsd market through resellers for certain
geographies and vertrcal markets ‘ :

Compeutzon The computer apphca'uon software mdustry is highly competitive. We beheve that
there is at least one direct competitor for most of our software products but no competitor competes w1th
us in all of: our software product areas.

Our RECON Plus, RECON Plus Front1er Accurate NXG and operatronal risk management
products compete with SmartStream and SunGard. Our PEP+ products compete with Troy ACH
Processing. . -

: Acquz’sz’t’z’bns’." Our’curfent Vbusiness was developed through thé acquisition of Servantis Systems
Holdings; Inc. in' February 1996, BlueGill Technologies, Inc. (which we renamed CheckFree i-Solutions)
in Apnl 2000 HehoGraph Ltd. (“HelloGraph ’) in November 2003, and Accurate in-April 2003.

For further- ﬁnancral 1nformat10n about our segments, revenue denved from fore1gn sales and
geographic locations of our long-lived assets, please see Note 20 to our consolidated financial statements.

~ Government Regulation R e .

We perform certain services for federally-insured banks and thus we are subject to examination by
such banks’ principal federal regulator pursuant to the Bank Service Company Act.-As we perform these
services for federal thrifts (regulated: by the Office of Thrift Supervision); state- non-member-banks
(regulated by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation), state member banks (regulated by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System), and national banks (regulated by the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency), among others, the Federal Financial Institutions. Examination Council
(“FFIEC”) will coordinate which federal regulator will perform these examinations,.and the timing and
frequency of those examinations. In addition, because we use the Federal Reserve’s ACH Network to
process many of our transactions, we are sub]ect to Federal Reserve Board’s rules with respect to its ACH
Network. :

In conducting our business, we are.also subject to various laW’sand regulations relating to the
electronic movement of money. In 2001, the USA Patriot Act amended the-Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”)
to expand- the definition of money services businesses so that it may include businesses such as ours. We
submitted a request for an administrative ruling from- the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network ‘
(“FinCEN”) on September 9, 2002, with respect to whether FinCEN belicves us to be a money services
business. To date; we have not recéived a ruling from FinCEN. If our business is determmed tobea
money ‘services business, then we will have to register with’ FinCEN' as a money services business with the
attendant regulatory obligations. Also, 45 states and the District of Columbia have legislation regulating or
licenising check sellers, money transmitters or service providers to banks, and we ‘have; where required,
registered under this leglslatron In addition, as are all U.S. citizens, wé are subject to the regulations of
the Office of Forergn Assets Control (“OFAC”) which prohibit transactions between U.S. citizens and
either Special Desrgnated Nationals (“SDNs”) or targeted countries in furtherance of U. S. foreign policy
objectives. The processing of a “prohibited transactron ™ as such is defined by OFAC may lead to
significant civil and criminal penalties. Further, we are a ﬁnancral institution” within_thé. “meanifig of the.”
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLB”) as implemented by the Federal Trade. Commission’s Financial anacy

" Rule and, as such, we must give our customers notice and the right to “opt out”of any sharing of non-

public personal information (“NPPI”) we may do with unafﬁhatcd third _parties. Moreover, as a services
provider to banks, which are also “financial institutions” under GLB,. we are hkewrse bound to certain .
restrictions under GLB with respect to third party service providers who receive 'NPPI from financial
institutions. Finally, we are also subject .to the electronic funds trdansfer rules embodied-in Regulation E,
promulgated by the. Federal Reserve Board. The Federal Reserve’s Regulation E implements the .-
Electronic Fund Transfer Act, which was enacted in 1978.-Regulation E protects-consumers engaging in -
electronic transfers, and sets forth the basi¢ rights, liabilities, and -responsibilities of consumers. who use
electronic. money transfer services and of financial services organizations that offer these:services.
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Qur walk-in payment service conducted through APS is considered a money services business and as
such is registered with FInCEN. In consideration of certain risks posed, the nature of the products and
services, the customer base served and the size of APS’ operations, we have established and we maintain a
program to provide a system of controls and procedures reasonably designed to detect, prevent and report
actual or suspected violations of the BSA, money laundering statutes, anti-terrorism statutes and other
illicit activity while assuring daily adherence to the BSA. In addition, APS currently maintains 35 state
licenses to comply with the various state legislations mentioned above that regulate money transmitters,
and is subject to annual audits by such states.

Intellectual Property Rights

We regard our financial transaction services and related products as proprietary and rely on a
combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, employee and third party nondisclosure
agreements, and other intellectual property protection methods to protect our services and related products.
We have been issued 24 patents in the United States and abroad. The majority of these patents cover
various facets of electronic billing and/or payment. We also have 146 pending patent applications. We own
more than 70 domestic and foreign trade and service mark registrations related to products or services and
have additional registrations pending.

Employees

As of June 30, 2005, we employed approximately 3,050 full-time employees, including approximately
560 in research and development, approximately 800 in customer care, approximately 315 in sales and
marketing and approximately 1,375 in administration, financial control, corporate services, human resources
and other processing and service personnel. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreement and
are not aware of any efforts to unionize our employees. We believe that our relations with our employees
are good. We believe our future success and growth will depend in large measure upon our ability to
attract and retain qualified management, technical, marketing, business development and sales personnel.

Business Risks

We desire to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Many of the following important factors discussed below have been discussed in our
prior filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition to the other information in this
report, readers should carefully consider that the following important factors, among others, in some cases
have affected, and in the future could affect, our actual results and could cause our actual consolidated
results of operations for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2006 (and the individual fiscal quarters therein),
and beyond, to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by us, or on
our behalf. :

Risks Related to Our Business

The market for our electronic commerce services is evolving and may not continue to develop or grow
rapidly enough for us to sustain profitability. ‘

If the number of electronic commerce transactions does not continue to grow or if consumers or
businesses do not continue to adopt our services, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. We believe future growth in the electronic commerce market
will be driven by the cost, ease-of-use, and quality of products and services offered to consumers and
businesses. In order to consistently increase and maintain our profitability, consumers and businesses must
continue to adopt our services.
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Our future profitability depends upon‘our-ability ‘to 1mplement our: strategy successfullv to increase '
adoption of electromc blllmg and payment methods. : -

Our future’ proﬁtablhty will depend, in pan .on our abllrty to 1mplement our strategy successfully to
increase adoptron of electromc billing and payment methods Our strategy includes investment of time and
money during ﬁscal 2006 in programs designed to: :

* drive consumer awareness of electroniC'billing‘and payment;

* encourage consumers to srgn up for and use our electronic brllmg and payment services offered by
our.distribution partners; —

o address consumer concerns regardmg pnvacy and securrty of their data in using electromc bxllmg
and payment services; : T VRS LHE N

° continue to reﬁne our mfrastructure to handle seamless processmg “of transactrons
— ' = confinue to develop state- of-the art, easy-to-use technology, and o
s increase the number of bills we can present and pay electromcally

1If we do not successfully implement our strategy, revenue growth may be mlmmal and- expendltures
for these programs will not be Justrﬁed

Our investment in these programs will have a negative impact on our short-term profitability. '
Additionally, our failure to implement these programs successfully or to substantially. increase adoption of
electronic commerce billing and payment- methods by « consumers could have a matenal adverse effect on

our business, ﬂnancral condmon and results of operatrons - _
-It is also possible that the significant. amount of press connecting 1dent1ty theft and oniline adtivities ~ -
- might decrease the growth of consumers using the Internet, -which could déérease the“demand for our

— products or’services, increase our cost of doing business or could otherwrse have a material adverse effect

on our business, financial condition and results’ of operatrons i

Competitive pressures we face may have a material adverse effect on us.

We face significant competition in our each of our Drvrsrons — Electronrc Commerce, Investment
Services and Software. Increased competition or other competrtrve pressures -may result in’price reductrons,
— reduced margins or loss of busmess any of which could have a material adverse effect on our busmess

financial condition and results of operatrons Further, competrtron wrll pers1st and may increase and
.mtensrfy in the future : ! "

— In Electronic Commerce our.primary competmon remains the tradrtlonal paper- based methods of

— paying and receiving bills. In addition, a number of banks. have:developed théir own-interfal solutions.for :
all or portions of the electronic bill presentment and payment process. Citigroup, Wells Fargo & .Co., Bank
One and JPMorgan Chase currently have in-house solutions for all or a portion of the-integrated services
we provide. We do not know whether other banks that currently outsource their bill presentment and
payment process to us will decide to construct in-house solutions in the future. AltHough the banks. who
decide to use an in-house solution may continue to use our serv1ces for. some portlon of their electronic bill
presentment and payment product, we may not prov1de the ° same range of serv1ces to those banks as we
currently do and, therefore, we may not réceive the same amount of 1 revenue “from these banks.

We also compete directly with Metavante, a division of ‘Marshall and. Ilsley Corporation, which
currently offers a pay anyone solution to financial service organizations. Over the past several- years,
Metavante has completed or announced several acquisitions-in -the electronic: bill | presentment and payment ]
e area, including -the purchase of CyberBills, Derivion, Paytrust and’ Spectruti: ' We also:face potential
B competition from MasterCard International. We cannot’ assure-you that we will be able to compete
effectively against Metavante and MasterCard, -or against financial services organizations and. billers
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building their own electronic billing and payment solutions. internally, or against other current and future
electronic commerce competitors.

In addition, we cannot assure you that we will be able to compete effectively against current and
future competitors in the investment services and software products markets. The markets for our
Investment Services and Software products are also highly competitive. In Investment Services, our
competition comes from providers of portfolio accounting software and outsourced services and from
in-house solutions developed by large financial institutions. In Software, our competition comes from
several different market segments and geographies, including large diversified computer software and
service companies and independent suppliers of software products.

Security and privacy breaches in our electronic transactions may damage customer relations and inhibit
our growth.

Any failures in our security and privacy measures could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We electronically transfer large sums of money and
store personal information about consumers, including bank account and credit card information, social
security numbers, and merchant account numbers. If we are unable to protect, or consumers perceive that
we are unable to protect, the security and privacy of our electronic transactions, our growth and the growth
of the electronic commerce market in general could be materially adversely affected. A security or privacy
breach may:

» cause our customers to lose confidence in our services;

» deter consumers from using our services;

* harm our reputation;

*+ expose us to liability;

* increase our expenses from potential remediation costs; and

» decrease market acceptance of electronic commerce transactions.

New trends in criminal acquisition and use of personally identifiable data make maintaining the
security and privacy of such data fore costly and time intensive. The increased cost, along with the
increased ability of organized criminal elements focusing on identity theft and identity fraud, may
materially impact our reputation as a provider of secure electronic billing and payment services.

While we believe that we utilize proven applications designed for data security and integrity to process
electronic transactions, there can be no assurance that our use of these applications will be sufficient to
address changing market conditions or the security and privacy concerns of existing and potential
subscribers.

We rely on third parties to distribute our electronic commerce and investment services products, which
may not result in widespread adoption.

In Electronic Commerce, we rely on our contracts with financial services organizations, businesses,
billers, Internet portals and other third parties to provide branding for our electronic commerce services
and to market our services to their customers. Similarly, in Investment Services, we rely upon financial
institutions, including broker dealers, money managers and investment advisors to market investment
accounts to consumers and thereby increase portfolios on our CheckFree APL system. These contracts are
an important source of the growth in demand for our electronic commerce and investment service
products. If any of these third parties abandons, curtails or insufficiently increases its marketing efforts, it
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Consolidation in the financial services industry may adversely affect our ability to sell our electronic
commerce services, investment services and software.

Mergers, acquisitions and personnel changes at key financial services organizations have the potential
to adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. This consolidation could
cause us to lose: : ' : :

o current and potential customers;

+ business opportunities,'if combined financial services organizations were to determine that it is more
efficient to develop in-house services similar to ours or offer our competitors’ products or ’
services; and

o revenue, if comblned financial services organizations were able to negotiate a greater volume
discount for, or discontinue the use of, our products and services.

One customer accounts for a significant percentage of our consolidated revenues.

We have one customer, Bank of Americd that accounts for 17.7% of our total consolidated revenues-:
for fiscal year 2005, which reflects their use.of products in all three of our business segments. The loss or
renegotiation of our contract with Bank of America or a significant decline in the number of transactions
we process for them could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. No other customer accounts for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues.

If we do not successfully renew or renegotiate our agreements with our customers, our business may
suffer.

Our agreements for electronic commerce services with financial services organizations generally
provide for terms of two to five years. Similarly, our agreements with our portfolio management customers
are generally long term. If we are not able to renew or renegotiate these agreements on favorable terms as
they expire, it could have a material adverse effcct on our business, financial condition ‘and results of
operations.

The profitability of our Software Division depends, to a substantial degree, upon our software
customers clecting to annually renew their maintenance agreements. If a substantial number of our
software customers declined to renew these agreements, our revenues and proﬁts in this busmess segment
would be materially adversely affected. P - _ .

Our future profxtablhty depends on a decrease in the cost of processmg payment transactlons

If we are unable to continue to decrease the cost of processing transactions, our margins could
decrease, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Many factors contribute to our ability to decrease the cost of processing transactions, including
our Sigma quality program, our customer care efficiency program, our processing technology optimization
program, and our focus on continually increasing the number of transactlons we process electronically. Our
electronic rate, or percentage of transactions processed electronlcally, was more than 75% at the end of
fiscal year 2003, more than 79% at the end of fiscal year 2004 and more than 84% at.the end of fiscal year
2005.

The transactions we process expose us te fraud and credit risks. -

Losses resulting from returned transactions, merchant fraud or erroneous transmissions could result in .
Hability to financial services organizations, merchants or subscribers, which could have a material adverse -
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Althongh ameliorated by reversibility
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arrangements with many billers, the electronic and conventional paper-based transactions we process
expose us to credit risks. These include risks arising from returned transactions caused by:

» insufficient funds;

» unauthorized use;

* stop payment orders;

+ payment disputes;

» closed accounts;

« theft;

 frozen accounts; and

o fraud.

We are also exposed to credit risk from merchant fraud and erroneous transmissions.

The attempts by both federal and state governments to combat identity fraud may impose restrictions
on the financial community which make the appropriate sharing of data for fraud prevention impractical
and over-burdensome. In the event of legislation, our ability to mitigate fraud costs and write-offs may be
negatively impacted. ‘

We could experience significant losses due to our reliance on agents for walk-in payment services.

Through our contractual relationships with billers, we guarantee consumer payments made at our
retail or agent locations regardless of whether an agent makes timely deposits of funds collected.. We could
suffer significant losses if we are unable to manage and control agents making correct and timely deposits.

We may experience breakdowns in our processing systems that could damage customer relations and
expose us to liability.

We depend heavily on the reliability of our processing systems in both our Electronic Commerce and
Investment Services Divisions. A system outage or data loss could have a material adverse effect on our.
business, financial condition and results of operations. Not only would we suffer damage to our reputation
in the event of a system outage or data loss, but we may also be liable to third parties. Many of our
contractual agreements with financial institutions require the payment of penalties if our systems do not
meet certain operating standards. In addition, in our Electronic Commerce Division, we guarantee the
delivery of payments, and any failure on our part to perform may result in late payments or penalties to
third parties on behalf of our subscribers. In our Investment Services Division, a failure of our system
could result in incorrect or mistimed stock trades that may result in third party liability. To successfully
operate our business, we must be able to protect our processing and other systems from interruption by
events that are beyond our control. Events that could cause system interruptions include but are not
limited to: '

* fire;

+ natural disaster;

» unauthorized entry;
» power loss;

+ telecommunications failure;
* computer viruses;
» terrorist acts; and

* war.
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Although we have taken steps'to protect against data loss and’system failures, there is still risk’ that
we may lose critical data or experience system failures. Furthermore, our property and business ‘
interruption insurance may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses or failures that may occur.

We may experience software defects, computer viruses and development delays, damaging‘customer
relations, decreasing our potential profitability and exposing us to liability.

Our products are based on sophisticated software and computing systems that often encounter
development delays, and the underlying software may contain undetected errors, viruses or defects. Defects
in our software products and errors or delays in our processing of electronic transactions could result in:

+ additional development costs;

« diversion of technical and other resources from our other-development efforts;

« loss of credibility with current or potential customers;

* harm to our Teputation; or: -

-+ exposure to liability claims: ‘ o . Ty

In addmon we rely on technologies supplied to us by th1rd partles that may also contain undetected
errors, viruses or defects that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Although we attempt to limit our potential liability for warranty claims through
disclaimers in our software documentation and limitation-of- -liability provisions in our license and customer
agreements, we cannot assure you that these measures will be successful in limiting our liability.

We experience seasonal and other fluctuations in: our revenues causmg our operatmg results to fluctuate.

"We have hlstorlcally experienced seasonal ﬂuctuatlons in our software sales, and we expect to
experience similar fluctuations in the future. Our software sales and associated license revenue have

' ,hlstoncally been affected by.calendar year end, our fiscal year end; buylng patteins ot financial ; semces
' organizations and our sales compensatlon structure, which measures sales performance at our June 30

fiscal year end. Further; in éur Eléctronic Commerce Division, we often experience fluctuations in -
transaction volume and revenue-on a quarterly basis. Such fluctuations are not tied to seasonality and it is -
not possible to predict when such fluctuations are likely to-occur. Seasonality and other quarterly

~ fluctuations can impact our quarterly revenue and possibly cause our stock price to decrease unexpectedly.

y.,vv,.

If we do not respond to rapid technologlcal change or changes in mdustry standards, our services could.
become obsolete and we could lose our customers. RERS o

If competltors introduce new products and services embodymg new. technologles or if new mdustry
standards and practices emerge, our existing product and service offenngs propnetary technology and
systems may become_ obsolete. Further, if we fail to adopt or develop new “technologies or to adapt our
products and services to emerging industry standards, we may lose current and future customers, which .
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. The
financial services industry is changing rapidly. To remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and
improve the functionality and features of our products, services and technologles

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property and technology, permitting competitors to -
duplicate our products and services.

Our success and ability to compete depends, in part, upon our proprietary technology, which includes
several patents for our electronic billing and payment processing system and our operating technology. We
rely primarily on patent, copyright, trade secret and trademark laws to protect our technology. We also
enter into confidentiality and assignment agreements with our employees, consultants and vendors, and
generally control access to and distribution of our software documentation and other intellectual property.
We also limit customer use of our intellectual property by entering into license agreements which limit the
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scope of a customer’s use of the intellectual property. We cannot assure you that these measures will
provide all of the protection that we need.

Because our means of protecting our intellectual property rights may not be adequate, it may be
possible for a third party to copy, reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use our technology without
authorization. In addition, the laws of some countries in which we sell our products do not protect software
and intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Unauthorized copying,
use or reverse engineering of our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

A third party could also claim that our technology infringes its proprietary rights. As the number of
software products in our target markets increases and the functionality of these products overlap, we
believe that software developers may increasingly face infringement claims. These claims, even if without
merit, can be time-consuming and expensive to defend. A third party asserting infringement claims against
us in the future may require us to enter into costly royalty arrangements or litigation.

Our business could become subject to increased government regulation, which could make our business
more expensive to operate.

Although our business is currently subject to numerous rules and regulations of governmental entities,
it is likely that this regulation and the enforcement thereof, may increase or change in the future. Such
increase or change might make our business more expensive to operate and our products less desirable to
use. In particular, due to increased focus by the government on terrorist activities, we may see additional
regulation and enforcement targeted at money laundering or making payments to certain prohibited
individuals. Due to our many business relationships with banks, we have noticed an increased focus by the
federal banking regulators, as well as OFAC, on the processing of electronic payments and this focus may
shift to us, and other businesses like ours, in the future. FinCEN, the principal federal regulator charged
with regulating money services businesses, continues to provide further interpretation on the meaning of
“money transmission.” If those interpretations become applicable to our business, then we may be -
obligated to comply with significant additional regulatory obligations. Also, due to a number of security
breaches in the past few months, various governmental entities have become even more interested in
further regulating the use and sharing of data and protection of the privacy of this data, both in relation to
consumer protection as well as in relation to identity theft. This interest will likely result in increased
regulation around security and privacy of personally identifiable information. It is also possible that new
laws and regulations may be enacted with respect to the Internet, including taxation of electronic
commerce activities. Because electronic commerce in general, and most of our products and services in
particular, are so new, the effect of an increase in regulation or amendment to existing regulation is
uncertain and difficult to predict. Any such changes, however, could lead to increased operating costs and
reduce the convenience and functionality of our products or services, possibly resulting in reduced market
acceptance. It is also possible that new laws and regulations involving the Internet might decrease the
growth of consumers using the Internet, which could in turn decrease the demand for our products or
services, increase our cost of doing business or could otherwise have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Federal Reserve rules with respect to its ACH Network incorporate the National Automated
Clearinghouse Association (“NACHA™) Rules which provide that we can only access the ACH Network
through a bank. If the NACHA Rules, which are incorporated into the Federal Reserves rules governing
its ACH Network, were to change to further restrict our access to the ACH Network or limit our ability
to provide ACH transaction processing services, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Our walk-in payment business is subject t¢ government regulation and any violation of such regulations
could result in civil or criminal penalties or a prohibition against providing money transmitter services in
particular jurisdictions.

We conduct our walk-in payment business through' APS. In many states in which APS operates, it is
licensed as a-money transmitter. These licenses require APS to demonstrate and maintain certain levels of
net worth and liquidity and also require APS to file periodic reports. In addition to state licensing. ™
requirements, APS is subject to regulation in the United States by FinCEN, including anti-money
laundering regulations and certain restrictions on transactions to or from certain individuals or entities.
APS has developed a compliance program to monitor its business for compliance with regulatory
requirements and has developed and implemented policies and procedures to monitor all of its transactions
in order to comply with federal reporting and recordkeeping requirements. Notwithstanding these efforts, -
the complexity of these regulations will continue to increase our cost of doing business. In addition, any
violations of law may result in civil or criminal penalties against us and our officers or the prohrbrtlon
against us providing money transmltter services in particular Junsdlctlons

A weak economy could have a materially adverse impact on our business. .

A weak United States economy could have a material adverse impact on our business. In-a weak
economy, companies may postpone or cancel new software purchases or limit the amount of money they
spend on technology and marketing. In our Investment Services Division, growth depends upon 1nd1v1duals
and companies contmulng to invest in the United States equity markets.

Our quarterlv operating results ﬂuctuate and may not accurately predrct our future performance

Our quarterly results of operations have varied significantly and probably will continue to do so in the
future as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside our control These factors mclude

° changes in our pricing policies or those of our competltors,
+ loss of customers due to competitors or in-house’ solutions;
* relative rates of acquisition of new customers; o

= seasonal patterns;

o delays in the introduction of new or enhanced services, software and related products by us or our
competitors or rharket acceptance of these products and services; and - : :

» other changes in operating expenses, personnél and general economic conditions. -

As a result, we believe that period-to-period, cornparisons of our operating results are not necessarily
meaningful, and you should not rely on them as an indication of our future performance. In addition, our.
operating results in a future quarter or quarters may fall below expectations of securities ‘analysts or .
investors and, as a result, the price of our common stock may fluctuate.

We have not consistently operated profitably in the past and may experience net Eossesv in the future

We have not consistently operated profitably to date. Since our 1ncept10n, our accumulated losses
‘have totaled approxrrnately $1.13 billion. We 1ncurred

. * a loss from operations of $535 5 million and net loss of $441.0 mrlhon for the ﬁscal year ended. .
* June 30, 2002; and : .

« a loss from operations of $73.5 million and net loss of $52.2 mllhon for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2003. :

We experienced operating income of $66.5 million and net income of $46.8 million in fiscal 2005, but
we could experience net losses or may not be able to sustain profitability in the future. For the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2005, we invested about $82.6 million in research and development and $70.1 million in

20




sales and marketing. We intend to continue to make significant investments in research and development
and sales and marketing. If the investment of our capital is not successful to grow our business, it will
have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition, as well as negatively impact an
investment in our business and limit our ability to pay dividends in the future to our stockholders.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
QOur common stock has been volatile since December 31, 2000.

Since December 31, 2000, our stock price has been volatile, trading at a high of $58.25 per share and
a low of $7.45 per share. The volatility in our stock price has been caused by but not limited to:

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our transaction and consumer growth;
+ announcements by us, our competitors or our customers;

« announcements of the introduction of new or enhanced products and services by us or our
competitors; :

« announcements of joint development efforts or corporate partnerships in the electronic commerce
market;

¢ market conditions in the banking, telecommunications, technology and other emerging growth
sectors;

» rumors relating to our competitors or us; and

» general market or economic conditions.

Availability of significant amounts of our common stock for sale in the future could adversely affect our
stock price.

The availability for future sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public
market or otherwise, or issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock options or warrants could
adversely affect the market price for our common stock. As of June 30, 2005, we had outstanding
90,257,704 shares of our common stock, of which 84,018,404 shares were held by non-affiliates. The
holders of the remaining 6,239,300 shares were entitled to resell them only by a registration statement
under the Securities Act of 1933 or an applicable exemption from registration. As of June 30, 2005, we
also had:

* up to 10,466,156 shares available for issuance under our stock option and stock incentive plans,
under which there are (1) outstanding options to purchase 5,142,248 shares of our common stock,
of which options for 3,793,662 shares were fully vested and exercisable at an average weighted
exercise price of approximately $28.81 per share, and (2) 459,656 outstanding shares of restricted
stock;

» issued warrants to purchase 7,500,000 shares of our common stock, of which warrants for
2,500,000 shares were fully vested and exercisable at a weighted exercise price of approximately
$28.86 per share; :

« up to 791,983 shares available for issuance under our Associate Stock Purchase Plan; and

* up to 965,469 shares available for issuance under our 401 (k) Plan.
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As of June 30, 2005, the following entities held shares or warrants to purchase shares of our common
stock in the.following amounts: :

° M1crosoft which held 8,567,250 shares

o The former members of Integnon Financial Network, L.L.C. (“Integrion”) and their assignees
collectively held warrants to purchase up to 1,500,000 shares which were fully vested and
exercisable; .

¢ Bank One, which held warrants to purchase 1 000 000 shares wh1ch were fully vested and
exercisable; and

> Bank of America, which held 480,608 shares of record, 450,000 of the vested Integnon warrants -
and warrants to purchase up to 5,000,000 shares, which warrants were not currently vested.

R — Each of Bank One, Bank of America and the former members of Integrion may be entitled to
registration rights. If the former members of Integrion, Bank One or Bank of America, by exercising their
registration rights, cause a large number of shares to be registered and sold in the publ1c market, these
sales may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. :

In connection with the TransPoint acquisition, we filed a shelf registration statement on behalf of
Microsoft, FDC and Citibank that allows continuous resales of the shares that each received as a result of
the TransPoint acquisition. Citibank was not restricted in its ability to transfer its shares of our common
stock,-and we believe Citibank and FDC have sold all of the shares that they acquired as a result of this
acquisition. Microsoft was limited in its ability to transfer its shares of our common stock through
September 1, 2002, pursuant to stockholder agreements with us. Microsoft continues to hold its shares. of
our common stock but as of September 1, 2003, could sell up to the greater of 1% of our average weekly
trading volume or 1% of our outstanding common stock in reliance on registration exemptions. In addition,
Microsoft is permitted to a limited extent to engage in hedging transactions with respect to our common
stock.

— Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock by any of the parties described above, or the -
o perception that these sales.could occur, may adversely affect prevalhng market pnces for our common”
- stock. - '

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizationa! documents and Delaware corporatnon law make any
change in control more difficult. ' ,

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws contain provisions that may : have the effect of delaymg or
preventing a change in control, may discourage bids at a premlum over the market price of our common
stock and may adversely affect. the market price of our common stock and the votmg and other rights of
the holders of our common stock. These provisions include:

« division of our board of directors into three classes serving staggered three-year terms:
+ removal of our directors by the stockholders only for cause upon 80% stockholder approval
. proh1b1t1ng our stockholders from calhng a spec1al meetmg of stockholders

. abrl\ty to issue addrtronal shares of our common stock or preferred stock wrthout stockholder
approval; ‘ " L .

‘ + prohibiting our stockholders from unilaterally amending our certlﬁcate of 1ncorporat10n or by-laws
- except with 80% stockholder approval; and -

» advance notice requirements for raising business or making nominations at stockholders’ meetings.

_ We also have a stockholder rights plan that allows us to issue preferred stock with rights senior to-
those of our common stock without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The issuance of our
preferred stock under the stockholder rights plan could decrease .the amount of earnings and assets
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available for distribution to the holders of our common stock or could adversely affect the rights and
powers, including voting rights, of the holders of our common stock. In some circumstances, the issuance
of preferred stock could have the effect of decreasing the market price of our common stock.

We also are subject to provisions of the Delaware corporation law that, in general, prohibit any
business combination with a beneficial owner of 15% or more of our common stock for five years unless
the holder’s acquisition of our stock was approved in advance by our board of directors.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our corporate website, www.checkfreecorp.com, our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable,
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13{a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after such
reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Code of
Business Conduct, which is applicable to all of our directors, officers and associates, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, is also available at the
“Corporate Governance” section of the Investor Center page of our corporate website,
www.checkfreecorp.com.
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Item 2. Properties.
We lease ‘_t.f};e,following“ofﬁce facilities:
o approximately 251,000 square feet in Norcross, Ge’ofg'ia_;'
« approximately 150,000 square feet iﬁ Dub-lir;, Ohid;
» approximately 100,000 Squarc féet in Phoe‘nix, Arizona;
« ‘approximately 78,000 square feet in Aurora, Illinois;
. appro_xixhétely 59,000 square feet in Wallingf‘ord, Cdnnecticﬁf;
. approximately' 49,000 square feet in Jersey. City, New fersey; '
+ approximately 35,000 square feet in Raléig’h’, NO;th Carolina;
° appréximately 30,000 square feet'in Ann Arbor, Michigan;
+ approximately 29,000 square feet in Waterloo, Ontario, Caﬁéda;
« approximately 26,000 square feet in Owings Mills, Maryland;
» approximately 22,000 square feet in Worthington, Ohio;
» approximately 21,000 squafe feet in Newark, New Jersey;
» approximately 15,000 square feet in Chicago, Illinois;
o approximately 13,000 square feet in Wokingham, Berkshire, United Kingdom;
« approximately 8,000 square feet in London, United Kingdom;
« approximately 5,000 square feet in San Diego, California;
» approximately 2,000 square feet in Slough, Bérkshire, United Kingdom;
« approximately 2,000 square feet in Boston, Massachusetts;
« approximately 2,000 square feet m Henderson, Nevada;
. approiimately 1,000 square feet in North _Sydney, New South Wales, Australia; and
« approximately 300 square .feet in Windhof, Lu.xembo'urg.

We own a 51,000-square-foot conference center in Norcross, Georgia that includes lodging, training,
and fitness facilities for our customers and employees. Although we own the building, it is on land that is =
leased through June 30, 2015. We believe that our facilities are adequate for current and near-term growth
and that additional space is available to provide for anticipated growth. ’

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

There are no material legal proceedings pending against us.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.
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Part 1T

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’sv Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common stock is traded on.the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “CKFR.” The
following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of our common stock for the periods indicated as
reported by the Nasdaq National Market.

Common Stock

Price

Fiscal Period _High  _Low
Fiscal 2004

First Quarter. ... o $30.10 $19.75
Second Quarter . ... ... $29.90  $20.30
Third QUarter . .. ... $35.25  $26.07
Fourth QUarter . . . ..o e $33.40  $28.06
Fiscal 2005

First QUarter. . ..ot $31.95  $24.56
Second QUATTEr .. ...ttt $39.23  $27.42
Third QUATTET . . . oo e $42.12  $34.68
Fourth Quarter. . ... ..o $41.25  $32.59
Fiscal 2006

First Quarter (through August 23, 2005) . ... .. it e $41.60  $32.33

On August 23, 2005, the last reported bid price for our common stock on the Nasdaq National
Market was $37.55 per share. As of August 23, 2005, there were approximately 1,746 holders of record of
our common stock. We currently anticipate that all of our future earnings will be retained for the
development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock for the
foreseeable future. In addition, our current credit facility does not allow for the payment of cash dividends
on our common stock. Our board of directors will determine future dividend policy based on our results of
operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other circumstances. During the last ten years, we
have not paid cash dividends.

During fiscal year 2003, our board of directors approved up to $40.0 million for the purposé of
repurchasing shares of our common stock through August 2003. The board of directors twice extended
such stock repurchase plan, most recently through August 31, 2005. During the month of June 2005, we
purchased a total of 891,200 shares at an average purchase price of $37.52 per share, or $33.5 million in
the aggregate. The repurchased shares were retired and cancelled immediately. As of June 30, 2005, the
dollar value of shares that remained available for repurchase under this program as of June 30, 2005, was
$6.5 million. These repurchases are reflected in the following table: '

(c) (d)
(a) (b) Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value
Total Number Average Purchased as Part of of Shares that May Yet
of Shares Price Paid Publicly Announced Be Purchased Under the
Period Purchased per Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
June 1 -30,2005............. 891,200 $37.52 891,200 $6.5 million
Total ....... .. it 891,200 $37.52 891,200 $6.5 million

On August 3, 2005, we announced that our board of directors had approved a new, separate stock
repurchase program under which we may repurchase up to $60.0 million of our common stock through
July 31, 2006 (exclusive of the $6.5 million worth of shares that remained under our previous stock
repurchase program).
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e Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s .
— Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Ttem 8, “Financial '
Statements and Supplementary Data.” ‘ '
o ) - Year Ended June 30,
2005 . 2004 - 2003 2002 - 2001
‘(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations: . - - . : e e e o

B— Revenues:
Processing and servicing
Third parties ......... e % 635353 § 488,705 $ 397435 $ 339424 $ 308,548
Related parties (a) ........... ... ... .... 33,000 © 41,500 78,981 82,813 . 53,503
Total processing and servicing ........... 668,353 - 530,205 476,416 | 422,237 | 362,051
License fees . .......... .. v . 28,458 23,931 24,163 25,020 30,130
' Maintenance fees. .. .......... ... ... ... .. .. T 31,265 28,271 25,733 24,298 . 21,332
Other ... ... .. .. 29,756 24,057 25334 18,922 19,757
Total revenues . ....................... 757,832 606,464 551,646 490,477 433,320
Expenses: . .
. Cost of processing, servicing and support . ... ... 297,256 244 811 237,978 262,105 255,528
— Research and development .................. 82,550 66,288 32,717 55,172 55,621
B Sales and marketing ....................... 70,054 51,910 57,170 58,030 A9(\),283
General and administrative ................. 59,272 - 45,759 © 39,030 43,687 50,474 )
Depreciation and amortization................ 176,598 177,582 226,638 . 435,565 . 427495 . .
In-process research and development (b) .. ... — 324 o= CL— © 18,600 .
Impairment of intangible assets (¢) .......... - — 10,228 155,072 —
Reorganization charge (d) ....... ... ....... 5,585 — 1,405 16,365 —
" Total expenses ........... P PR . 691,315 586,674 625,166 1,025,996 . _ 898,001
_ Income (loss) from operations .............. : 66,517 19,790 . (73,520) = (535,519)  (464,681)
- Equity in-net -loss of joint venture (e) ....... . (2,984) - - - (593) . = —
— Interest income ........ P e 8,810 - 5,697 ., 7,327 8,486 15,415
Interest expense.................. e : (1,094) (13,164) (12;975) - (12,788) . (13,154)
Gain (loss) on investments (f) ............ 592 — (3,228) — (16,077)
- Income (loss) before income taxes and o ‘ o N _
cumulative effect of accounting change .. ... . 71,841 11,730 (82,396)  (539,821)  (478,497)
Income tax expense (benefit) . Cee , 25040 - 1,195 (33,106) (98,871)  (115,362)
Income (loss)-before cumulative effect of . o . P .
‘accounting change ................. Ceeen . 46,801 . 10,535° (49,290)  (440,950)  (363,135)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (g) ... — = (2,894)" - —
- Net income (loss)........... U $ 46801 $ 10,535 $ (52,184) $ (440,950) $(363,135)
Diluted net income (loss) per common share .... § 050 § 0.11 § 059y $ (504 $ (449
— Weighted average shares outstanding (h) ....... 92,915 91,864 88,807 - 87,452 80,863
% Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: ‘ . .
Working capital ......... ... P $ 337529 § 263,813 $ 304,286 $ 201,741 $ 142,661
Total assets ....................... e 1,569,916 1,548,932 1,587,270 1,637,477 2,183,953
- Long-term obligations, less current portion . . .. . 25,389 - 125,504, 176,692 176,377 176,541

Total stockholders’ equity................... 1,336,415 1,299,182 1,268,149 1,305,661 1,732,186
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(a) During fiscal year 2001 through January 2003, all revenues generated from Bank of America are
classified as related party. During fiscal years 2001 through 2004, all revenues generated from Microsoft
and FDC are classified as related party. During fiscal year 2005, only the revenues generated from
Microsoft are classified as related party.

(b) During fiscal years ended June 3.0; 2001 and 2004, we recorded charges related to in-process research
and development that were capitalized by entities before we acquired them.

{c) During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, we recorded an impairment charge related to the goodwill
associated with CheckFree i-Solutions and technology assets associated with TransPoint. During fiscal year
ended June 30, 2003, we recorded an impairment charge related to other intangible assets and goodwill of
CheckFree i-Solutions.

(d) During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a reorganization charge in order to
streamline operations in our Electronic Commerce Division, refine our strategy for CheckFree i-Solutions
within our Software Division, and discontinue certain product lines associated with our Investment
Services Division. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, we adjusted our estimate of the total
reorganization charge that was recorded in the previous fiscal year. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2005,
we recorded a reorganization charge relating to the re-scoping of many positions with the intent to re-hire
as quickly as possible, the elimination of some other positions and the relocation of our Electronic Billing
and Payment operations from our Waterloo, Ontario, Canada to our headquarters in Norcross, Georgia.

{¢) During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, we entered into an agreement with Voca, Ltd. to form
the joint venture OneVu located in the United Kingdom, which has incurred losses since inception.

(f) During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, we recorded a gain on the sale of stock. We received
shares of stock from an insurance vendor that demutualized. We sold the shares shortly after we received
them, and recorded the proceeds as a gain on investments. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2001
and 2003, we recorded losses on certain investments resulting from an other-than-temporary decline in
their fair value.

(g) On July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Upon adoption, we
performed a transitional impairment test and recorded an impairment charge related to the goodwill
associated with CheckFree i-Solutions. '

(h) In June 2005, we purchased a total of 891,200 shares of our own common stock at an average
purchase price of $37.52 per share, or $33.5 million in the aggregate. The shares were immediately retired
and cancelled.

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview ’ . ' S L L
CheckFree was founded in 1981 as an electronrc payment processrng company and has become ‘a

leading provider of financial electronic’ commerce products and services. Our current business was

developed through the expansion ‘of our core electronic payments busrness and the acqursrtron of

companies operatln0 in similar or complementary busmesses

We operate our busmess through three mdependent but mter-related drvlsrons
o FElectronic Commerce;’ o

» Investment Services; and

. Softwar'e

Through our Electronic Commerce Drvrslon we enable, consumers to recerve and pay brlls For the
year ended June 30, 2005, we processed approxrmately 905 million payment ‘transactions and delrvered ‘
approximately 140 million electronic bills (“e- bills™). For the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we processed
approximately 245 million payment transactions and dehvered more than 41 million e-bills. The number of
transactions we process each year- contmues ‘to grow. For the year ended June 30, 2003, growth in’ the
number of transactions processed exceeded '55%. The Electronic Commerce Drvrsron accounted for
approximately 76% of our consohdated revenues Lo e EEEREE

Through our Investment Servrces Dlvrsron we provrde a range of portfoho management serv1ces
to financial institutions, including broker dealers, money managers and investment advisors. As of ~
June 30, 2005, our clients used the CheckFree APLSM portfolio management system’ (“CheckFree APL?)
to manage 1.9 million portfolios, representing’ more than $1-trillion in assets The Investment Serv1ces -
Division accounted for approxrmately 13%of out consolidated revenues. : : :

Through our Software Division, we deliver software, mamtenance support and: professional services to
large financial service providers and other companres across a range ‘of industries. Through fiscal 2005 the
Software Division was comiprised of three units, each with its own distinct set of software products The
ACH Solutions unit provides software and services that are used to process more than two-thirds of the?
nation’s ten billion annual Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) payments. The CheckFree Financial and
Compliance Solutions (“CFACS”) unit enables.organizations to handle their reconciliation and - X
compliance requirements and provides a financial transactions: management solution"With'straight through -
processing. The CheckFree i-Solutions unit provrdes software and services that enable end-to-end e- -billing

and e-statement creation, delivery and payment Begrnnrng in ﬁscal 2006, our discussion of our Software
Division will reference our five product lines — bank’ payrnent operatronal risk management/ reconciliation,
financial messaging/ corporate actions, compliance, and electronrc brllrng Refer to the Software Division. _
description within the “Business” section of this Annual Report dn Form,10-K for a further dlscussron of
these product lines. The Software Division accounted for approxrmately 11% of our consohdated revenues.

Execu tive Summary

Due to growth in all of our business segments, inctuding the c“ont’ribution from acquisitions in fiscal
2004 and 2005, our consolidated revenues-grew 25% in the year- ended June 30, 2005. We earned net

* income’ of $46.8 million in the year ended June 30, 2005, compared to net income of $10.5 million for the
same period last year. Through continued efforts to improve quality and efﬁerency, we generated.

approximately $172.0 million of free cash flow in fiscal year 2005, an increase of $24.3 million, ‘eor 16%,
over fiscal year 2004. This free cash flow, combined with cash, cash equivalents, and investments: of
$276.4 million as of June 30, 2004, allowed us to acquire Accurate_Software Limited, (“Accurate”) for
$57.0 million in cash (approximately $51.9 million net of cash received), and to repurchase 891,200 shares
of our common stock for $33.5 million. Increasingly positive operating results allowed us to invest in all of
our businesses in order to take full advantage of antrcrpated growth opportunrtles We define free cash flow -
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as net cash provided by operating activities, exclusive of the net change in settlement accounts, less capital
expenditures. See “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Information” for further discussion of this measure.

Our Electronic Commerce business continues to expand, generating revenue of $580.7 million for the
year ended June 30, 2005, which represents growth of 28% over the prior year. During the year ended
June 30, 2005, we processed 905 million transactions, an increase of 55% over the previous year, We
delivered about 140 million e-bills during fiscal 2005, for growth of 72% over e-bills delivered in the
prior year. Our electronic payment rate has improved from 79% as of June 30, 2004, to 84% as of
June 30, 2005. Successful efforts to improve efficiency and quality have resulted in lower costs per
transaction, allowing us to share scale efficiencies with our customers through reduced revenue per
transaction.

Our Investment Services business generated 20% growth in portfolios managed, from about 1.6 million
as of June 30, 2004, to 1.9 million as of June 30, 2005, resulting in revenue growth of 11% over the same
period. During fiscal 2005, we invested heavily in the rewrite of CheckFree APL. Despite the lower than
historical operating margin in the near term, these investments will provide us the opportunity to take
advantage of the rapidly expanding separately managed accounts (“SMAs” and “SMA”) market.

Including the benefits of our acquisitions of HelioGraph, Ltd. (“HelioGraph”) in November 2003,
and Accurate in April 2005, our Software Division experienced revenue growth of 20% during the year
ended June 30, 2005. We believe we are positioned to take advantage of the improving U.S. economy, and
our presence in Europe and the South Pacific with expanded operations in the U.K., Luxembourg, and
Australia resulting from the Accurate acquisition.

As we enter fiscal 2006, we have prepared for the expiration of our five-year agreements with
Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”) and First Data Corporation (“FDC”), resulting from our acquisition
of MSFDC, L.L.C. (“TransPoint”) in September 2000. Our contracts with both Microsoft and FDC
include monthly minimum revenue guarantees that increased annually over their five-year term. The
following table represents the total annual minimum revenue guarantees throughout the contract periods
with the respective customer (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, Microsoft FDC Total
2000 L e $ 6,000 $ 5000 §$ 11,000
200 15,000 8,500 23,500
2003 L e 21,000 11,500 32,500
2004 ... e 27,000 14,500 41,500
2005 33,000 17,500 50,500
2006 .. e 18,000 3,000 21,000
Total .. e $120,000 $60,000  $180,000

Our agreement with FDC expired in August 2005. Our agreement with Microsoft expires in
December 2005. During fiscal 2005, both agreements were operating substantially below their minimum
levels. As a result, while we expect limited impact to our subscriber base in fiscal year 2006, we expect to
see a temporary decline in historical quarterly revenue growth rates, initially in the quarter ended
December 31, 2005, but more noticeably in the quarter ended March 31, 2006. We expect to substantially
increase our tax payments in fiscal 2006 and we expect capital expenses of approximately $45.0 million as
we invest heavily in high availability disaster recovery data center operations. As a result of these factors,
we expect free cash flow of approximately $170.0 million for the year. When combined with cash, cash
equivalents, and investments totaling $361.1 million at June 30, 2005, we believe we are positioned to take
advantage of additional opportunities for acquisitions as they arise, and we have authority to repurchase up
to $60.0 million of our common stock through July 31, 2006, should we determine the time and price to
be appropriate.
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The following table sets forth as percentages of total revenues, consolidated statements of operations

data:
Year ended June 30,
‘ 2005 2004 2003-
TOtal TEVEMUES ., - oo et e ettt et e evezna. 100.0% 100.0%-100.0%
Expenses: - . L ) . )
Cost of processing, servicing and support. . ... ... ... ....... e 39.2 40.4 43.1
Research and-development ...................0..0..0... A 109 0 109 - ..9.6 -
Sales and marketing ............. ... s 92 8.6 © 104
General and adminiStrative ... ... ... ... it e 7.8 75 71
Depreciation and amortization ................. e . 233 292 411
In-process rescarch and development ............... T ...... Lo “ — 01—
Impairment of intangible assets ................... peeie e e o — e — - 1,8
Reorganization charge ............ G il 080 - — 0 0.2
Total eXPEnses....................o...... LRl skl 912 967 133
Income (loss) from operations ..................... e 53 ..... b - 88. 33, (133)
Equity in net loss of joint venture. ... .. P RO . (0. 4) (‘0.1') —
Interestincome . .............. e P N R O 1.2 0.9 L3
Interest expense ....... ...y S e T SN S0 22y (2.3)
Gain (loss) on investments ......... T T P — o — - (0.6)
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect. of accounting change ... 9.5 - L9 (149)
Income tax expense (benefit) ........... e R e ety o 330002 0 (6.0).
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of- accountmg change Pt i 62 e (8.9)
Cumulative effect of accounting change A LT = = (05"
Net income (1088) «.vvoerenresoonn.. JURE e 62% 1% (94)%

Results of Operations
Years Ended June 3¢, 2005 and 2004

The following table sets forth our consolrdated revenues for the years ended June 30 2005 and 2004,
respectively. :

Total Revenues (000’s) :
June 30, . . Change
2005 2004 $ ) %

Year ended . . ... P ST PN . $757,832 $606464 $151368~ 25.0%

Our growth in total revenues of 25% was dnvcn by 28% growth in our Electronlc Commerce busmess -
11% growth in our Investment Serv1ccs business and 20% growth in our Software busrncss

Overall growth in Electronic Commerce, including walk-in payments,-continues to be driven primarily
by 55% growth in transactions processed, from approximately 583 million in the year ended June 30, 2004,
to 905 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. Additionally, we delivered about 140 million e-bills
during fiscal 2005, a growth rate of 72% over the approximately 82 million e-bills delivered during fiscal
2004. Lastly, with interest rates increasing throughout the year ended June 30, 2005; we experienced
revenue growth in our interest-sensitive products such as Account Balance Transfer (“ABT”): This.
combined growth in our Electronic Commerce Division was offset somewhat by our pricing practices: We
have established pricing models that provide volume-based discounts in order to share scale efficiencies
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with our customers. As a result of transaction growth, our average revenue per transaction therefore, has
declined over time with respect to our transaction-based revenue.

Growth in our Investment Services business has been driven primarily by a 20% increase in portfolios
managed, from about 1.6 million at June 30, 2004, to 1.9 million at June 30, 2005. In some cases, we are
adding new portfolios to our CheckFree APL system at a lower price point, driven by the increased
volume coming from lower priced broker dealers, and by conscious price reductions, where we trade off
near-term revenue growth against long-term strategic advantage. We believe that more favorable market
conditions have resulted in resumed growth in portfolios managed, and we remain cautiously optimistic
about resulting growth opportunities.

Growth in our Software business is due primarily to a full year of HelioGraph operations in fiscal
2005 versus seven months in fiscal 2004 and our acquisition of Accurate on April 30, 2005. Additionally,
we have achieved solid growth in our bank products. We believe this to be the combined result of
improved execution within the division and signs of recovery in the U.S. economy.

Across all segments of our business, for the year ended June 30, 2005, Bank of America generated
total revenue of $134.5 million, which exceeds 10% of our consolidated revenues, and remains the only
customer that exceeds 10% of our consolidated revenues. Our agreement with Bank of America has a ten
year term expiring in 2010, includes annual minimum revenue guarantees of $50.0 million, and provides
tiered pricing which reflects the volume of activity provided by Bank of America.

The following tables set forth comparative revenues, by type, for the years ended June 30, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

Processing and Sewvicing Revenue (000’s)
June 30, Change
2005 2004 $ %

Yearended ........ ... $668,353  $530,205  $138,148 26.1%

We earn processing and servicing revenue in both our Electronic Commerce and our Investment
Services businesses. While growth in portfolios managed in our Investment Services business contributed
positively, the increase in processing and servicing revenue is attributed primarily to the aforementioned
transaction growth in our Electronic Commerce business. Annual growth in transactions was heavily
influenced by our new walk-in payments business, resulting from the acquisition of APS with only seven
days remaining in fiscal 2004. A full year of walk-in payments attributed to almost half of our processing
and servicing growth within Electronic Commerce. Our traditional electronic bill payment products
provided the remainder of growth within Electronic Commerce, with consistent sequential quarterly
transaction growth of between 4% and 8% throughout fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2005, we delivered
approximately 140 million e-bills with an average price point of less than $0.20 per e-bill, representing 72%
growth over approximately 82 million e-bills delivered during fiscal 2004. Additionally, with interest rates
rising over the past fiscal year, we have experienced revenue growth from our interest-sensitive products,
such as ABT. Annual volume-based growth in processing and servicing revenue was somewhat offset by
tier-based volume pricing discounts within both our Electronic Commerce and Investment Services
businesses. ‘ : ‘

License Fee Revenue (000°s)

June 30, " Change
2005 2004 $ %

Yearended . ... ... .. $28458 $23931 $ 4,527 18.9%

We derive license fee revenue from product sales in our Software Division. OQur acquisitions of
HelioGraph in November 2003 and Accurate in Aprit- 2005 contributed about two-thirds of our license
revenue growth in fiscal 2005 as compared to the prior year. Despite moderate growth in our traditional
software businesses during fiscal 2005, and improving sales pipelines for our products, we remain uncertain
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as to whether this represents the beginning of a general trend in continued software growth as our
customers view purchases of our software as generally dlscretlonary in nature. -

Muiﬁtenance Fee Revenue (000’s) . .
June 30, . R ;,.'" - Change
2005 2004 $ . %

Yearended-................... .0 S ceeeee.o $3102650 § 28271 % 2,994 10.6%

Maintenance fee revenue, which represents annually renewable product support for our software
customers, is isolated to our Software business, and tends to grow with incremental license sales from
previous periods. However, in fiscal 2005, our acquisitions of HelioGraph and Accurate provided *
approximately three-fourths of our year-over-year growth in maintenance revenue. The remainder résulted -
from annual customer’ retentlon rates exceeding - 80% and moderate pnee increases across our software
product lines. ‘ ‘

Other Revenue (000’s) ‘ , T
v Juné 30, .*+ " Change

. S 2005 2004 $ - 9,

Yearended .............. e R s 29,756  $ 24,057 $ 5,699 23.7%

Other revenue consists mostly of consultlng and rmplementatlon fees across all three of - ‘our
businesses, and with the acquisition of APS, we have added revenue associated with stored. value cards to
this revenue category. Our acquisitions of HelioGraph, APS, and Accurate prov1ded over half .of our year- . -
over-year growth in other revenue. Implementation services from traditional software product sales resulted
in the remainder of growth in this category.

The following set of tables provides line-by- 11ne expense compansons with their relative percentages of ,
our consolidated revenues for the years ended June 30 2005 and 2004, respectlvely »

Cost of Processmg, Servtcmg and Support ( 000’s)}

v ‘ June 30,
2005 ‘ R 2004
. e
. 4 8 .. Revenue ~ "$. . .  Revenue .
Yearended ...l $297,256 392%  $2448K1 - 40.4%

Cost of processing, servicing and support, as a percentage of revenue, has improved by about 1% on a
year-over-year basis. In Electronic Commerce, our electronic payment rate has-improved from 79%.as. of . -
June 30, 2004,.to 84% as of June 30, 2005. Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost
per unit than paper-based payments and are far less likely to result in costly customer care:claims. The
acquisition of APS brought with it a significant number of exclusively electronic payment transactions,
accounting for over half of the increase we experienced in our electrenic payments rate. In addition to »
leveraging a significant fixed-cost processing infrastructure, we continue to focus investments on additional .
efficiency and quality improvements through Six Sigma-based programs in our Electronic Commerce and
Investment Services customer care and customer support processes, and throughout our technology

-infrastructure to drive improvement in our cost per transaction and cost per portfolio managed metrics.
TheSe drivers of expense efﬁcj‘e‘ncy weré offset somewhat by three factors over fiscal 2005:

+ The gross margin of our walk-in, payments business is less than our core electronic billing and
payment business;

« Our acquisitions of HelioGraph and Accurate résulted in increased customer support and
.implementation services resources that carry a lower gross margm than our core Electronlc
Commerce and Investment Services businesses; and e Co
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» During fiscal 2005, we incurred a charge of approximately $1.6 million for a loss in a services
agreement with a large customer in our Software business.

We expect to continue to focus attention on Six Sigma-based process improvement and quality
programs to lower our costs per payment transaction and portfolios managed in anticipation of continued
price pressure within our Electronic Commerce and Investment Services businesses.

Research and Development (000’s)

June 30,
2005 2004
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended . ... ... $ 82,550 109% $ 66,288 10.9%

Including capitalized development costs of $1.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2003, and
$2.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2004, gross expenditures for research and development were
$84.3 million, or 11.1% of consolidated revenues, for the year ended June 30, 2005, and $69.1 million, or
11.4% of consolidated revenues, for the year ended June 30, 2004. Our acquisitions of HelioGraph, APS,
and Accurate provided more than one-third of our incremental research and development costs in fiscal
2005, and we have placed particular emphasis on research and development in our Investment Services
business, as we are in the process of a rewrite of our processing system. We continue to invest heavily in
product enhancement and productivity improvement initiatives across all of our businesses, as evidenced by
the relatively consistent levels of research and development costs as a percentage of revenue on a year-
over-year basis.

Sales and Marketing (000’s)

June 30,
2005 2004
" % %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended . .. ..ot $ 70,054 9.2% $ 51,910 8.6%

Sales and marketing costs, in total and as a percentage of consolidated revenues, have increased
during fiscal 2005. Our acquisitions of HelioGraph, APS, and Accurate contributed approximately 20% of
the incremental costs year-over-year. In addition, license revenue growth, with a strong finish to fiscal
2005, resuited in accelerated commission rates for salespersons exceeding annual quotas for the year.
Finally, in the second half of fiscal 2005, we increased our investment in marketing programs. geared
toward future revenue growth. We expect sales and marketing costs, as a percentage of revenue, to fall
back below 9% in fiscal 2006.

General and Administrative (000’s)

June 30,
2005 2004
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended . ... ... . $ 59,272 7.8% $ 45,759 7.5%

Increased general and administrative costs in fiscal 2005 have resulted primarily from incremental
facility and other non-redundant expenses related to our acquisitions of HelioGraph, APS and Accurate. .
Additionally, we have experienced incremental Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 compliance costs as we
prepared for our first internal controls certification as of June 30, 2003, and expanded facility costs
supporting our core businesses during fiscal 2005. We continue to expect our general and administrative
costs to run between 7.5% and 8.0% of consolidated revenues and are managing these costs accordingly.
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Depreciation and Amortization (000’s)

. June 30,
2005 2004
. g - T A .
. ) .S _Revenue $ - ... Revenue .
Year ended ..............0....... Ll 8176598 U 23.3%  $177,582  29.0%

Despite increased intangible amortization resulting from our acquisitions of HelioGraph, APS and . -
Accurate, depreciation and amortization expense declined during fiscal 2005, as a result of the completion
of intangible amortization from previous acquisitions. Depreciation and amortization expense, net of

- ‘acquisition related intangible amortization, remained essentially flat from $41.0 million for the year ended

June 30, 2004, to'$42.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. We expect a significant drop in _
depreciation and amortization expense in fiscal 2006 as we complete the amortization of intangible assets. -
resulting from our acquisitions of TransPoint in fiscal 2001 and BlueGill Technologies, Inc. in fiscal 2000. . .~

Reorganization Charge (000’s)

*

June 36,
2005 ' 2004
- % ST % -
L o . $ - Revenue S8 . _.Revenue
Yearended .. .... .. ......... e I, S 0% 5,585 7 0.8% $-"‘ — -

Late in the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we terminated the employment of approximately 200 .
associates, re-scoping many positions with the intent to re-hire quickly, and eliminating some others. As
part of this action, we announced that our electronic billing and payment operations in Waterloo, Ontario,
Canada, will move to Norcross, Georgia, and we expect to close the Canadian facility in October 2005.

- These actions resulted in a charge of $5.6 million.

In-Process Research & Development (000’s)

June 30,
2005 2004
% % .
) $ Revenue .8 . Revenue
Yearended...“...Z..‘...' ........... ol s = — 8 34 0.1%

We. recorded 1mmater1al in-process research and development costs totahng $0.3 mllhon related to our
acquisition of HelioGraph in. the quarter ended December 31, 2003 There were no such costs associated
with our acquisitions of either APS or Accurate. . ‘

Equity in Loss of Joint Venture (060’s)

: June 30,
2005 2004
: . ' % %
‘ B ‘ ' $ Revenue S " Revenue
Yearended . ..., .. A $(2.984)  (04)% $ (593)  (0.)%

In Apr11 2004 we announced a joint venture OneVu Limited (“OneVu”), with Voca lerted
(“Voca), designed to create an intégrated electronic billing and payment network for billers and banks in
the United. Kingdom. We provide 100% of OneVu’s necessary working capital requirements during its
formative stage." We record the operatlons of the joint venture on the equity basis.of accounting and the
equity in net loss of the joint venture represents our portion. of the less-incurred-by-the joint-venture durifig

"the periods chsplayed The joint venture.is stﬂl in its forma‘nve stage and therefore we. do not expect it to _
become profitable in the near term. - ' : :

34




Net Interest (000’s)

June 30,
2005 2004
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Year ended:

Interest INCOME. . .. ot $ 8,810 $ 5,697

Interest eXpense .. ...t (1,094) (5,944)
Call premium eXpense ... ...o.vvir i, — (4,813)
Unamortized note issuance costs . ................... — (2,407)

Net INIEFeSt . o o\ttt e $ 1,716 1.1% $ (7,467) (1.3)%

As a result of an increase in average cash and invested assets, combined with rising interest rates
during fiscal 2005, our interest income increased from $5.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2004, to
$8.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2005.

Our interest expense decreased significantly on a year-over-year basis. We carried our 6.5%
Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006 at a balance of $172.5 million through the quarter ended
September 30, 2003. We redeemed the notes in full on December 12, 2003. As a result, in the year ended
June 30, 2004, we incurred a cash charge of $4.8 million for a 2.79% call premium to redeem the notes
prior to their scheduled maturity date, and we incurred a non-cash charge of $2.4 million to write off the
remaining unamortized note issuance costs.

Gain on Investments (000’s}

June 30,
2005 2004

- % %
$ Revenue $ Revenue

Yearended . ..o 3 592 — 3 —_ —

In the gquarter ended March 31, 2005, we recorded a $0.6 million gain on the sale of stock. While we
do not typically invest in equity securities, we received shares of stock from an insurance vendor that
demutualized. We sold the shares shortly after we received them, and recorded the proceeds as a gain on
investments.

Income Tax Expense (000's)

June 30, ,
2005 2004
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended .................. [ $ 25,040 349% § 1,195 10.2%

Our federal statutory tax rate is 35%, and our overall blended statutory rate (federal, state and foreign
combined) approached 39% without the benefit of tax planning strategies. Our effective rate of 34.9% for
the year ended June 30, 2005, was lower than our blended statutory rate due to research and
experimentation tax credits, tax-free municipal interest income and foreign tax credits recorded during the
year. Our effective tax rate of 10.2% for the year ended June 30, 2004, was lower than our blended
statutory rate due to research and experimentation tax credits and foreign tax credits, offset by the federal
alternative minimum tax and the temporary suspension of state-level net operating loss carryover credits.




Year ended”

Years Ended June 30, 2004 and 2003

The following table sets forth our-total revenues for the years ended June 30, 2004 and 2003,

respectively.

Total Revenues (000’s)

Our total revenue growth of 9.9% was driven by 12% growth in our Electromc Commerce business,
6% growth in our Investment Services business and 4% growth in our Software business.

Growth in our Electronic Commerce business was driven primarily by growth in transactions
processed from -approximately 434 million for the year ended June 30, 2003, to approximately 583 million
for the year ended June 30,.2004. Additionally, revenue related to minimum guarantees from Microsoft
and FDC increased in total by $9.0 million on a year-over-year basis. We have. established pricing models .

that provide volumc based discounts to share scale efficiencies with our customers. As a result of
significant transactlon growth, our average revenue’per transactlon has declined by approximately 14% in

our transaction-based revenue. Historically low interest rates throughout fiscal 2004 have. also resulted in a
dampening of revenue in our interest sensitive products such as’ ABT. Our June 22 2004, acqu1s1t1on of
APS prov1ded about $1 0 million of revenue in fiscal 2004. ‘

Growth in our Investment Services revenue was driven primarily by growth in the number of
portfolios managed, from approximately 1.2 million as of June 30, 2003, to nearly 1.6 million as of

June 30, 2004. Economic conditions throughout our fiscal year ended- June 30, 2003 resulted in portfolios. .
managed remaining essentially flat at 1.2 million for the year. As the stock market rebound progressed into

our 2004 fiscal year, the number of portfolios we managed increased by-about 100,000 -per quarter. In -~

some ‘cases, new portfolios are being added to our APL system at a lower average price point, driven by a
mix shift as increased volume comes from broker dealers at a lower price, and by price reductions, where
we trade off near-term revenue growth against long-term strategic advantage. -

Growth in our Software business was driven primarily by our acquisition of HelioGraph in the quarter
ended December 31, 2003. While our sales pipeline remains solid, customers continue to take longer to
evaluate discretionary software purchases than in prior years.

Across all segments of our business, for the year ended June-30, 2004, Bank of America genérated

total revenue of $119.0 million, which exceeded 10% of our consolidated revenues, and was the only
customer that exceeds 10% of our total revenue in fiscal 2004. Our agreement with Bank of America has a
ten year term, includes annual minimum guarantees of $50.0 million, and provides for tiered pncmg which
reflects the volume of activity provided by Bank of America.

- The following tables set -forth comparative revenues, by type, for the years ended June 30, 2004 and

2003, respectively.

Processing and Servicing Revenue (000’s)

Year ended »

“We.earn processing and servicing revenue in both-our Electronic Commerce: and our Investment

Services businesses. While growth in portfolios managed in our Investment Services business contributed

nicely, our increase in processing and servicing revenue has come primarily from the aforementioned

growth in transactions processed in our Electronic Commerce business. While expected transaction volume
diverted from CheckFree to in-house solutions by four large bank customers had dampened our growth
during the transition, growth in the remainder of our Electronic Commerce business, including the addition
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June 30, Chénge

2004 2003 $ %

$606.464 3551646 S 54818 9.9%

Change

June 30,
2004
$530 205

2003
. $476416

%
11.3%

$
$ 53,789




of two large bank customers, outpaced diverted transactions. We delivered approximately 82 million e-bills
in the year ended June 30, 2004, with an average price point of approximately $0.20 per e-bill,
representing an increase of 156% over the 32 million bills delivered during the year ended June 30, 2003.
Our commercial agreements with Microsoft and FDC, resulting from our acquisition of TransPoint in
September 2000, include monthly minimum revenue guarantees consistent with other consumer service
providers. The minimums for Microsoft and FDC increase annually over the five-year term of the
agreements. We operated substantially below the minimum revenue levels with both, but as a result of the
increased minimum levels, revenue from Microsoft and FDC grew by approximately $9.0 million on a
year-over-year basis. Somewhat offsetting this growth has been a reduction in market demand for our ABT
products. Finally, contract revisions with Bank of America late in the quarter ended December 31, 2003,
along with other volume-based discounts inherent in our business, further reduced our processing and
servicing revenue growth.

License Fee Revenue (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Yearended .. ... e $23931 $24163 $ (232)  (1L.O)%

Although the software market showed signs of recovery, potential customers continued to extend their
evaluation period on discretionary software spending. Therefore, in spite of a strong sales pipeline and the
addition of HelioGraph in November 2003, we incurred a slight decline in license fee revenue on a year-
over-year basis.

Maintenance Fee Revenue (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Year ended ... ... $ 28,271 $ 25,733 $» 2,538 9.9%

Maintenance fee revenue, which represents annually renewable product support for our software
customers, is isolated to our Software business, and tends to grow with incremental license sales from
previous periods. Our maintenance base grew as a result of recent license sales, customer retention rates
exceeding 80%, and moderate price increases across all business units, as well as eight months of revenue
from the acquisition of HelioGraph.

Other Revenue (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Year ended . ... $ 24057 $ 25334 S (1277)  (5.0)%

Other revenue consists mostly of consulting and implementation fees across all three of our
businesses. During our fiscal year ending June 30, 2003, we performed a custom software implementation
project that generated a significant amount of consulting revenue that did not recur in our 2004 fiscal year.

The following set of tables provides line-by-line expense comparisons with their relative percentages of
our consolidated revenues for the years ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Cost of Processing, Servicing and Support (000’s)
June 30,
2004 2003
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue

Yearended .. ..o $244,811 40.4%  $237,978 43.1%
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" In Electronic: Commerce, our electronic payment rate increased from 75% as of June 30, 2003, to -
79% as of June 30, 2004..Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than "
paper-based payments and are far less likely to result in a costly customer care claim. In addition to -
leveraging a significant fixed-cost processing infrastructure, we contmued to focus investment on-additional
efficiency and quality. improvements within our customer.caré processes ‘and our: lnformatlon technology c
mfrastructure to drive cost per transaction 1mprovement : ' S -

Research and Development ( 000 ’s) L
© - June: 30,

. 2004 el e e 2003
% %
: $ Revenue. 7~ § " _Revenue
Year ended . ...t e ~$ 66288 109% $52,717 - 9:6% T -

Inc]udlng cap1tallzed development costs of $2.8 million for the year ended June-30, 2004, and
$4.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2003, gross expenditures for.research and development were "
$69.1 million, or 11. 4% of consohdated revenues for the year ended June 30, 2004, and were i
$57.0 million, or 10.3% of consolidated revenues for the - year ended June 30, 2003. We continued to 1nvest
heavily in product enhancement and productivity improvement initiatives in all of our business segments,
and we added moderate levels of research and development spending :with the: acqu1s1t10n of HehoGraph
Sales and Marketmg ( 000 s) )

June 39,

2004 ) .2003k 4
. K ) . %
: 8 Revenue -~ -§ ° " Revenue
Yearended ..... ... e Lo $ 51,910  86% $ 57,170 10.4%

The decrease in sales and marketing costs as a percentage of consolidated revenues, is due¢ primarily
to the fact that the predominance of our revenue growth took place in our Electronic Commerce business,
which has less associated variable sales commissions.-On an absolute. dollar basis, we have incurred less
general awareness marketing program expense in ﬁscal 2004 than werhad in fiscal 2003. However,. these -
expenses have historically fluctuated due.to the nature and timing of various programs. :
General and Administrative (000’s) : _

June 30,

20047 T 2003 T
% %
» . . $ Revenue $ - "Revenue’
Yearended . ....... U SO .. 'S 45,759 7.5% $ 39,030 .  7.1%

The acquisition of HelioGraph in the'quarter ended December 31, 2003, added approximately
$0.8 million of new quarterly general and administrative costs to our cost.base. In the quarter ended
March 31, 2004, we incurred approximately $O 5 mllhon of. accrued costs, :associated w1th a closed facﬂlty
in the Ann Arbor Michigan area. . . . o

Gl o Pl

Depreciation and Amortization (000’s)., . . T T
' ‘ ' - June 30, .

) 2004 200
A % %
: '$ " " Revenue . % §:7 - Revenue
Yearended ............. e L.$177,582 29.2%  $226,638 41.1%

Depreciatienv and amortization expense from operating fixed assets and internally capita‘l‘i'zed product
costs has decreased from $43.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2003, to $41.0 million for the year
ended: June 30, 2004. The remainder of our depreciation and amortization costs represents acquisition
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related amortization. The decrease in non-acquisition-related depreciation and amortization is the result of
investments in replacement assets that carry lower costs than the assets they are replacing. The remaining
reduction in depreciation and amortization is the result of lower acquisition-related intangible amortization
from intangible assets that have fully amortized since last year, and the amortization of lower non-goodwill
intangible assets balances resulting from impairment charges in the prior year. ’

In-Process Research and Development (000’s)

June 30,
2004 2003
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended .. ... $ 324 0.1% $ — —

We recorded immaterial in-process research and development costs totaling $0.3 million related to our
acquisition of HelioGraph in the quarter ended December 31, 2003. There were no such costs associated
with our acquisition of APS in June 2004. ‘

Impairment of Intangible Assets (000’s)

June 30,
2004 2003
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended ... ... $ — —  $10,228 1.8%

Throughout fiscal 2004, there were no triggering events that caused us to evaluate the recovery of our
intangible asset balances. In April 2004, we performed our annual evaluation of intangible asset
recoverability and our tests provided no indication of possible impairment. Throughout fiscal 2003, there
were no triggering events that caused us to evaluate the recoverability of our intangible asset balances. In
April 2003, we performed our annual evaluation of intangible asset recoverability. Our initial tests
indicated a potential impairment of goodwill in our CheckFree i-Solutions reporting unit. Our follow-up
tests included an SFAS 86 recoverability test of our technology assets, which indicated no issues, and a
SFAS 144 test, which resulted in an impairment of $4.2 million in one of our non-goodwill intangible
assets. The final SFAS 142 test resulted in a further impairment of $6.0 million in our CheckFree
i~Solutions goodwill balance for a total charge of $10.2 million.

Reorganization ‘Charge (000’s) .

June 30,
2004 2003
% %
$ Revenue $ Revenue
Yearended .. ... $ - — $ 1405 0.2%

Due primarily to our inability to sublease office space that was abandoned as a result of a prior
reorganization, in the quarter ended June 30, 2003; we recorded $1.4 million of additional reorganization
charges to true-up our estimates from the actions we initiated in fiscal 2002.

Equity in Loss of Joint Venture (000's)

June 30,
2004 2003
% %
» $ Revenue $ Revenue
Year ended ..o oo $ (593 (O.H% § — —

In April 2004, we announced a joint venture, OneVu, with Voca in the United Kingdom, designed to
create an integrated electronic billing and payment network for billers and banks in the United Kingdom:.
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We provide 100% of OneVu’s necessary working capital requirements during its formative stage. The ..
equity in net loss of Jomt venture reprcsents our portion of the'loss incurred by the Jomt venture since
its.inception. - e . - -

Net Interest (000’s) S
June 30,

20047 vl 0 2003
% _ %
$ Revenue $ Revenue-
Year ended: ‘ : : o ‘

Interest income. . ... ... B $ 5,697 - -$ 1,327
Interest expense . .............. S SO (5,944) . (12,975)
Call premium expense ... . ... PR e (4813 - —
Unamortized note issuance’ costs O B (2,407) R —

NEt OISt .« . . oee et $ (7467)  (13)% $ (5,648 648) (1 0)%

Despite an increase in average cash and 1nvested assets‘on a year-over-year basis, interest income
declined as a result of lower average ylelds

Our interest expense decreased significantly on a year-over-year basis. We carried. our 6.5%
Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006 at a balance of $172.5 million throughout the year ending
June 30, 2003, and through the quarter ended September 30, 2003. We redeemed the notes in full on
December 12, 2003. We incurred a cash charge of $4.8 million for a 2.79% call premium to redeem the
notes prior to their scheduled maturity date, and we mcurred a non-cash charge of $2.4 million to write off

. the remaining unamortlzed note issuance costs

Loss on In,vestments ( 000’s) ) .
_June 30,

BT T 2003
‘ % . %
. ) . i 3  _Revenue - 8 Revenue
Year ended . .......... T e $ .— . . — $(3228) (06)%

The fair market value of one of our investments in a private imaging company remained below our -
book value for an extended period of time. As a result, we judged this to be an other-than:temporary
decline in the market value based on our evaluation of ar expected potential recovery of fair-value, and,
accordingly, in the quarter ended March 31, 2003, we recorded a charge of $1.0 million to reﬂcct _the loss.
The fair market value of our mvestment in' Payment Data Systems, Inc. (formerly Billserv, Inc.),
remained below our book value for an extended period of time. As a result, we judged this to be an
other-than-temporary decline in the market value based on our evaluation of an expected potentlal
recovery of fair value, and, accordingly, in the quarter ended December 31, 2002; we recorded a charge of
$1.9 million. . The fair market value of this investment continued to decline subsequent to December 31, 2002,
and in the quarter ended March 31, 2003, we recorded an additional charge of $0.3 million. = .

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) (000’s)~ R
» ) June 30,

2004 ' 2003
Effective Effective
: . $ Rate =~ § Rate
Yearended ............... S R L% 1195 102%  $(33,106) © 40.2%

- We._turned profitable for theiyear ended June 30, 2004. However; -because our pre-tax income was
relatlvely low for the year, earned: tax credlts significantly reduced our effectlve tax rate. '
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Cumaulative Effect of Accounting Change (000’s)

June 30,
2004 2003
% %
$ Revenue - $ Revenue
Yearended ... o $ — — § (2,894) (0.5)%

On July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS 142, which changed the accounting for goodwill and other
intangible assets, as goodwill is no longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life. Rather,
goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test.

As a result of the transitional impairment test, under SFAS 142, we determined that goodwill
associated with our CheckFree i-Solutions reporting unit was impaired. We recorded an impairment charge
of $2.9 million, net of tax, which is reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change in our
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 2003.

Segment Information

We evaluate the performance of our segments based on revenues and operating income (loss) of the
respective segments. Segment operating income (loss) excludes acquisition-related intangible asset
amortization, in-process research and development, and significant one-time charges. The following table
sets forth revenues, operating income (loss) and certain other financial information by segment, for the
periods noted: .

Year Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Revenues:
Electronic Commerce . .. ..o i $ 580,696 $ 452,732 $ 405,373
Investment SeIVICeS .. .o vttt 96,064 86,270 81,562
SO IWArE .« . 81,072 67,462 64,711
Total ... $ 757,832 § 606,464 $ 551,646
Segment operating income (loss):
Electronic Commerce . . ... $ 207,796 $ 155,724 $ 115,539
Investment SEIviCes . ... . coov it I 18,638 19,911 21,062
SO tWarE . . o o e 17,748 14,293 18,008
COTPOTALE oottt et e (37,595) (33,256) (33,798)
Purchase accounting amortization:
Electronic Commerce . . ... (130,175)  (132,699)  (175,028)
Investment Services . ... .. ... .. i (604) (819) (2,300)
SOFIWALE . . oottt o (2,667) (3,040) (6,014)
Reorganization charge:
Electronic COMMErCe . .. ..t vrt ittt (3,208) — (307)
Investment SEIvices . ...t . (313) — 68
Software . ... e (1,876) — (1,183)
Corporate ................. e (188) — 17
Write off of capitalized software — Software ................ (1,03%) — —
Impairment of intangible assets — Software ................. - — (10,228)
Impact of warrants — Electronic Commerce................. - — 644
In-process research and development — Software ............ — (324) —

Income (loss) from Operations .................ooueeennn $§ 66517 § 19,790 § (73,520)




Years Ended June 30, 2005 and 2004
‘ ‘l:lilefctronic Commerce Segment Information:

Electronic Commerce Revenue (000’s)

June 30, Change
2005 2004 $ ] %

Year ended .............. e $380,696, $452,732. $127,964 . 28.3%.

Revenue growthin Electronic Commerce was primarily the result of an increase in transactions
processed, including those: added by our walk-in payments business, an;increase in e-bills distributed,.and
an increase in revenue from interest-sensitive products, such as ABT, somewhat offset by volume-based
price increases.

We offer two general levels of electronic billing and payment: services to our customers — a “Full
Service” offering and a “Payment Services” offering. Customers that use our Full Service offering .
generally outsource their electronic billing and payment process to us. A Full Service customer may or
may not use a CheckFree-hosted user interface, but uses a broad array of services, including payment
processing, payment warehousing, claims processing, e-bill, online proof of payment, various levels of
customer care, and other aspectsof our servicé. While a Full Service customer may have its own payment
warehouse, we maintain a customer record. and payment history within our payment warehouse to-support
the Full Service customer’s servicing needs. Customers in the Full Service category may contract to pay us
either on a per-subscriber basis, a per-transaction basis, or a blend of both. The distinction between Full
Service and Payment Services is based solely on the types of service the customer receives, not on our
pricing methodology. Customers that utilize our Payment Services offering receive a limited subset of our.
electronic billing and payment services, primarily remittance processing, and includes our walk-in payment
business. Additionally, within Payment Services, we provide services to billers for electronic bill delivery,
biller direct hosting and payments as well as other payment services, such as ABT. :

A third category of revenue ‘we simply refer to as “Other Electromc Commerce includes our Health
and Fitness business and other ancillary revenue sources, such as.consumer service provider and biller
implementation-and consulting services and fees associated with the issuance of stored value cards.

The following tables provide an historical trend of revenues, underlying-transaction metrics, and - -
subscriber metrics, where apptopriate, for our Electronic Commerce business over the periods presented:

Fiscal 2005:

. .. Quarter Ended
6/30/05 - 3/31/05  12/31/04 - .9/30/04
(In millions)

Full Service ‘ L - B : _ B :
Revenue ................. ... .. ... P L. 81101 $106.4  $1024  $ 99.1

Active subscribers ........ e 78 T4 6.9 6.4
Transactions processed . .................. P . 1619 153.6 1429 1335
Paymem Services T L | o ' » J
. Revenue ............. F ooie. $°338°$324 0 $313 $ 305
' Transactions processed,‘.“,k.:‘.............................: 83.0 808 765 723
Other Electronic Commerce - o . o L
Revenue ............ [ SN el .8 89 8 88 § 84 § 86
Totaﬂs o SR ‘ o ' - | ,
"Electronic Commerce reveﬁue' ........................... .. $1528 $1476  $142.1 '$138.2
Transactions processed ... oo .. .. A . 2449 2344 2194 2058
42 T '




Fiscal 2004:

Quarter Ended
6/30/04  3/31/04 12/31/03  9/30/03
(In millions)

Full Service

Revenue ... .. ... . $962 $940 §$91.8 $855
Active subseribers . ... 59 5.5 5.0 4.6
Transactions processed . ..... ... 123.9 115.5 106.1 94.3
Paymeht Services : ,
ReVENUE .. .o $ 140 $ 128 $120 §$11.9
Transactions processed .. ...... ... ... . i T 413 36.7 33.1 324
Other Electronic Commerce ' . '
Revenue . ... ... . $ 83 $ 84 $ 87 §$§ 92
Totals
Electronic COmMmMErce revenue ... .......couvernunnnoe., ... $1184 $1152  $1125  $106.6
Transactions processed .. ........viriiiiiiiii . 165.2 152.2 139.2 126.7

The primary driver behind the increase in Full Service revenue from $367.5 million for the year ended
June 30, 2004, to $418.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2005, was 35% growth in Full Service
transactions processed from 439.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2004, to 591.9 million for the year
ended June 30, 2005. The impact of transaction growth was partially offset by general volume-based
pricing tier discounts and particularly by a December 2003 revision to our contract with our largest
customer, Bank of America, where subscriber pricing was replaced with transaction-based pricing including
volume discounts commensurate with this customer’s volume. Since June 30, 2004, Full Service revenue
per transaction has declined from $0.78 to $0.68 as of June 30, 2005.

Payment Services revenue has increased substantially, from $50.7 million for the year ended
June 30, 2004, to $128.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. In addition to growth in transactions
processed from our existing customer base, the primary driver of the increase in revenue has been our
acquisition of APS on June 22, 2004. This walk-in payments business contributed significant transaction
volume at a per transaction rate substantially higher than our core Payment Services business. The
addition of walk-in payments can be seen clearly in the increase in both revenue and transactions
processed beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2004, in the historical trends above.

Electronic Commerce Operating Income (000’s)
June 30, Change
2005 2004 $ %

Yearended ......... ... ... $207,796  $155,724 $ 52,072 33.4%

Our ratio of electronic payments to total payments improved from 79% as of June 30, 2004, to 84% as
of June 30, 2005. Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than paper
payments and are far less likely to result in a costly customer care inquiry or claim. Due to continued
improvement in quality and efficiency and the leverage we have experienced in our fixed cost base, we
have realized a significant reduction in cost per transaction over the past year, which resulted in an
increase in operating income. Despite our new walk-in payment operations providing a relatively low
operating margin, the overall underlying operating margin in our Electronic Commerce business has
increased from 34.4% for the year ended June 30, 2004, to 35.8% for the year ended-June 30, 2005.




Investment Services Segment [nformation:

-~ Tnvestment Services Revenue (000’s) ) ‘
o ) ‘ ) June 30; . Change
2005 2004 $ % .

Yeare'nded..‘.‘....‘.‘.1...r..ﬁ...r.>‘.,<... $96064 $ 86270 9794 11.4%

Revenue growth in Investment Services was driven primarily by an increase in. portfolios managed;

: from about 1.6 million as of June 30, 2004, to 1.9 million as of June 30, 2005. We have provided certain

incentives for customers to sign multi-year contracts and are experiencing a mix shift toward lower-priced

services, both of which. we expect to result in lower revenue per average portfolio managed Growth in
_portfolios managed is typically tied to the growth in the U.S. stock market.-We have experienced renewed =~
~ growth in portfolios; and as a-result, we are cautiously optimistic about continued near-term portfolio

growth

Investment Services Operqting Income (000’s) ' o
/ o June 30, ‘ ;Change
2005 2004 - § T %

e

RENT Year ended ....... . ... S $018,638. §:19911 - § (1 273). (6. 4)%

Our underlying operatrng margln has dechned from 23. 1% for the year. ended June 30 2004 to 19 4%'
for the year ended June 30, 2005, due pnmanly to additional spending on the enhanced operating system
project, CheckFree EPLTM(Enhanced Portfolio Lifecycle), and an investment in resources designed to
improve future operational quality standards through Six Slgma quality programs. We expect our future
margin to remain around 20% until completlon_of CheckFree EPL.

Software Segment Information:

June30, © . . Change
2005“ w2004 - 8 %

Yearended ...... ' ....... 8 81072 8 67462 8 13610 202%

- Software Revenpue (000’s)..

In addition to incremental revenue provrded from our acqu1s1t10ns of HehoGraph in the’ quarter énded
December 31, 2003, and Accurate in the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we experienced moderate revenue
growth in our core ACH and reconciliation businesses during the year.ended June 30, 2005.:We believe
this to be the combined result of 1mproved executron within the division and early signs of recovery in the
u.s. economy : :

Software Operating Income (000’s) A
S E - " June 30, R - Change
“ 2005 2004 . . $ %

Year ended ... BRI S s 17748 S 14293 3455 242%

The increase in year-over-year operatmg income is due pnmarrly to the acqulsmons of HehoGraph
and Accurate, but is partially dampened: by a'$1.6 million charge due to a loss on a services contract: for a
large customer during the year. Until-higher margin license revenues begm to increase at a greater pace,

~ we would expect operating margins to continue in the low 20% range.

44




Corporate Segment Information:

Corporate Operating Loss (000’s)
June 30, Change
2005 2004 $ %

Yearended ........................ $(37,595) $(33,256) § (4,339) (13.0)%

Corporate results represent costs for legal, human resources, finance and various other unallocated
overhead expenses. We have been able to leverage our corporate infrastructure by limiting additional costs
primarily to increased regulatory efforts associated with Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 compliance.

Purchase Accounting Amortization:

Purchase Accounting Amortization (000’s)
June 30, Change
2005 2004 $ %

Yearended ........................ $133,446  $136,558 $ (3,112) (2.3)%

Purchase accounting amortization represents amortization of intangible assets resulting from our
various acquisitions from 1998 forward. Despite increased intangible amortization expenses in fiscal 20035
related to our APS and Accurate acquisitions, the decrease in year-over-year purchase accounting
amortization is the result of older intangible assets that have fully amortized. We expect a significant
decrease in purchase accounting amortization in fiscal 2006 as intangible assets resulting from our
acquisition of BlueGill Technologies, Inc. from fiscal 2000 were completely amortized in the quarter ended
June 30, 2005, and from our acquisition of TransPoint, as these become completely amortized in the

quarter ended December 31, 2005.

Reorganization Charge:

Reorganization Charge (000’s)
June 30, Change
2005 2004 ‘ $ %

Yearended ........... .. ... .. ... $ 5585 § — $ 5,385 —

Late in the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we terminated the employment of approximately 200
associates, re-scoping many positions with the intent to re-hire quickly, and eliminating some others.” As
part of this action, we announced that our electronic billing and payment operations in Waterloo, Ontario,
Canada, will move to Norcross, Georgia, and we expect to close the Canadian facility in October 2005.
We do not expect to incur any additional significant charges in the future related to this action. These
actions resulted in a charge of $5.6 million.

Write off of Capitalized Software:

Write off of Capitalized Software (000’s)
June 30, Change
2005 2004 $ %

Yearended ........................ $ 1,039 § — $ 1,039 —

As a result of our acquisition of Accurate in the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we recorded a charge
of $1.0 million to write down the value of previously capitalized software due to redundancy between
existing company products and those acquired.
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In-Process Research & Develcpment: B S o -

In-Process Research & Development: (000’s) ‘ e
: . e . C Jume 30, L 00 Change - B
B ' S o 72005 T 2004 s % A

Ycarended..:.,.,_’.A..;'.'.- ........... s — 8 324 5 (4. - —

We recorded immaterial in-process research and development costs totaling $0. 3'million related to our
acquisition of HelioGraph in the quarter ended December 31, 2003 Thcre were no such costs associated
with- our acqulsltlons of either APS or Accurate. N -

Years Ended June 30, 2004 and 2003

Electronic Commerce Segment Information:

Electronic Commerce Revenue (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Yearended ... ... ... .. R L $452732 $405373 $ 47359 117%

Revenue. growth in Electromc ‘Commerce was primarily the result of an increase in transactions

- processed, the addition of wo large bank customers, an increase in e- bills distributed, and. tiered

TransPoint related rcvenue minimums, offset by contractual volume-based price dlscounts four bank
customers- transferrmg transactlon volume to in-house systems and ‘dampened demand for our ABT
product offcrmg : :

We offer two general levels of clectromc biiling and payment services to our customers—-a “Full
Service” offering and a “Payment Services™-offering. Customers that Use -our - Full Service offering
generally outsource their electronic billing and payment process to us. A Full Service customer may or
may not use a CheckFree-hosted user interface, but uses a broad array of services, including payment

_processing, payment warchouse, claims processing, e-bill, online proof of payment, various, levels of

customer care, and other aspects of our service. While a Full Service customer may have its own payment
warehouse, we maintain a customer record and payment history within. our payment warehouse to support
the Full Service customer’s servicing needs. Customers in the Full Service category may contract to pay us
either on a per-subscnber basis, a per-transaction basis, or a blend of both. The distinction between Full
Service and Payment Services is based solely on. the types of service the customer receives, not.on our
pricing methodology. Customers that utilize our Payment Services offering receive a limited subset of our
electronic, billing and payment services, primarily remlttance processing. Additionally, within Payment
Services, we provide services to blllers for electronic bill dehvcry, biller direct hosting_ and payments, as
well as other payment services, such as ABT. A third category of revenue ‘we simply refer, to as “Other )
Electronic Commerce” mcludes our Health and Fitness business and other. ancﬂlary revenue sources such
as consumer service prov1der and biller 1mplemcntatlon and consulting serv1ces

46




The following tables provide a historical trend of revenue, underlying transaction metrics and
subscriber metrics, where appropriate, for our Electronic Commerce business over fiscal 2004 and fiscal
2003:

Fiscal 2004:

Quarter Ended
6/30/04 3/31/04 12/31/03 9/30/03
(In millions)

Full Service

S P $962 $940 $918 § 855

Active subscribers . ... 5.9 5.5 5.0 4.6

Transactions processed ... ...... ... it 1239 115.5 106.1 94.3
Payment Services

REVENUE ... e $140 §$ 128 $120 $11.9

Transactions processed . ..... ..ot iin i 41.3 36.7 331 32.4
Other Electronic Commerce _

Revenue ..... ... i e $ 83 $ 84 § 87 $ 92
Totals »

Electronic COMMErce TeVENUE ... ..oovvreun v $1184  $1152  $I1125  $106.6

Transactions processed . ...t 165.2 152.2 139.2 126.7

Fiscal 2003:

Quarter Ended
6/30/03 3/31/03 12/31/02 9/30/02
(In millions)

Full Service

ReEVENUE ... $86 §$8l5 $751 $716

Active subscribers ... ... L 4.2 3.9 35 3.2

Transactions processed . ........ .. i 87.5 80.3 749 67.2
Payment Services o

Revenue ....... ... .. . . i $ 123 $128 $139 § 147

Transactions processed .............. e [ 32.7 31.6 301 295
Other Electronic Commerce ‘

Revenue ... ... e $11.t $103 $ 92 § 97

Non-cash revenue impact of warrants. ...................... $ — $ — $§ — $ 06
Totals }

Electronic COMMETCe TEVENUE . . . ot v v vtiiee e ee i e $106.0 $1046 $982 § 966

Transactions processed ............. .. ... L e 120.2 111.9 105.0 96.7

The primary drivers of the increase in Full Service revenue from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004, were growth
in Full Service transactions processed of 42%, from 309.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2003, to
439.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2004, a $9.0 million increase in TransPoint revenue minimums
on a year-over-year basis, and the addition of two large bank customers since June 30, 2003. Growth from
the aforementioned sources has been offset by several factors. Since the quarter ended September 30,
2002, two large customers moved Full Service transaction volume to in-house systems. Both banks
completed their moves by the quarter ended September 30, 2003. The combination of these moves, price
tier discounts earned by our largest customer, Bank of America, during the preceding twelve months,
additional discounts resulting from our previously mentioned contract amendment with Bank of America in
the quarter ended December 31, 2003, and general tiered pricing declines across our customer
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base related to increasing transaction volumes, resulted in Full Service revenue per transaction declines
from $1.00 for the year ended June 30, 2003, to $0.84 for the vear ended June 30, 2004. .

‘In the Payment Services area, the primary driver of the revenue decline on a year-over-year basis has
been the movement of transactions to in-house solutions by two large bank customers since the quarter
ended September 30, 2002. The first bank completed its move by December 31, 2002, and the second by
the quarter ended December 31, 2003. Growth in the remaining Payment Servrces businesses surpassed -
‘lost volume from these banks as quarterly revenue returned to prior year levels.

The declme in Other Electronic Commerce revenue was due to the loss of a large Health and Fitness
customer and less implementation revenue. Additionally, we recorded a non-cash addition to revenue of
$0.6 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2002 related to a true-up of a previously recorded charge .
for warrants 1ssucd to a third party ‘

Electronic Commerce Operating Income (000’s)
’ ’ - June 30, - -Change ST
2004 2003 - $ % . -

Yearended ............. ... . ..... $155,724  $115,539  § 40,185~ - '34.8%

Our ratio of electronic payments to total payments improved from 75% as of June 30, 2003, to 79% as
of June 30, 2004. Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than paper
* payments and are. far less likely to résult in a costly customer care inquiry or claifn. Due-to-our continued
* efforts toward the improvement of quality and efficiency and the leverage we experienced inour fixed cost
base, we realized a reduction in our cost per transaction, which resulted in an increase in operating
income. R S

- Investment Services Segment Information:

Investment Services Revenue (000’s)
June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ - G -

Yearended .......... SUUTURT $86270  $ 81562 $ 4708 58%

Revenue derived from the volume of portfolios managed began to improve, after several quarters of
relatively flat results. The total number of accounts managed increased from 1.2 million at June 30, 2002
to about 1.6 million at June 30, 2004. As the stock market improved, we saw growth in the number of
portfolios managed We provided certain incentives for customers to sign mu1t1 ycar contracts and ‘
expenenced a business mix shift toward lower priced services. e

Investment Services Operating Income. ( 000’s) ‘ : o .
June 30, K Change

S y R ] 2004 © 2003 $ . %
Yearended ........0.......... ... - $19911 .. % 21,062  $ (1,151) - (5.5)% .-

The reduction in operating:income was due primarily to added investment in research_and
development programs 1o, furthemmprove our: product offenng in: the rnarket and efforts. to 1mprovc our
operanonal quahty standards. Syt :

Software Segment Informatlon : | R . P Lo
Software Revenue (000 s) o o o . ]
) June 30 . b \ Cﬁahge
. . oL 204 203 7 8 . %
Year ended .. ... .. ST Sl S6TA62 S 64TIL$.2TS1 . 43% -

‘48




With the acquisition of HelioGraph in November 2003, our efforts in Europe with an enterprise
reconciliation solution, and new ACH software (marketed as PEP+ reACH™) designed to take advantage
of recent check conversion rules and regulations, we experienced an increase in software revenue since the
year ended June 30, 2003. However, despite solid sales pipelines and an apparent improvement in
economic conditions, customers continued to require an extended evaluation period prior to committing to
discretionary software purchases.

Software Operating Income (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Yearended ................ $ 14293 $ 18,008 $ (3,715  (20.6)%

The decrease in operating income on a year-over-year basis was due primarily to increased costs
associated with the HelioGraph acquisition in November 2003. Additionally, we incurred approximately
$0.5 million of accrued costs associated with a closed facility we were unable to sublease in the Ann
Arbor, Michigan area.

Corporate Segment Information:

Corporate Operating Loss (000’s)

) June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Yearended ................ $ (33,256) $ (33,798) $ 542 1.6%

Corporate results represent costs for legal, human resources, finance and various other unallocated
overhead expenses. We continued to leverage our infrastructure costs in the face of increasing revenues.

Purchase Accounting Amortization:

Purchase Accounting Amortization (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Yearended ................ $ 136,558 $ 183,342 § (46,784) (25.5)%

Purchase accounting amortization represents amortization of intangible assets resulting from our
various acquisitions from 1998 forward. The decrease in expense on a year-over-year basis was the result of
intangible assets that had fully amortized since June 30, 2003, and the amortization of lower intangible
asset balances resulting from impairment charges in the year ended June 30, 2003.

Impairment of Intangible Assets:

Impairment of Intangible Assets (000’s)

June 30, Change
2004 2003 $ %

Yearended ................ $ -~ $ 10,228 $§ (10,228) —_

In the quarter ended June 30, 2003, we recorded charges totaling $10.2 million for the impairment of
intangible assets. Our annual review for possible impairment of goodwill, as required by SFAS 142,
resulted in a charge of $4.2 million for the impairment of our customer base intangible asset and another
$6.0 million for the impairment of goodwill, both from intangible assets we established upon the
acquisition of BlueGill Technologies, Inc. in April 2000.
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Reorganization Charge: = = oo il ___ R

Reorganization Charge (000’s) o _ S
- June 30, L Change
) . 2004 2003 . $ %
Yearended ................ $ — 3 1,405 $ (1,405 . - =

In the year ended June 30, 2003, we incurred a true- -up rcorgamzatlon charge of $1.4 million, due
primarily to our inability to sub-lease vacated property we abandoned if a restricturing action in the year
ended June 30, 2002. Because these activities were initiated prior to June 30, 2002, we accounted for these
actions in accordance with EITF 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Beneﬁts
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity.” - - : \ ‘ _ S

Impact of Warrants:
Impact of Warrants (000’s)

June 30, -Change.. -
2004 2003 8 %

Year ended . ... .. PP $ — 3 644§ (644) =

During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7 million agamst
revenue resulting from the probable vesting of warrants issued to a third party. In the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, the warrants vested. On.the date.of vesting, the fair value of our stock was lower than
at June 30, 2002, when we calculated the initial charge. As*a-result, a true-up of the value of the warrants
resulted in a credit to revenue of $0.6 million in:the quarter ended September 30, 2002. The original
charge, and the true-up credit, were based on a Black-Scholes valuation of the warrants and were
accounted for as a-net charge to revenué in accordance w1th EITF 01 09 “Accountmg for Consideration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer.” .. : RN b : Co

Liquidity and Capital Resources , ’ ‘ Lo : B e

The following chart provides a summary of our consolidated stateincnts of cash flows. for the
appropriate periods:
’ Year Ended June 30,

- ST 008 2004 2003
N o S - (In thousands) "
Net cash provided by operatlng activities. . . . . e § 206,095 “$ 171,059~ $ 157,793
~ Net cash used in investing activities. ... .. ... o {215,855) . (103, 415).  (6L172), .
Net cash used in financing activities. . . . . e ey c (24, 113) +(142,466) - (2;272)_ -
Effect of exchange rate changes ......:i..t......c.c . 313 c 296, - i

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalenfs $ (33 560) $ (74 526) $ 94 349
As of June 30, 2005, we had $298.1 million of cash, cash equlvalents and shon term investments on
hand, and an additional $63.0 million in long-term investments. Qur consolidatéd balance shéet reflects a
current ratio of 2.7 and working capital of $337.5 million. Due primarily to processing efficiency
improvement, we experienced a steady .increase in net cash ‘provided by operating activities over the past

~ several years. For the year ended June 30,.2005, we generated $206.1 million of net cash provided by

operating activities. We expect net cash provided by operating activities of approximately $215.0 million
for our fiscal year ending June 30; 2006. Due to. the payout of annual incentive bonuses and commissions,
we expect net cash from operating ‘activities. to: be relatively low-in the quarter ending September 30,.2005.
Our full year expected increase in net cash provided by -operating activities in fiscal 2006 represents a
modest increase over fiscal 2005 due to our becoming a full year cash basis tax payer in fiscal 2006. . .. -
Considering our existing cash and invested asset balances,;-and expectations of net cash ‘provided by - .
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operating activities in the near future, we believe we have sufficient cash to meet our presently anticipated
requirements for the near term. Our board of directors has approved up to $60.0 million for the purpose of
repurchasing shares of our common stock through July 31, 2006. To the extent we may require additional
cash, we have access to an untapped $185.0 million revolving credit facility. If we do decide to borrow
against this facility, borrowings are subject to periodic payments and bear interest at one of two rates, at
our option, either Prime plus 0% to 1% or LIBOR plus 1% to 2%. In addition to customary covenants,
which are not expected to significantly affect our operations, our credit facility does not allow the payment
of cash dividends on our common stock. We have no immediate plans to borrow against the credit facility.

From an investing perspective, we used $215.9 million of cash during the year ended June 30, 2003.
We used $118.2 million for net purchases and sales of investments, $51.9 million (net of cash received)
for the acquisition of Accurate, $33.9 million for capital expenditures, $4.4 million for the change in other
assets, $3.0 million in the final settlement of working capital adjustments related to the acquisitions of
HelioGraph and APS, $2.8 million for our investment in OneVu, and $1.7 million for the capitalization of
software development costs.

From a financing perspective, we used $24.1 million of cash during the year ended June 30, 2005. We
used $33.5 million for the repurchase of 891,200 shares of our common stock and $5.1 million for principal
payments under capital leases and other long-term obligations. We received $14.5 million in combined
proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and the purchase of our common stock under our
employee stock purchase plan.

While the timing of cash payments and collections will cause fluctuations from quarter to quarter and
the level of capital expenditures could change, we expect to generate as much as $170.0 million of free
cash flow for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2006. We define free cash flow as net cash provided by
operating activities, exclusive of the net change in settlement assets and liabilities, less capital
expenditures. ‘

Our agreement to use a bank routing number to process payments contains certain financial covenants
related to-tangible net worth, cash flow coverage, debt service coverage and maximum levels of debt to
cash flow, as defined. We were in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2005, and do not anticipate
any change in the foreseeable future.

The following table represents a summary of our current contractual obligations and commercial
commitments, which may assist in understanding expected cash commitments from various obligations we
have entered into over time:

Payments Due Year Ended June 30,
2007 to 2009 to

Contractual Obligations Total 2006 2008 2010 Thereafter
’ (In thousands)

Operating leases . ............. DU $102,879  $15,120  $24,970  $24,135  $38,654

Capital lease obligations .............. 6 6 — — —

Other long-term obligations ........... 42,385 12,377 28,295 1,500 213

Total contractual obligations......... $145,270  $27,503 - $53,265 $25,635  $38,867

We anticipate that our cash flows from operations along with our line of credit facility will be
sufficient to satisfy these obligations.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Information ‘

We supplement our reporting of cash flow information determined in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) by using “free cash flow” in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K as a measure to evaluate our liquidity. We define free cash flow as net
cash provided by operating activities, exclusive of the net change in settlement accounts and less capital
expenditures. We believe free cash flow provides useful information to management and investors in
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understanding our financial results and assessing our prospects for future performance.-We also use free -
cash flow as a factor in determining long-term incentive' compensation for senior management.

We exclude the net change in settlement-accounts from free cash flow because we believe this
facilitates management’s and investors’ ability to analyze operating cash flow trénds. In connection with
our walk-in payment business, our consolidated balance sheet reflects settlement assets and settlement
obligations. The settlement assets represent payment receipts in transit to us from agents; and the -
settlement obligations represent scheduled but unpaid payments due to billers. Balances'in settlement
accounts fluctuate daily based on deposit timing and payment transaction volume. These timing differences
are not reflective of our liquidity, and thus, we exclude the net change in settlement accounts from free
cash flow. : L

As a technology company, we make srgmﬁcant cap1tal expend1tures In order to update our technology
and to remain competitive. Our free cash flow reflects the amount of cash we generated that remains, after
we have met those operational needs, for the evaluation and execution of strategic initiatives such as
acquisitions, stock and/or debt repurchases and other 1nvest1ng and ﬁnancrng activities, 1nclud1ng serv1c1ng
additional debt obhgat1ons : SRR T

Free cash flow does not solely represent res1dual cash flow ava1lable for discretionary expendltures as
certain of our non-discretionary obligations are also funded out of free cash flow. Thesé consist primarily:
of payments on capital leases and other long-term commitments, if any, as reflected in the table entitled
“Contractual Obligations” in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of “Management s Drscussron‘i
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operat1ons ‘contamed herern '

Our free cash flow for the years ended June: 30 2005 and June 30, 2004 is calculated as follows '
(in thousands):

" Year Ended Jurle 30,

‘ 2005 - - - 2004
Cash provided by operating activities . .. S DU $206 095 $17l 059
Excluding: Net change in settlement accounts. .. ... L .................. (153) 193
Less: Capital expend1tures ............. S SR S, (33 893) (23;482)

Free cash flow ....... o : .‘ty.‘ ..... $.1.72,049 $14_7,770.

Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004, was
$215.9 million and $103.4 million, respectively. Net cash-used in ﬁnancmg activities was $24.1 m11110n for
the year ended June 30, 2005 and $142.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2004. -

Our free cash flow should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, net c'ash*jjfovlded
by operating activities or any other amount determined in accordance with:GAAP. Further, our measure
of free cash flow may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies. .-

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) 109-2, “Accounting and
Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004” (“FSP 109-2"). FSP 109-2 provides guidance under FAS 109 with respect to recording the
potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the American Jobs-Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs
Act”) on enterprises” income tax expense and deferred tax liability. The Jobs Act was enacted on

‘October 22, 2004. FSP 109-2 states that an enterprise is allowed time beyorid the financial reporting

period of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Jobs -Act on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation of -

foreign earnings for purposes of applying FAS 109. We have not yet completed’ our evaluation of the -
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impact of the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act. Accordingly, as provided for in FSP 109-2, we have
not adjusted our income tax provision or deferred tax liabilities to reflect the repatriation provisions of the
Jobs Act. :

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS 123. SFAS 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)"”), supersedes APB 25 and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123(R)
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and shares
purchased under an employee stock purchase plan (if certain parameters are not met), to be recognized in
the financial statements based on their fair values. Under our Associate Stock Purchase Plan as currently
defined, the shares purchased by our employees on June 30 and December 31 of each year would be
required to be recorded at fair value within our consolidated financial statements under the guidance of
SFAS 123(R) as our Plan offers a discount in excess of 5%.

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (““SEC”), announced the adoption of a
new rule that amended the compliance date of SFAS 123(R). The new rule allows companies to
implement SFAS 123(R) at the beginning of the next fiscal year, instead of the next reporting period,
beginning after June 15, 2005. For us, the amended effective date did not delay our adoption date. As a
result, we will adopt this Statement in the first quarter of our fiscal year 2006 (quarter ending
September 30, 2005) using the modified prospective method.. We are still in the process of evaluating the
impact that the adoption of SFAS 123(R) will have on our consolidated financial statements. However,
we believe that upon adopting this Statement, we will record stock-based compensation expense of less
than $5,000,000 during the quarter ending September 30, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets”
(“SFAS 153). This Statement addresses the measurement of exchanges of nonmonetary assets. The
guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions” (“APB 297}, is based on
the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the
assets exchanged. The guidance in APB 29, however, included certain exceptions to-that principle.
SFAS 153 amends APB 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive
assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the
entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. This Statement is effective for
financial statements for fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for
nonmonetary asset exchanges incurred during fiscal years beginning after the date this Statement is issued.
We do not believe that the adoption of this Statement will have a significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

On July 20, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and
SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 141 requires all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
In addition, it requires application of the provisions of SFAS 142 for goodwill and other intangible assets
related to any business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, but prior to the adoption date of
SFAS 142. SFAS 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Upon adoption,
goodwill is no longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life. Rather, goodwill is subject to at
least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. All other acquired
intangibles are separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual
or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, or exchanged, regardless of
the company’s intent to do so. Other intangibles are amortized over their useful lives.

SFAS 142 became effective for us on July 1, 2002, and had the following impacts:

« We reclassified approximately $1,350,000 of unamortized workforce in place intangible assets, net
of the associated deferred income taxes, into goodwill.
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 After the reclassification above, goodwill was no longer amortized.

« We performed a transitional impairment test as of July 1, 2002. This impairment test required that
we (1) identified our reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by
assigning assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting
units, and (3) determine the fair value of each reporting unit. If the carrying value of any reporting
unit exceeded its fair value, then the amount of any goodwill impairment was determined through a
fair value analysis of each of the assigned assets (excluding goodwill) and liabilities.

We recorded a chafge of $2,894,000 for fmpairincnt of goodwill associated with our acquisition of
BlueGill Technologies, Inc. (currently referred to as CheckFree i-Solutions) upon our adoption of
SFAS 142. This charge is reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change in our consolidated

~ statement of operations for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. Following the transitional impairment test,

our goodwill balances are subject to annual impairment tests using the same process described above.
Refer to Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements where the results of our annual 1mpa1rment test
are discussed:

Application of Criﬁcal Accounting Policies and Estimates .

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and -
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Critical accounting policies are those policies that are both important to the
portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations,-and they require. our: most difficult, subjective
or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates -about the effect of matters that are
inherently unccrtam - :

Discussion wizh the_Audiz Committee of the Board of Directors. In detcrmiriing which of our
accounting policies and estimates warranted disclosure as.critical in, nature, our senior financial
management team prepares an analysis of our accounting policies and reviews the policies in detail with
our Audit Committee. After discussing the level of management judgment required to comply with our
accounting policies, the Audit Committee agrees with us that the following accounting pohcles are deemed
to be critical in nature and should be disclosed as such. -

Accounting for Goodwill. Over the past several years, we have acquired a number of businesses and
the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America, which resulted in significant goodwill
balances. As of June 30, 2003, the balance of goodwill on our consolidated balance sheet totaled
$656.2 million and is spread across our three business segments as follows:

«. Electronic Commerce of $581.2 million;
. ‘Softwa‘rc. of $63.6 million; and ) - . ‘ ;

¢ Investment Services of $11.4 million. .

In accordance with FAS 142, we periodically. evaluate goodwﬂl for impairment no less than annually
by comparing the-carrying value of each reporting unit to its fair value using a two-step impairment test. If
the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The estimate of a reporting unit’s fair
value requires the use of assumptions and estimates regarding the reporting unit’s future cash flows, growth
rates and weighted average cost of capital. Assumed growth rates. generally ranged from 10% to 15% and
varied by reporting unit based upon near and medium term growth opportunities. The assumed weighted
average cost of capital approximated 12%. Any significant adverse changes in key assumptions about these
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businesses and their prospects or an adverse change in market conditions may cause a change in the
estimation of fair value and could result in an impairment charge. We have approximately $656.2 million
of goodwill as of June 30, 2005, none of which is considered impaired, based on recent impairment testing.
Given the significance of goodwill, an adverse change to the estimated fair value could resuit in an
impairment charge that could be material to our financial statements.

We perform our annual goodwill impairment review on April 30 of each year. No indicators of
impairment were evident during our review for fiscal year 2005.

Intangible Assets Exclusive of Goodwill. We have recorded intangible assets that were initially
recognized as a result of business combinations. The intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives. We evaluate, for impairment, the carrying value. of acquired
intangible assets by comparing the carrying value to the anticipated future undiscounted cash flows
expected to be generated from the use of the intangible asset. If an intangible asset is impaired, the asset
is written down to fair value. Intangible assets are evaluated in light of actual results from operations and
related cash flows to ensure that the carrying value of these intangible assets:is recoverable. Significant
changes in our results from operations could result in an impairment charge. We have approximately
$184.6 million of intangible assets, exclusive of goodwill, as of June 30, 2005. Given the significance of
intangibles, adverse changes to our operations could result in an impairment charge that could be material
to the financial statements.

Equity Instruments Issued to Customers. Within our Electronic Commerce segment, from time to
time, we have determined it appropriate to issue warrants to certain of our customers to provide an
incentive for them to achieve mutually beneficial long-term objectives. These objectives can take the form
of performance against long-term growth targets, such as the number of the third-party’s customers that
become active bill paying subscribers of our service or the number of bills distributed electronically to the
third party’s customers. Accounting standards for these types of warrants require us to record a charge
when it becomes probable that the warrants will vest. For milestone-based warrants: the amount of the
charge would be the fair value of the portion of the warrants earned by the customer based on their
progress towards achieving the milestone(s) required to vest in the warrants. At each reporting date, we
would determine the current fair value of the portion of the warrants previously earned and true-up the
charges previously recorded. In addition, we would record a charge for the fair value of the additional
portion of the warrants earned during that period, again based on the customer’s progress towards the
vesting milestones. This would continue until the warrants vest, at which time a final fair value is
determined and the charge is adjusted accordingly. At the time we issued these warrants, accounting
standards in place indicated that the charge for these type warrants be recorded as an expense. Since then,
the EITF issued EITF 01-09. This guidance became effective for financial statements issued after
December 15, 2001, and is retroactively applied to existing equity instruments previously issued. It requires
that the charge for the fair value of these types of warrants be recorded against revenue up to the
cumulative amount of revenue recognized for a customer instead of to expense as was previously the case.
Management must use judgment in determining when the vesting of a warrant becomes probable. As of
June 30, 2005, we had five million unvested warrants outstanding that expire in October 2010 that could
potentially result in a charge against our revenue that could be material to our financial statements.

Income Taxes and Deferred Income Taxes. Like most companies, domestic and foreign tax
authorities periodically audit our income tax returns. These audits include questions regarding our tax filing
positions, including the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax
jurisdictions. In evaluating the exposures associated with our various tax filing positions, including state
and local taxes, we record reserves for probable reversals. A number of years may elapse before a
particular matter, for which we have established a reserve, is audited and fully resolved. The ultimate
resolution of these matters may exceed or be below the amount we have recorded as a reserve. As of
June 30, 2005, we have $46.0 million of deferred income tax assets recorded on our consolidated balance
sheet, $10.4 million of which are recorded in the current asset section of our consolidated balance sheet,
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and $35.6 million of which are recorded in the long term asset section of our consolidated balance sheét,: -
and $5.0 million of long-term deferred tax liabilities in accordance with- GAAP. Deferred income tax
assets represent . future tax benefits we expect to be able to apply against future taxable income. Qur abllrty
to utilize -the deferred tax benefits is dependent upon our ability to generate future taxable income.

SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes!” requires us to record a valuation: allowance -against any
deferred income tax benefits that we believe may expire before we generate sufficient taxable income to
use them. If we were to record a deferred tax benefit valuation allowance, it would have the effect of
increasing our tax expense thereby decreasing: our net income. and decreasing our deferred tax asset
balance on our consolidated balance sheet. We use current estimates of future taxable income to determme
whether a valuation allowance is needed. Projecting our future taxable income requires us to use

- significant judgment regarding the: expected future revenues and expenses in.each of our business

segments:-In addition, we must assume .that-tax laws will not change sufficiently enough to-materially
impact the expected tax liability associated with-our expected taxable. income.:As of June 30, 2005, we
have determined that it was more likely than not-that certain of our foreign tax credits and state net
operating loss carry forwards would not be utilized in-the future.. Accordingly, we -established a valuation -
allowance in ‘the amount, of $2.7 million to reduce our net tax credit carry forwards to their estimated net
realizable value. While our current projections:indicate we will be able to fully ‘utilize-our Temaining
deferred income tax benefits, should competitive pressures or other business risks result-in-a significant
variance to our projected taxable income, we could be requrred to establish a valuation allowance for our
remaining deferred tax asset balances

Investments. A large pottion of our investments is reflected at fair value in our consolidated balance
sheets based on quoted market prices -or:estimates from independent pricing services. Changes in estimated
future cash flows or an issuer’s credit quality will result in changes in fair value estimates. Fixed maturity .
securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value and the impact of changes in fair value
are recorded as-an unrealized gain or loss-in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss); a
component of stockhelders’ equity of our consolidated balance sheet. In addition, fixed maturity securities
are subject to our review to identify when a decline in value is other-than-temporary. Factors we consider
in determining whether a decline in value is other-than-temporary include: whether the decline is
substantial; the duration of the decline, generally greater than six months; the reasons for the decline in
value; whether it is.a credit event or whether it is interest rate related; our ability and intent to hold the -
investment for a period of ‘time that will allow for a recovery in value; and- the financial condition and.
near-term prospects of the issuer. When it is determined that a decline in- value is other-than-temporary,
the carrying value of the security is reduced to its estimated fair value, with a corresponding charge to
earnings. This corresponding charge is referred to as an impairment and is reflected in our consolidated
statement of operations. The level of 1mpa1rment losses can be expected to lncrease when -economic - .
conditions worsen and decrease when economic conditions improve:. :

Inflation
We belleve the effects of rnﬂatron have not had a s1gn1ﬁcant imipact on our results of operatlons
Safe Harbor Statement under the anate Securutles thlgatlon Reform Act of 1995

Except ‘for-the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed.in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K include certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the"
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. which are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created thereby. Those statements include,
but may not be limited to, all statements: regarding our and management’s-intent, belief and expectations,
such as statements concerning our future.profitability- and our operating arid growth strategy.. Words such
as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “intend,”. “plan,” “estimate, predict,> — —-
“potential,” “continue,” “likely”. and similar expressions are intended to 1dent1fy forward-looking
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- -statements...Investors are-cautioned that all forward looking-statements: contamed in thrs Annual Report
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and in other statements we make involve risks and uncertainties including, without limitation, the factors
set forth under the caption “Business — Business Risks” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and other factors detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. One or more of these factors have affected, and in the future could affect, our businesses and
financial results in the future and could cause actual results to differ materially from plans and projections.
Although we believe that the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements contained herein are
reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the
forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K will prove to be accurate. In -
light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements included herein, the
inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that our
objectives and plans will be achieved. All forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K are based on information presently available to our management. We assume no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements.




Item 7A. Quantrtatwe and Quahtatwe Disclosures About Market Rlsk

With the acquisition of BlueGlll Technologles, Inc. in Aprll 2000, .we obtained operatlons in Canada
and with the acquisitions of HelloGraph in November-2003, and Accurate in April 2005, we now maintain
multlplc offices in the United Kingdom, as well as. ofﬁces in Luxembourg and Australia. In-June 2005 we
announced our plans to close our operations in Canada.effective October 2005. Asa rcsult we have assets
and liabilities outside the United States that are subject to. ﬂuctuatlons in forergn currency exchange rates.
We utilize pounds sterling as the functional currency for the United Klngdom the Canadian dollar as the
functional currency for Canada, the Euro as the .functional currency for Luxembourg and the. Australian _,
dollar as the functional currency for Austraha Due to. the relatively immaterial nature of the amounts |
involved, our economic exposure from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. is not- s1gn1f1cant cnough at
thrs time to engage in forward forelgn exchange and other similar instruments.

. While our international sales represented approximately two percent of our consolidated revenues for
the year ended June 30, 2005, we market, sell and license our products throughout the world. As a result,
our future revenue could be somewhat affected by wcak economic condmons in foreign markcts that could
reduce demand for our products

Our exposure to interest rate risk includes the yield we earn on invested cash, cash ‘equivalents and
investments and interest-based revenue earned on products such as our ABT product Our outstandmg
lease obhganons carry ﬁxed interest rates. :

As part of processing certain types.of transactions, we earn interest from the time money is collected
from our customers until the time payment is made to merchants. These revenues, which are generated
from trust account balances not included in our consolidated balance sheet, are included in processing and
servicing revenue. We use derivative financial instruments to manage the variability 'of cash flows_ related
to this interest rate sensifive portion of processing and servicing revenue. Accordingly, we enter into
interest rate swaps to effectively fix the interest rate on a portion of our interest rate sensitive revenue. As
of June '30 2005, we entered into interest rate swap transact‘ions totaling $125 0 ‘million.

The swaps are de&gnated as cash flow hedges and they are recorded in our consolidated balance

sheet at fair value. Because of the high degree of effectiveness between the interest rate swaps and—

underlying interest rate sensitive revenue, fluctuations in the fair value of the swaps. are generally-offset by -

‘the changes resultmg from the varlablhty of cash flows from the underlying interest rate sensitive. revenue.

A 1% increase in interest rates would decrease the fair value of derivatives by about $1.2 million. The
decline in fair value of the swap would also result in a decrease in net cash inflows from our interest rate
swaps. ‘ ' ' :

Our investment policy does not allow us to enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative -
or trading purposes. We maintain a system of internal controls that includes policies and procedures
covering the authorization, reporting and monitoring of ‘derivative actmty Further, the pohcy allows us to
enter into derivative contracts only with counter-parties. that meet certain credit rating and/or financial
stability criteria. The counter-parties to these contracts are major financial institutions, and we believe the
risk of loss is remote. :

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Report of Independent Registered Public: Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and our Consolidated Financial
Statements as of June 30, 2005 and 2004, and for each of the years in the three year penod ended ‘
June 30, 2003, follow: -
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
CheckFree Corporation
Norcross, Georgia

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that CheckFree Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2005, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
overfinancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions,
and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of
the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of June 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2005, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.




Cod

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of-the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of CheckFree Corporation as of June 30, 2005, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for ‘the year cnded
June 30, 2005, and the consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15, and our”
report dated September 2, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and
financial statement schedule.

Atlanta, Georgia
September 2, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING‘ FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
CheckFree Corporation and Subsidiaries
Norcross, Georgia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CheckFree Corporation and
Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2005. Our
audit also included the financial statement schedule, listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial -
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our -
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based -
on our audits.

‘We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of CheckFree Corporation and Subsidiaries at June 30, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2005 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Alsc, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” effective July 1, 2002.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
June 30, 2003, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated

September 2, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effcctiveriess of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unquahﬁed opinion on the effectlveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. :

\.Dlﬁml’&v é. —CLCL vl

Atlanta, Georgia
September 2, 2005




Eoooo CHECKFREE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
" CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,

2004 -

ST 005

(In’thousands, except - -

- s SR IR ;-ASSET\S_E‘ Ch e e
CURRENT ASSETS St L g e T e "

" Settlement assets: : .- - 73,675 82,520
Investments .. .. e ‘ ‘ 196,805 73,197
¥ Accounts receivable; met” . .. i Ml s D coee o 122,158 00 85217
- Accounts receivable, related partles ......... — A PR e P ' 5,775 . 26,632
o Prepaid expenses and other assets ..... e S el L. T26258 14,727
- Deferred income taxes . SO SO R ) 10,407 49,129
o ) Total current assets ‘ 536,350 . 466,254
— ' - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT' 89,273 91,912
. 'OTHER ASSETS. -~ - T
‘Capltahzed software net R S T B e P 76,175 11,512
- Goodwill ... ... T PN SRS .. 656,174 612,971
Strategic agreements, net .......... e R e ST L 147,448~ 271390
E— Other. intangible assets net i A S I R P A ©.30,935 7, 21,670
N : Investments R T A T oo R e 162,996 68,344
— ‘Other noncurrent.asséts ... .. ' 4,600 4,396
Deferred incorne taxes ....... 35,648 —
- Investment in. joint venture e , , . - Ny 317 483
" Total other assets. '.':—;; ERSE A RIS P . 944,293 990,766
— - Total assets. ..ol il e T e e $1,569.916  $1,548,932
o P g *Vf"' ]JABHIHESANDSTOCKHOLDERS’EQUHY
CURRENT LIABILITIES o
Accounts payable ]1 444 3 12,234
- Settlement obhgatlons 73, 919 T . 82611,
o . ’Accrued habrlltles 72 189 67211
' 476 4192
— - 40,793 36,193
T 198821 . 202,441
ACCRUED RENT AND OTHER . 4,324 4,313
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 4,967 - 17,492
I CAPITAL LEASE AND LONG- TERM OBLIGATIONS — Less current portion ..., ....... 25,389 25,504
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note L) e ’
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock — 50,000, 000 authorIzed shares $O 01 par value no amounts P
- issued or outstandmg B PR S S R —
" . Common stock — 500,000,000 authonzed shares, $0. 01 par value; S s
issued dnd outstandmg 90 257 704 and 90, 164 926 shares respectlvely A L 903 902
Additional paid-in-capital . . . .. B B ‘ 2,469,184 2,471,062
o Unearnedcornpensatron..; ..... ........ . (6,168) -
‘ ‘Accumulated other comprehensnve loss ... .. e S PO (2,251 (728)
o * . Accumulated deﬁCIt R e (1,125,253)  (1,172,054)
— Total stockholders equity ..., S PP FU U 1,336,415 1,299,182 .
o ‘ Total habrhtres and stockholders equIty R, DR $1';569,916 $1,548,932 -
_z T ) ’ .. .._ _ SeeNotes'to the Consolidated Financial-Statements A

--$ 101,272

‘Cash-and:cash equlvalents

'~‘share and per share data)

$ 134,832
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CHECKFREE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003

(In thousands, except share and
per share data)

REVENUES:
Processing and servicing:
Third Parties . . .. ..ottt e $ 635353 § 488,705 $§ 397,435
Related parties . ... .. oo i 33,000 41,500 78,981
Total processing and servicing ............. i 668,353 530,205 476,416
LICEMSE f88S oottt e 28,458 23,931 24,163
Maintenance fees . ... i e e 31,265 28,271 25,733
Ot o 29,756 24,057 25,334
Total TeVenUES . ..o e 757,832 606,464 551,646
EXPENSES:
Cost of processing, servicing and SUPPOTt . ........cviviiiiiiiiinnn. .. 297,256 244 811 237,978
Research and development . ... ... ... . . 82,550 66,288 52,717
Sales and marketing. . ... ... 70,054 51,910 57,170
General and administrative ... ... .. ... .. e e 59272 45,759 39,030
Depreciation and amortization . .. ......ouuerni i e 176,598 177,582 226,638
In-process research and development ......... ... ... ... ... ... ... - — 324 —
Impairment of intangible assets ............ . i i — — 10,228
Reorganization charge ........ ..o oo 5,585 — 1,405
Total EXpPenses .. ...t 691,315 586,674 625,166
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS .. ... .. e 66,517 19,790 (73,520)
OTHER:
Equity in net loss of joint venture ........ . ...t (2,984) (593) . —
Interest INCOME . . ..ot i i e e e e 8,810 5,697 7,327
Interest EXPeNSE . .ottt (1,094) (13,164) (12,975)
Gain (loSS) ON INVESTMENRTS . . .. vi ittt et e 592 — (3,228)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE ....... ... . it 71,841 11,730 (82,396)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) ... 25,040 1,195 (33,106)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF
ACCOUNTING CHANGE . ... e 46,801 10,335 (49,290)
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE ................. — — (2,894)
NET INCOME (LOSS) ..ot e $ 46801 § 10,535 $§ (52,184)
BASIC INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change ............... $ 052 $ 012 $ ° (0.56)
Cumulative effect of accounting change ................................. — — (0.03)
Net income (loss) pershare. . ....... ...t $ 052 § 012 § (0.59)
Weighted average number of shares .......... ... ... ... ... .. 90,767,054 89,869,760 88,807,069
DILUTED INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change . .............. $ 050 8 01l § (0.56)
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ................ ... . ... ...... — .— {0.03)
Net income (loss) pershare. ........ooiti i i $ 050 § 011 § (0.59)
Weighted average ﬂumber of shares . ... ... ... . . . . .. 92,914,597 91,864,490 88,807,069

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CHECKFREE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Number of Number of Common Additional
Shares of ", Shares of Stock } Paid-In
Common Stock Treasury Stock ) at Par Capital
’ (In thousands, except share data) o
BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2002 ........ 88,085,894 — : $881 ‘ $2,435,310 :

Netloss ................... . .. ... — — : — —

Unrealized gain on available- for-sale ‘
securities, net of tax ........ ... ... — - — —

Total comprehensive loss ... ... ...

Stock options and warrants exercised . . . 532,841 — 5 ... 6,942
Tax benefit associated with exercise of , ‘ -
stock options and warrants........ . —_ ) — —_ 1,550
Employee stock purchases ............ 257,533 . — 3 3,291
401 (k) match .. ... ... ... ... .. . 402,102 — 4 3,225 .
Return of restricted stock ............ (12,000) — — (300)
Impact of warrants . ........ .. e — — _— (644)
BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2003 ....... 89,266,370 — 893 2,449,374
Netincome ................ ... .. .. - — — ' - .
Unrealized loss on available- for- sale S . . T TR
securities, net of tax .....7.. ... 7. .. - — C— L=
Unrealized gain on foreign currency ' : :
translation ................. .0 .. .. e~ — — P —
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, net o
oftax ..o — — — —
“Total comprehensive income . . . .. ’
‘Stock options exerdised ....:.... ... .. 571,844 —F 6 7,150
Tax benefit associated with exercise of
stock options™. . .......... ... ... .. — L— . = 2,621
Employee stock purchases .-......... .. 176,868 . _ 2 - 3,299
401(k) match ................... ... 149,844 . — 1 © 6,213
Equity-based compensation ... ... ... .. — — = - 2,405
BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2004 ....... 90,164,926 ‘ — w902 2 471 ,062
Nefincome ....0...... ....... ... . — — — ‘ —
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale . ' ' L
securities, net of tax ............. .. — — - . C—
Unrealized loss on foreign currency . : :
translation ....... .. ... . ... . . . .. — : — - - S —
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, ' ' v
netoftax................. ... . — — —_ —
Total comprehensive income . . . . . . : o -
Stock options exercised ......... ... .. 710,396 L — 7 10,200
- Tax benefit associated with exercise of » e o
stock options .. ........ ... ... ... — — — - 4,028
Employee. stock purchases .......... L. 165,098 — 2 3,995
Treasury shares acquired . . . . .. P R o (891,200) . . — . ‘ —
Treasury shares retired ........ .. ... .. (891,200) 891,200 ' 9) (33 451)
401(k) match ................ ... ... _ 108,484 - 1 3069
Unearned compensation.............. — ‘ — — 78721
Amortization of unearned , ) ‘ o S
. compensation............ P - S — " — C— —_
,Equity’-bascd compensation ... L — — e 1,560
BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2005 .. ... .. 90,257,704 — $903 $2,469,184

~ See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CHECKFREE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2002.......

Netloss ...,

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities, netof tax ..............

Total comprehensive loss ........
Stock options and warrants exercised . .
Tax benefit associated with exercise of

stock options and warrants.........
Employee stock purchases ...........
401(k) match .....................
Return of restricted stock............
Impact of warrants .................

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2003.......
Net iNcome . ..ovvviivienennnnn.
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities, net of tax .. ............
Unrealized gain on foreign currency
translation ......................
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges,
netof tax ........ ... ... ..

Total comprehensive income . . ...
Stock options exercised .............
Tax benefit associated with exercise of

stock options ............. ..., ...
Employee stock purchases ...........
401(k) match .............. ... ...
Equity-based compensation ..........

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2004.......
Netincome .........ccoovviunan. ..
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities, netof tax ..............
Unrealized loss on foreign currency
translation ......................
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges,
netoftax .......................

Total comprehensive income . .. ..
Stock options exercised .............
Tax benefit associated with exercise of

stock options ....................
Employee stock purchases ...........
Treasury shares acquired ............
Treasury shares retired ..............
401(k) match .....................
Unearned compensation .. ...........
Amortization of unearned

compensation....................
Equity-based compensation ..........

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 2005.......

Accomulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury

Stock

At Cost

Unearned
Compensation

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

$

(In thousands, except share data)

$ (125)

$(1,130,405)
(52,184)

$1,305,661
(52,184)

471

(51,713)
6,947

1,550

3,294

3,229
(175)
(644)

(1,182,589)
10,535

1,268,149
10,535

{709)
54

(544)

9,336
7,156

2,621
3,301
6,214
2,405

(33,460)
33,460

(8,721)

2,553

(1,172,054)
46,301

1,299,182
46,801

(174)
(800)

(549)
45,278
10,207

4,028
3,997
(33,460)

3,070

2,553
1,560

$(2,251)

$

$(6,168)

$(1,125,253)

$1,336,415

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CHECKFREE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

- OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income {(loss) ............. e $ 46,801 . $ 10,535 $ (52,184)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Equity in net loss of joint venture ... ... .. i 2,984 593 —
Depreciation and amortization............... B 176,598 177,582 226,638
Deferred income tax benefit. ... ... ... . .. (13,701) (12,930) - (35,147)
Impairment of intangible assets........... ... ... ... . ...... e = — - 10,228
Impact of warrants ....... ... ... ... ... oL P —_— e = _ (644)
- (Gain) 1085 0N INVESHMENTS . . ..o\ttt et e (392) S — 13,228
Equity-based compensation ............. . i i 8,193 - 5,569 —
Cumulative effect of accounting change................................ — — 2,894
Net loss on disposition of property and equipment ....................... 277 . 487 471
_ Write off of in-process research and development. ....................... — 324 B —
~Write off of convertible notes issuance Costs ..............coiiiiiiee ... [E— 2,407 e
" Change in certain assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions): - : ‘
Settlement assets and obligations . ...... ... . i i i 153 (193) —
Accounts receivable .. ... ... C(11,994) (12,874) 6,404
Prepaid expenses and other .. ........... ... ... .. ... ... e (6,211) 3,495 (2,604)
Accounts payable ............... SO ~(1,750) : 135 (344)
Accrued liabilities and other . ....... ... ... . 4,238 (2,308) - 4,720
Deferred revenue . ... ... ... ... C1L,099 . (1,639) (5,867)
Net cash provided by operating activities...............0 ... 0 ... ... .. 206,095 .- 171,059 157,793
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: ' I
Purchase of property and software ............c.. . ... i i i (33,893) - - (23,482) (24,324)
Proceeds from sale of assets. ... ... i i . L C— 580
Capitalization of software.development costs..«.......... .0 o .. (1,706) (2,817) -(4,296)
Purchases of investments — Held-to-maturity .. ......................... L= - (511) . .(38,522)
Proceeds from maturities of investments — He]d to-maturity .............. . — 34,253 "118,527
_Purchases of investments — Available-for-sale .................. ... ... . (380,672) -(240,919)  (137,921)
Proceeds from maturities of investinents — Available-for-sale ....... ... ... 262,704 255,972 24,936
_,Purchaseofothcrmvestments..,.ﬂ..........,..‘...‘.....‘ ......... (223) (74) (152)
Proceeds from other iVeStmentS I . ... ...t noet et ees ) 26 - 11 ’ —
Decrease in restricted investments ......................... e o — 3,000 —
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired ................ ... S (54,934) - (122,322) —
Investment in JOInt VERTUTE ... ... . ..o ettt i i c- (2,818) T 7 (1,212) -
Changes inother assets .................... ... .......... U (4,339) (5,314) G—
Net cash used in investing activities ... ...... ... oo, (215,855)  (103,415) ° (61,172)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES: ‘ ; :
Principal payments under capital lease and other long-term obligations. ... . .. (5,108) (5,575) T (12,212)
Proceeds from’stock options exercised ....... ... A 10,207 7,156 6,947
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan ............ ... .. ... ... 174,248 3,453 - 2,993
Treasury shares acquired ............. N (33,460) — =
Redemption of convertible notes . . ...... ... o il . — (172,500) - C—
Increase in long-term deposits . .............«. e S : — +.25,000 . —
" Net cash used in financing activities. ...... P N S(24,113)  (142,466)  (2,272)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .. ............. . 313 296

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (33,560) (74,526) 94,349
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS! - ' ! o
Beginning of Period . . .. ...\ ouu e e 134,832 209,358 115,009

End of Period ... i . $101,272 $.134.832  § 209,358

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

All references to “we,” “us” and “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K mean CheckFree
Corporation and all entities owned or controlled by CheckFree Corporation, except where it is made clear
that the term only means the parent company.

Organization — CheckFree Corporation is the parent company of CheckFree Services Corporation
(“CheckFree Services”), the principal operating company of our business. CheckFree Services was
founded in 1981 and is a leading provider of financial electronic commerce products and services. See
Note 20 for a description of our business segments. '

Principles of Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the results of
our operations and the results of our wholly owned subsidiaries. Our majority owned subsidiary, CheckFree
Management Corporation, merged into CheckFree Services Corporatlon effecnve June 30, 2004. We have
climinated all significant intercompany transactlons

Use of Estimates — The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The
preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of centingent assets
and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during our reporting period. Our actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — We consider all highly liquid debt instrumcnts purchaécd with maturities of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. .

Investments — We have certain investments in marketable debt securities that are classified as available-
for-sale in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” (“SFAS 115”). Beginning with the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, we started investing in available-for-sale securities. Our available-for-sale investmerits
are recorded at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded as unrealized gains and losses in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity of our consolidated
balance sheet. '

We have certain other investments in venture capital. investment portfolio funds as well as equity and debt
securities that are accounted for under the cost method. Under the cost method of accounting, investments
are carried at cost and are adjusted only for other-than-temporary declines in fair value, distributions of
earnings and additional investments. We periodically evaluate whether declines in fair value of our other
investments are other-than-temporary. In performing this evaluation, we consider various factors including
any decline in market price, where available, the investee’s financial condition, results of operations,
operating trends and other financial ratios.

We have received equity instruments in connection with agreements with certain partners. In such cases,
our initial cost was determined based on the estimated fair value of the equity instruments received.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of these equity instruments are accounted for in accordance with the
investment policies described above.

During April 2004, we formed a joint venture, EBPP, Ltd., with Voca, Limited in the United Kingdom,
known as OneVu Limited (“OneVu”). OneVu is designed to create an integrated electronic billing and
payment network for billers and banks in the United Kingdom. During the fiscal years ended

June 30, 2005 and 2004, we invested $2,818,000 and $1,212,000, respectively, in the joint venture. We
have completed the funding of our initial commitment of approximately $3,150,000 and continued to .
contribute an additional $880,000 towards our final commitment of $3,150,000 to the joint venture. We
provide 100% of OneVu’s necessary working capital requirements during its formative stage. We are
accounting for the investment in OneVu under the equlty method. :

67




. Derivative Financiat Instruinénts -G July 1, 2000, we adopted SFAS |
" Instruments and Hedging Activities,” (“SFAS 133”) as amended, which

During-fiscal year A2004,‘we 'améndéd our investment policy to éllow for
instruments in certain instances. This change was implemented to manage the variability of cash flows _

¢

Settlement: Assets and. Obligations — Amotints receivable from our agents and clients, as well as amounts

~ payable to our agén'ts and clients associated with our walk-in-payment services, are classified as settlement

assets and obligations. The majority of these assets and obligations: result from timing differences. between

~our agents collecting funds from the consumers maki g the payments and depositing the funds collected

<, "

info our bank accounts. Settiément assets and obligations ‘arise due to our reporting’ of transactions to our

 clients’ prior to-fulfilling the payment ‘obligation.’

Concentrations of Credit Risk — Financial instruments 'that_’pot_entially subject us to concentrations of
credit risk consist of cash, investments and trade accounts réceivable.: Excess cash'is invested through

X T

" banks, miitual ‘fiiuxifdé’afld'brékérage 'ho'tisé':"s primarily in’ highly liquid securities. We have investment

policies:and procedures that limit any concentration of credit risk with single issuérs. With respect to

_accounts receivablé; we do not generally. require collateral and believe that any credit risk is substantially
‘mitigated by the nature of our customers’ and reasonably short collection terms. We maintain reserves for -

"potential .credit losses.on customer accounts when:deemed necessary. - S,

133; “Accounting for Defivative
requires ‘that all derivative -~
financial instruments, b'e,recogniuzs;dias;ejther.assqts‘v or liabilities. on the balance -sheet _at fair value. -
Derivatives that are not :h_cdges“ar'e, -adjusted to fair value through -our Qoqsolidatéd~Astateme,nt-of.’op_e_rat-ionsz..-
If the_Ad(;rivativc;-qugliﬁes_f as a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of
derivatives are gither offset .against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities, or firm commitments.- - - -
through-earnings or recognized in;accumulated other comprehensive income _(loss),.a:component of - .

~ : ‘stockholders’ equity.of our-consolidated balance sheet; until-the-hedged item i Tecoghized in earnings. The
- ineffective -portion of a_derivative’s change in fair valu¢ is immediately reco

gnized in earnings.

coatn h AR Er TN ST T TR

‘the, use of. derivative financial.
related’ts interé,ét Tate séns‘itiyé’“_'of:‘tions of processing and serv iciﬁ revenue.

) We do not enter into
derivative financial instruments’ for'speculative or'trading purposes. e A :

L
i

i

Pr(_)_p;e;fty and E,q.uip.m}en‘t,‘—.,Erdperiy_énd, equipment a;re étatcdvat» ‘co_st.,,Propcrty and equipment are .

‘ depreciated using the straight-line' method over. the estimated; useful lives, as follows: land improvements,

building and building improvements; 15.to 30 years; computer equipment, software and furniture, ,
18 months to seven years. Equipment under capital leases is amortized using the straight-line method over
the lesser of ‘their estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases. Leasehold improvcmf;nts are amortized

over the lessef of the estimated uséful lives of remaining’ lease periods
D I A S - NI [T . S

Capitalizedi.S&;ﬁwarev;,Capitalized softwa_re'inc_:ludes: purchased technology associated with acquisitions -
and- capitalized internal development costs. Purchased technology-is initially recorded based:on the fair:

- value.ascribed at the time of dcquisition: Internal development costs’are .c;apit,al‘izl'cd in.accordance with the. .

provisions; of -either SFAS 86, “Accounting for the .Costs of Computer-Software to Be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed,” (“SFAS 86”) or Statement.of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs

_of 'ngputer"SoftWarg Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” (“SOP 98-17). We determine whether
s‘dftWére"cosI:s“ fall Li_n_de_{ the pr':QVisliOngiof SFAS 86 or SOP 98{ ‘and ‘account for them as follows: * ~*

-

. SFA‘S{S&V—,—,-’S‘(‘)ftWare deveylopl—ne:n‘t-;cfosts incurred prior to. the*establishment, of technological feasibih;ty‘

are expensed as incurred. Software development costs incurred-after the technological feasibility of the
"subje‘ct software product has been established are capitalized in accordance with SFAS 86. Capitalized
software costs are armortized on a’product-by-product basis using either’the ‘estimated economic lifé of
the product on a-straight-liné basis over three to.five years, or the current year gross product revenue to-
‘the current and anticipated future gross product revenue, whichever'produces the greater annual *_*"

amortization. Unarmibrtized" software development costs in’excess of ‘estimatéd future @Y realizable . -
values from a particular product are written down to estirated net realizable value. o

. SOP 98-1 —— Softwétecostiincdrredrin_" th"e:prelifninaryr..pr,ojeclt stage are éxpénsed as-incurred. :Software: -

costs incurred after the preliminary project stage is complete, we have conimitted to the project, -and it -
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is probable the software will be used to perform the function intended are capitalized in accordance with
SOP 98-1. Capitalized software costs are-amortized on a product-by-product basis using the estimated
economic life of the product on a straight-line basis, generally three to five years., Capitalized software
costs not expected to be completed and placed in service are written down to estimated fair value.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair
value of net assets acquired in business combinations accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting.

Other intangibles represent identifiable intangible assets purchased in connection with business
combinations. The costs of identified intangible assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over
periods from eight months to ten years.

We perform our annual goodwill impairment review on April 30 of each year. No indicators for
impairment were evident during our review for fiscal year 2005.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (“SFAS 1447), effective July 1, 2002, we review long-lived assets for
impairment whenever events indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such reviews,
estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with these assets or operations are compared with
their carrying value to determine if a write-down to fair value is required (normally measured by the
expected present value technique). During the year ended June 30, 2003, we performed a review of certain
of our long-lived assets, determined that certain assets were impaired and recorded a charge of $4,245,000
related to the impairment of other intangible assets within our consolidated statement of operations

(see Note 6 for a description of this review).

Transaction Processing — In connection with the timing of our financial transaction processing, we are
exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by other parties, such as returns. We utilize credit
analysis and other controls to manage our credit risk exposure. We also maintain a reserve for future
returns. This reserve is included in accounts receivable on our consolidated balance sheet.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) — We report comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with SFAS 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income.” This Statement requires disclosure of total non-shareowner changes
in equity and its components. Total non-shareowner changes in equity include all changes in equity during
a period except those resulting from investments by and distributions to shareowners. The components of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity of our consolidated
balance sheet, applicable to us are unrealized gains or losses of available-for-sale securities and derivative
instruments, as well as unrealized foreign currency translation differences. Beginning with the quarter
ended September 30, 2002, we started investing in available-for-sale securities, and during fiscal year 2004,
we amended our investment policy to allow for the use of derivative financial instruments in certain
instances. As of June 30, 20035, unrealized foreign currency translation losses of $746,000, gross unrealized
gains of $88,000 offset by gross unrealized losses of $958,000 from our available-for-sale securities, net of
deferred taxes of $458,000, and unrealized loss on interest rate swaps of $1,481,000, net of deferred taxes
of $388,000, have been recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income loss, a component of
stockholders’ equity of our consolidated balance sheet.

Stock-Based Compensation — We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” (“APB 25”). Accordingly, we are not required to record compensation expense when stock
options are granted to employees as long as the exercise price is not less than the fair market value of the
stock when the option is granted. Also, we are riot required to record compensation expense when common
stock is granted under our Associate Stock Purchase Plan as long as the purchase price is not less than
85% of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning or end of each offer period. In October 1995,
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). SFAS 123 allowed us to continue to follow APB 25’s guidelines, but
required pro-forma disclosures of net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share as if we had adopted
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the provisions SFAS 123. In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an Amendment of FASB.Statement 123,” (*“SFAS-148”) -
which provides alternative methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value.
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. SFAS 148 required prominent -, - -
disclosure about the effects on reported net income (loss) of an entity’s accounting policy decisions w1th
respect to stock-based ‘employee compensation and amended APB Opinion 28, “Interim Financial '
Reporting,” to require disclosure about those effects in interim financial information. These disclosure = *
requirements were effective for us in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003. We continue to account for
stock-based compensation under the provisions of APB 25 using the intrinsig:.yalue method.

Had compensation cost for our stock-based compensation plans Béenwdetc‘fhﬂi"ﬁéd based on the féif‘ value at
the grant dates for awards under those plans in accordance with the provisions of SFAS ‘123, our net

income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been as follows -(in thousands except per share
data):

_ Year Ended June 30, ’

‘ ) o ‘ 2005 : 2004 ’ 2003
Net income (loss), as reported .. ...................... e ...... $46,801 ) $ﬁ1’0,53_5 $(’52j,184)
Stock-based compensation included in net income (loss) ...... PP 3,677 1,828 173y
Stock-based compensation under SFAS 123 ....... .. [P (9,281)  (16,589)  (27,764)
Pro forma net income (loss) ./.......... B :-$41','197" ‘ $ (4,226) $(80,123)
Pro forma earnings (loss) per share: S LT : o
Basicand diluted. . ......... ... . ... oo % 04578 (0.05') $ (0.90)

Stock-Related Transactions With Third Parties — We account for stock warrants 1ssued to third parties,
including customers, in accordance with the provisions of the Emergmg Issues Task Force (“EITE”)

96-18, “Accountmg for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in,
Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services,” (“EITF 96-18”) and EITF 01-9, “Accounting for
Consideration Given by a Vendor to 2 Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s' Products)”

(“EITF 01-9”). Under the provisions of EITF 96-18, because none of the agreements have a disincentive -
for non-performance, we record a charge for the fair value of the portion of the wirrants earned from the
point in time when vesting of the warrants becomes probable. Final determination of fair value of the
warrants occurs upon actual vesting. EITF 01-9, which becamie effective for us during the quarter ended
March 31, 2002, requires that the fair value of certain types of warrants issued to customers be recorded as
a reduction of fevenue to the extent of cumulative revenue recorded from that customer. . -

Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share — We report basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share in . .
accordance with the provisions of SFAS.128, “Earnings Per Share,” (“SFAS 1287). Basic earnings (loss)
per common share is determined by. dividing net income (loss) available to common sharcholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted per common share amounts assume the
issuance of common stock for all potentially dilutive equivalent shares outstanding. -

Foreign Currency Translation — The U.S. dollar is the fun‘ctio'nal currency for most of our businesses.
Significant operations with a local currency as functional currency-include operations in the United
Kingdom, Canada,. European Union, and Australia. Foreign currency. denominated. assets and liabilities for
these operations are translated into U.S. dollars based on exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
period, and revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the period: The effects
of foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of assets-and liabilities of those entities
where the functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are included in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity of our consolidated.balance sheet. Realized gains and
losses from currency exchange transactions are recorded in operating expenses in our consolidated
statements of operations and were not. material to our consolidated results of operatlons for fiscal years, -
2005, 2004 and 2003. : :
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Revenue Recognition — Our sources of revenue and methodology of recognition is as follows:

» Processing and servicing — Processing and servicing includes revenues from transaction processing,
electronic funds transfer and monthly service fees on consumer funds transfer services. We recognize
revenues when the services have been performed. Certain customer agreements include minimum
monthly revenue commitments to us and, of those agreements; some have provisions that allow these
minimum commitments to be credited against future services, as defined. We defer any portion of the
minimum revenue commitments that we expect to be credited against future services until the future
services are performed or the credits expire unused. Our estimate of minimums to be credited against
future services is primarily based on customer specific historical experience and volume and growth
experience with other customers. Transaction fees related to our walk-in payment operations are
recorded gross of agent commissions if we are required to invoice our customers for such fees and remit
the commission to our agents. '

As part of processing certain types of transactions, we earn interest from the time money is collected
from our customers until the time payment is made to the applicable merchants. These revenues, which
are generated from trust account balances not included on our consolidated balance sheets, are included
in our processing and servicing revenues and totaled $26,648,000, $14,813,000 and $20,258,000 for the
years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

» License fees — We recognize revenues on software transactions in accordance with SOP 97-2, “Software
Revenue Recognition,” (“SOP 97-2”) as amended by SOP 98-9, “Maodification of SOP 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions” and SOP 81-1, “Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts,” based on the terms and
conditions in the contract. In accordance with the provisions of SOP 97-2, revenues from software
license agreements are recognized when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, the fee
is fixed or determinable, collectibility is probable and the software has been shipped, provided that no
significant obligation remains under the contract. Contracts accounted for under the percentage-of-
completion method are generally measured based on the ratio of labor costs incurred to total estimated
labor costs to be incurred. Changes in estimates to complete and revisions in overall profit estimates on
these contracts are charged to earnings in the period in which they are determined. We accrue for
contract losses if and when the current estimate of total contract costs exceeds total contract revenue.

» Maintenance fees — We recognize‘ maintenance fee revenues ratably over the term of the related
contractual support period, generally 12 months. ‘ ‘

» Other — Other revenues consists primarily of consulting and training services. We recognize consulting
revenues as services are performed and training revenues are recognized upon delivery of the related
services.

Our customers are billed in accordance with contract terms. Maintenance is generally billed on an annual

basis. We record any unrecognizable portion of billed fees as deferred revenue until such time as revenue

recognition is appropriate. Credit losses, if any, are contemplated in the establishment of the allowance for
doubtful accounts.

Advertising Costs — We expense advertising costs as incurred in accordance with SOP 93-7, “Reporting
on Advertising Costs.” Advertising expense for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
$6,064,000, $3,632,000 and $3,227,000, respectively. Advertising expenses are included in sales and
marketing costs in our consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes — We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” (“SFAS 109”) which requires an asset and liability approach to financial accounting and reporting
for income taxes. In accordance with SFAS 109, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed
annually for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will
result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the
periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Income tax expense. (benefit) is
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_the tax payable or refundable-for the period plus or minus the change durmg the period i in deferred tax

assets and hablhtles

Business Segments — We report 1nformat10n about our business segments in accordance wrth SFAS 131,
“Disclosures’ about. Segments of an. Enterprise_and Related Information.” The Statement defines how

operating segments_are determined-and requires-disclosure of certain financial and. descriptive information . -
about.a company’s operating seginents. See Note 20 for our segment information. : :

Related Parties — We c0n51der certam entltres to be related partres as defined by SFAS 57, “Related
Party Disclosures,” based on the abrhty to appoint a member of the board of drrectors as well as the level
of share ownershrp Based on these criteria, Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”) is considered a related '
party in each of the ‘three years in the penod ending June' 30, 2005 First Data Corporatlon (“FDC”) was
consideréd a related party until. the beginning of our quarter ended September 30, 2004 Bank of America
was considered a related party from October 2000 to January 2003.

 Recent Accountmg Pronouncements — In‘December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position

(“FSP”) 1092, “Accounting and'Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision
within the American Jobs*Creation Act of 2004 (“FSP 109-27). FSP-109-2 provides guidance under

- FAS 109 with respect to recording the potentlal impact of the repatriation provisions of the American Jobs

Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”) on enterprises’ income tax expense and deferred tax liability. The
Jobs Act was enacted on October 22, 2004. FSP 109-2 states that an enterprise is allowed time beyond the,
ﬁnan01al reportrng perlod of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on. its plan for remvestment
or repatriation of foreign. earnings for purposes of applymg FAS'109. We have not yet completed our. .
evaluation of the impact of the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act. Accordmgly, as provrded for in FSP
109-2, we have not ad]usted our income tax provision or deferred tax liabilities to reflect the repatriation
provisions of the Jobs Act. A '

In December 2004, the FASB 1ssued a revision to SFAS 123 SFAS l23(R) “Share Based Payment” :
(“SFAS 123(R)”), supersedes APB 25 and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123(R) requires
all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock optlons and shares purchased
under an employee stock purchase'plan (if certain parameters are not met), to be recognized in the
financial statements based ofi” their fair values. Under our Associate Stock Purchase Plan as curréntly °

- defined; the shares purchased by our-employees on June 30 and Deceriiber 31 of each year would be = -

required to be recorded at fair value within our consolidated financial statements under the gurdance of
SFAS 123(R) as our Plan currently offers a discount in excess “of 5%. :

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commrssron (“SEC”), announced the adoptron of a new,

rule that amended thé compliance date of SFAS 123(R) The.new rule allows compames to 1mplement
SFAS 123(R) at the beginning of the next fiscal year, instead of the next réporting period, beginning after

June 15, 2005. For us, the amended effective date did not delay our adoption date. As a result, we will

adopt this Statement in the first quarter of our fiscal year 2006 (quarter ending September 30, 2005),
using the modified prospective method. We are still in the process of evaluating the impact that the
adoption of SFAS 123(R) will have on our consolidated financial stateménts. However, we beliéve that
upon adopting this Statement, we will record stock-based compensauon expense of less than $5,000,000°
dunng the quarter endmg September 30, 2005.

In December 2004 the FASB 1ssued SFAS 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets” (“SFAS 1537).
This Statement addresses the measurement of exchanges of nonmonetary assets. The guidance in APB

* Opinion No. 29, “Accountmg for Nonmonetary Transactions” (“APB 297), is. based on the principle that

exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. The
guidance in APB. 29, however, included certain exceptions to that principle. SFAS 153 amends-APB 29 to-
eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a
general exception for.exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A
nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to

- change significantly as a result of the exchange. This Statement is effective for financial statements for
" fiscal periods beginning after June .15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted -for nonmonetary -asset ’
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exchanges incurred during fiscal years beginning after the date this Statement is issued. We do not believe
that the adoption of this Statement will have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

On July 20, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141, “Business Combinations” {“SFAS 1417} and SFAS 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 141 requires all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. In addition, it
requires application of the provisions of SFAS 142 for goodwill and other intangible assets related to any
business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, but prior to the adoption date of SFAS 142.

SFAS 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Upon adoption, goodwill is no
longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life. Rather, goodwill is subject to at least an
annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. All other acquired intangibles are
separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual or other legal
rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, or exchanged, regardless of the
company’s intent to do so. Other intangibles are amortized over their useful lives.

SFAS 142 became effective for us on July 1, 2002, and had the following impacts:

» We reclassified approximately $1,350,000 of unamortized workforce in place intangible assets, net of the
assocjated deferred income taxes, into goodwill.

» After the reclassification above, goodwill was no longer amortized.

» We performed a transitional impairment test as of July I, 2002. This impairment test required that we
(1) identified our reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning
assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units, and
(3) determine the fair value of each reporting unit. If the carrying value of any reporting unit exceeded
its fair value, then the amount of any goodwill impairment was determined through a fair value analysis
of each of the assigned assets (excluding goodwill) and liabilities.

We recorded a charge of $2,894,000 for impairment of goodwill associated with our acquisition of BlueGill
Technologies, Inc. (currently referred to as CheckFree i-Solutions) upon our adoption of SFAS 142. This
charge is reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change in our consolidated statement of operations
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. Following the transitional impairment test, our goodwill balances
are subject to annual impairment tests using the same process described above. Refer to Note 6 where the
results of our annual impairment test are discussed.

Reclassifications — Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to
conform tfo the fiscal year 2005 presentation.

NOTE 2. ACQUISITIONS
Accurate Software Limited

In April 2005, we completed our acquisition of Accurate Software Limited (“Accurate™) for
approximately $56,982,000 in cash, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. We completed the
acquisition of Accurate to further solidify our leadership in financial software and services, expand our
global presence and client base, and drive continued product innovation in operational risk management
solutions for banks, securities and corporations. Accurate, a United Kingdom-based provider of
reconciliation, exception management, workflow and business intelligence solutions, is part of our Software
Division. We treated this acquisition as a purchase for accounting purposes, and, accordingly, we recorded
assets and liabilities based on their fair market values at the date of the acquisition. Based on the
preliminary purchase price allocation, we recorded goodwill of approximately $40,882,000, not deductible
for tax purposes. As a direct result of our acquisition of Accurate, we recorded a charge in the amount of
$1,039,000 to write down the value of previously capitalized software due to technology redundancy. This
charge is included in depreciation and amortization within our consolidated statement of operations for the
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year ended June 30, 2005. The values ascribed to other acqulred mtangxble assets and thelr respective
future lives are as follows (in thousands):

Intangible
i ‘ © Asset . Useful Life
- Customér relationships ... A P R RRRI 1 P 000’ 0 byrs
Current technology ........ S B S .o 860 2105 yrs
" Covenants not to compete e PRI s RPN 2,490 1 yr.
Tradenames . .«............. e e e 2,026, 1.5 10 3l'yrs -

The effect of our aequjsition of Accurate during fiscal year 2005 was rlot material to us.

Almerlcan Payment Systems Inc

In June 2004, we completed our acquisition of Amencan Payment Systems, Inc (“APS #) from its parerlt
corporation UIL Holdings, for approximately $109,013,000 in cash. We completed the acquisition.to . -

- penetrate a part of the electronic billing and payment market in’ ‘which'we had not ‘materially previously

participated. APS is part of our Electronic-Commerce Division and-a-leading provider of walk-in. payments
to the estimated 20% of United States of America consumers who do not typically rely on bank products
and services. We treated this acquisition as a purchase for accounting purposes, and, accordingly, we
recorded assets and liabilities based on their fair market values at the date of the acquisition. Based on the
purchase price allocation, we recorded goodwill of approximately $77,501,000, deductible for tax purposes.
The values ascnbed to other acqmred 1ntang1ble assets and_their. respectlve future llveS‘ are as follows )
(in thousands): A : - -

R _ Intangible. == -
oETTTL . Assét Useful Life

"Customer relationships . . . R P $10,790 3 to 6 yis.
Current technology .................. I e, e 2,230 4toSyrs

- Covenants not 10 COMPEte:. . .. .. vlueenn e ... i 71,250 4 t0 5 yrs-
Money transfer hcenses...‘ ..... P SN 1,700 L yr

) Tradenames ........ [T o L 2,650, 2tol0yrs T

HelioGraph, Ltd.

In November 2003, we completed our acquisition of HehoGraph Lid. (“HehoGraph”) for approximately
$18,756,000 in-cash. The aCquisition added a financial transactions management solution With straight
through processing and financial messaging expertise to our reconciliation suite of products, in addition to ~
expanding our international presence. HelioGraph is part of CheckFree Financial and Compliance
Solutions, a business unit within our Software Division. In connection with our acquisition of HelioGraph,
we recorded a charge of $324,000 for purchased in-process research and.development. The acquisition was
treated as a purchase for accounting purposes, and, accordingly, we recorded the assets‘ and liabilities based
on their fair market values at the date of the acquisition. Based on the purchase price allocation, we
recorded goodwill of approx1mately $l4 560,000, not deductible for tax purposes. The values ascnbed to
acquired 1ntang1ble assets and their respectlve future lives are as, follows (in thousands)

Intanglble M
) _ N Asset '~ Useful Life
Customer relationshif)s .......... e S e L ‘$ 520 5 yrs
+«Covenants not to compete. e O R ca e 410 , 3 yrs
Current technology S PR Ll o i 880 4to5yrs
Tradenames ........... PR .......... S 110 - 3yfs '

The effects of these acqulsmons made by us during ﬁscal year 2004 were not materlal 1nd1v1dually ‘orin ‘
the‘aggregaie. : ‘ :
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS

Our investments consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2005 2004
Available-for-sale . ... ... . $347,895  $243,526
Other INVEStMEntS .. ...ttt e 918 725
Less: amounts classified as cash equivalents.......... ... ... .. 89,012 102,710
Total Investments .. ...t $259,801  $141,541

Available-for-Sale — The following is a summary of our available-for-sale investment securities
(in thousands):

Cost or .
Amortized Gross Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Values
June 30, 2005:

Corporate bonds .............. e $ 59211 § 9 $(167) §$ 59,053
Asset-backed securities. ... ... ... 21,470 25 {95) 21,400
Collateralized mortgage obligations ....... 11,404 26 (224) 11,206
Commercial paper...................... 2,760 — — 2,760

U.S. Government and federal agency
obligations ............ ... L. 46,382 2 (241) 46,143
Municipal bonds . ..... ... ... .. .. 74,208 12 (17) 74,203
Money market and mutual funds and other 103,152 — — 103,152
Mortgage pass-through securities ......... 30,178 14 (214) 29,978
Available-for-sale investments ... ......... 348,765 88 (958) 347,895
Less: amounts classified as cash equivalents 89,012 ' 89,012
Net available-for-sale investments .... $259,753 $ 88  $(958) $258,383

June 30, 2004:

Corporate bonds ....................... $ 44853  $196  $(293) $ 44,756
Asset-backed securities. . ................ 20,511 89 (107) 20,493
Collateralized mortgage obligations ....... 5,072 1 (194) 4.879
Commercial paper...................... 7,146 — — 7,146

U.S. Government and federal agency
obligations ....... ... . ... ... 40,699 S5 (184) 40,570
Municipal bonds . ............ ... .. ... 4,770 — — 4,770
Money market and mutual funds ......... 98,588 — — 98,588
Mortgage pass-through securities ......... 22,264 108 (48) 22,324
Available-for-sale investments ............ 243,903 449 (826) 243,526
Less: amounts classified as cash equivalents 102,710 102,710
Net available-for-sale investments .... $141,193  $449  $(826) $140,816

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is based on quoted market values or estimates from
independent pricing services.

We have determined that the unrealized losses in our available-for-sale investments, comprised of 135
and 93 securities, are deenied to be temporary impairments as of June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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We believe that the unrealized losses generally are caused by increases in market interest rates rather than
adverse changes in cash flows or a fundamental weakness in the credit quality of the issuer or underlying
assets. We believe that the investment’s full principal will be returned to us at maturity.

The following table summarizes the aggregate amount of cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized losses,
and estimated fair values of our investments classified as available-for-sale as of June 30, 2005 and 2004

(in thousands):

Estimated

Cost or Gross
Amortized - Unrealized Fair
Cost Losses Values
June 30, 2005: . » .
Corporate bonds” .. .............. ... ... L. $21,.270 $¢167) $ 21 103.
Asset-backed securities . . . . .. D 14,663 (95) 14,568
Collateralized mortgage obligations..................... - 9,849 (224) " 9,625
U.S. Government and federal agency obligations ......... 45,321 (241) 45,080
Municipal bonds ... ..ot 11,595 (17) 11,578
Mortgage pass-through securities ...................... 21,979 (214) 21,765
Impaired available-for-sale investments ............... $124,677 $(958) - $123,719
June 30, 2004: B , b
Corporate bonds . ... ... e oo $27,549 0 $(293)  $ 27,256
Asset-backed securities. .. ... ... . L e 5,386 (107) 5,279
Collateralized mortgage obligations............. e . 4,825 (194) 4,631, o
U.S. Government and federal agency obligations ......... 34811 (184) 34,627
Mortgage pass-through securities ...................... 11,733 - - -(48) 11,685.
Impaired available-for-sale investments . .............. $ 84,304 $(826) " § 83478

The following table summarizes the unrcahzed losses on our available- for sale 1nvestment securities for
which other-than- -temporary 1mpa1rments have not been recognized as of June 30 2005 and 2004

{in thousands):

Less than Equal or Greater than
12 Months Impaired i 12 Months Impaired - Total Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Fair Values Losses Fair Values Losses Fai’r Values Losses
June 30, 2005: L
Corporate bonds .. ...... $ 11,227 § (66) $ 9876 §  (101) $ 21,103 § (167)
Asset-backed securities . . 12,385 (69) - 2,183 - (26) 14,568 - (95)
Collateralized mortgage ' —— _
obligations ........... 6,193 (47) 3,432 177y~ 9,625 {224)
U.S. Government and
federal agency ‘ _ o
obligations ........... 13,328 (8%) 31,752 (156) 45,080 (241)
Municipal bonds .. ... .. 11,578 (17) — — 11,578 (17)
Mortgage pass- through . '
securltles ............. 21,563 (212) 202 (2) 21,765 (214)
Impalrcd available-for- ‘ . .
sale investments .... $ 76,274 $ (496) $ 47445 $- (462) $ 123719 $
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Less than Equal or Greater than

12 Months Impaired 12 Months Impaired Total Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Fair Values Losses Fair Values Losses Fair Values 1osses
June 30, 2004; ‘
Corporate bonds ........ $ 19,163 § (142) § 8,093 § (151) § 27,256 $‘ (293)
Asset-backed securities . . 2,203 (16) 3,076 9D 5,279 (107)
Collateralized mortgage
obligations ........... — — 4,631 (194) 4,631 (194)
U.S. Government and
federal agency
obligations ........... 34,627 (184) — — 34,627 (184)
Mortgage pass-through
securities ............ 11,685 (48) — — 11,685 (48)
Impaired available-for-
sale investments .... $ 67678 § (390) § 15800 $ (436) § 83478 § {(826)

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of our debt securities classified as
available-for-sale investments using estimated fair values as of June 30, 2005 (in thousands):

Contractual Maturities

After Five
After One Year Years
Within One through Five through Ten After Ten
Year Years Years Years

Corperate bonds . ................... $ 45,143 ¢ 13910 § — 3 —
Asset-backed securities. . ............. — 18,264 961 2,175
Collateralized mortgage obligations . ... — 1,251 1,541 8,414
U.S. Government and federal agency

obligations ........... ... . 7,129 39,014 — —
Municipal bonds ............ ... ... 11,578 — — 62,625
Mortgage pass-through securities ... ... 815 724 680 27,759
Total debt securities classified as

available-for-sale investments ....... $ 64,665 $ 73,163 $ 3,182 $ 100,973

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of our debt securities classified as
available-for-sale investments as of June 30, 2005 (in thousands):

Cost or
Amortized Estimated

Contractual Maturities Cost Fair Values

Due In one year or I85S ... .ottt e $ 65166 $§ 64,665
Due after one year through five years . ............. ... ... ... ... 73,522 73,163
Due after five years through ten years . ...... .. e 3,184 3,182
Due aftertenyears.. ... .. ... i . 100,981 100,973
Total. ... P $ 242,853 $ 241,983

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because debt issuers may have the right to call
or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. We classify, in our consolidated balance
sheet, our investments based on their expected maturities rather than contractual maturities. During the
quarter ended March 31, 2005, we began classifying our auction rate preferred and debt instruments as
available-for-sale rather than as cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated balance sheet. As of




June 30, 2005, we had approximately $79 150,000 in auction- rate- securmes As of June 30, 2004, we did
not have such investments.

In 2003, we sold available-for-sale investments of approximately $26'2,704,000. We recognized gross gains
of $4,000 and gross losses of $40,000 on those sales. In 2004, we sold available-for-sale investments of

approximately $255,972,000. We recognized gross gains of $247,000 and gross losses of $484,000 on those
sales. In 2003, we sold available-for-sale securities of approximately.$24,936,000 and. recogmzed no gross

* gains or losses on those sales.

The amount of the net unrealized holding gains or (losses).on available-for-sale securities included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $(412,000),
$(238,000), and $471,000, respectively. The amount of losses reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into earnings for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005, 2004.and 2003 were
$24,000, $210,000, and $0, respectively. We use the specific identification method to determine the basis
on which the cost of a security is sold or the amount that we reclassify out of the accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity of our consolidated balance sheet, into
earnings. :

In the quarter ended March 31, 2005 we recorded a $592,000 gam on the sale of stock. While we do not
typically invest in equity securities, we received shares of stock from an insurance vendor that
demutualized. We sold the shares shortly after we received them, and recorded the proceeds as a gain on
investments.

In April 2004, we transferred all of our held-to-maturity investments to the available-for-sale category. We
determined that we no longér had the positive intent to hold our investment in securities classified as
held-to-maturity for an indefinite period of time due to our desire to have more flexibility in managing our
investrment portfolio. The securities transferred had a total amortized cost of $43,769,000; fair value of .
$43,842,000 and unrealized gross gains of $514,000 and unrealized gross losses of $441,000 at the time of
the transfer. The net unrealized gain of $73,000 was recorded within the-accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss), a component of our stockholder’s equity of our consohdated balance sheet, at the time of
transfer. As a result of the reclassification, SFAS 115 prohibits us- from classifying securities as
held-to-maturity for two years following the transfer.

Other investments — We account for other investments under the cost- method.: Our other investments
include common stock, warrants and venture capital initiatives. The common stocks and warrants consist.
of preferred stock warrants in a non-publicly traded electronic billing related company. The fair value of
our investments was approximately $110,000 as of June 30, 2005 and 2004.

Our venture capital investments are in early to'mid-stage financial solutions and technology companies.

We have made a commitment to invest $1,000,000 and+$4,000,000 in two-separate venture capital
initiatives. Actual contributions are made at the point in time a specific company in which venture capital '
will be invested is identified. The fair value of our venture capital initiative with a $1,000,0000
commitment was approximately $721,000 and $615,000 as of June 30, 2005 and 2004. The fair value of
our venture capital initiative with a $4,000,0000 commitment was approx1mately $87, 000 and $0 as of

- June 30, 2005 and 2004.

During the year ended June 30, 2003, we recorded losses on certain of our‘other investments. The losses
were the result of our evaluation of any other-than-temporary decline in the fair value of these
investments. In performing this evaluation, we considered various factors including any decline in market
price, where available, the investee’s financial condition, results of operations, operating trends and other
financial ratios. Based on these factors, we recorded:a loss of. $3 228,000 w1th1n our consolidated statement
of operations for the year.ended June 30, 2003.

Pledged investments — We have pledged certain available-for-sale mvestments as collateral for payments
due under our operating leases and have three standby letters of credlt relatéd to our operating leases. In
conjunction with our operating leases, the total amount of our collaferalized available-for-sale investments
and standby letters of credit at June 30, 2005 and 2004 was approx1mate1y $2 953 000 and $3 866,000,
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respectively. The standby letters of credit associated with our operating leases expire at various dates
through April 2006 but automatically renew yearly through the underlying lease expiration dates. Our
operating leases expire at various dates through February 2014. We had classified a deposit in the amount
of $3,000,000 as a restricted investment as of June 30, 2003 until the lease associated with such deposit
expired during fiscal year 2004,

NOTE 4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The components of our accounts receivable consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2005 2004
Trade accounts receivable . .. ... ... .. . . $114,238  $102,706
Unbilled trade accounts receivable. .......... .. ... ... .. . i .. 3,729 4,336
Other receivables ... .. ... . . 12,537 5,641
Total .o 130,504 112,683
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts . ........ ... ... . ... 2,571 834

Accounts receivable, net . ... ... ... e $127,933  $111,849

Trade accounts receivable represents amounts billed to our customers. We recognize revenues and bill
customers under service agreements as we perform services. Unbilled trade accounts receivable result
primarily from extended payment terms not in excess of one year on software license agreements. For
software contracts, we recognize revenues under the provisions of SOP 97-2 as described in Note 1, and
unbilled amounts under those software contracts are billed on specific dates according to contractual terms.
Other receivables are comprised primarily of interest receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts
represents our estimate of uncollectible accounts receivable.

NOTE 5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The components of our property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2005 2004
Land and land improvements . ........... ... .. ... $ 4944 § 4944
Building and building improvements . ........ ... ... i, 51,928 51,390
Computer equipment and software licenses .......................... 235,863 206,946
Furniture and equipment. .. ... .. ... .. e 21,589 20,781
Total .o 314,324 284,061
Less: accumulated depreciation ............... ... . ... .. ... 225,051 192,149
Property and equipment, net. . ... ... .. ..ot $ 89,273  § 91,912

Depreciation expense totaled $37,502,000, $35,520,000 and $36,631,000 for the years ended
June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

NOTE 6. GOODWILIL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Impairment of Intangible Assets

Upon adoption of SFAS 142, we performed a transitional impairment test and recorded a charge of
$2.894,000 for impairment of goodwill. The transitional impairment charge is reflected as a cumulative
effect of accounting change in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended

June 30, 2003.
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During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended June-30, 2003, we performed.our annual impairment
review for goodwill and other intangible assets. The conditions which gave rise to indications of
impairment during the year ended June 30, 2002, continued to. be present during the- year ended

June 30; 2003. As a result of our-assessment, we recorded a charge of $10,228,000, which reptesents a
SFAS 142 goodwill impairment of $5,983,000 and a SFAS 144 impairment of other intangible assets of
$4,245,000 both related to our CheckFree i-Solutions reporting unit. This amount is mcluded in
impairment of intangible assets in our consolidated statement of operations. -

In April 2005, we completed our acquisition of Accurate and, based on the prehmmary purchase pnce
allocation, we, recorded goodwill of approximately $40,882,000.

In June 2004, we completed our acquisition of APS and, based on the purchase price allocation, we
recorded goodwill of approximately $74,957,000. In December 2004, we made a final purchase price
adjustment of $3,277,000. We recorded $733,000 of deferred tax assets related to our final purchase price
adjustments.

In November 2003, we completed our acquisition of HelioGraph and, based on the purchase p’rice‘

- allocation, we recorded goodwill of approximately $14,783,000. In December 2004, we received a refund of

an escrow deposn resultmg in a final purchase price ad]ustment of $223,000.

As of June 30, 2005 and 2004, our only non-amortizing intangible asset is goodwrll The changes in the
carrying value of goodwill' by segment, were as follows (in thousands): '

,‘Elec‘tronic L Invéstment -
_ Commerce Software. . 7 Services - - - Total
Balance as of June 30, 2003 ......... . $503,738 $‘ 8,106 $ 11,387 $523,231
Goodwill acquired ............. S 74957 14,783 — 89740
Balance as of June 30,2004 ................ S . 578;695 22, 889 - 11,387 © 612,971
Goodwill acquired ............. ... ... ... ..., + - 2,544 40,6359 — 43,203
Balance as of June 30, 2005 .. ... oieiiiia $581,239  $ 63,548 S 11387 ' $656,174
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The components of our various amortized intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2005 2004
Capitalized software: -
Product technology from acquisitions and strategic agreement......... $167,458  $167,458
Internal development CoStS .. ... .ot e 33,226 31,519
Total ............... A S 200,684 198,977
Less: accumulated amortization ... ............c. i, . 194,509 187,465
Capitalized software, net........................ $ 6,175 $ 11,512
Strategic agreements:
Strategic agreements. ... ..o L $744,423  $744.424
" Less: accumulated amortization . ........ [P 596,975 473,034
Strategic agreements, DEt .. ... ...t $147,448  $271,390
Other infangible assets: ~
Tradenames ............... .. ... .. ... e $ 52,754  $ 50,728
CUStOMIET DASE vttt e e e e e 57,068 46,068
Current technology .. .ottt e 4,090 2,230
Money transfer censes . ....... ... . L i 1,700 1,700
Covenants not t0 COMPELE. . ..o vvv et e U 5,350 2,860
8 120,962 103,586
Less: accumulated amortization ... ... ... . . i 90,027 81,916
Other intangible assets, net.......... .. ... i $ 30,935 § 21,670

) Strategic agreements primarily include certain entity-level covenants not to compete.

Amortization of intangible assets totaled $139,096,000, $142,062,000 and $190, 007 000 for the years ended
June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Amortization expense for the next five fiscal years is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2006 .. e e $53,749
2007 @ DU [P Lo 32933
2008 o PO T 31,015
2009 ... S PR SR 29462

2010 .o S 28,822

NOTE 7. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The components of our accrued liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Jupe 30,
2005 2004
Compensation and benefits ... ....... ..t $ 33,156 § 37,953
Reorgamzation Ie8eIVeS . ..o vttt et ettt e 5,356 732
O her . . oo 33,677 28,526
Total $ 72,189 § 67211




NOTE 8. FINANCING AGREEMENTS, - . .. . .

In August 2003, our wholly owned subsidiaries, CheckFree Services and Bastogne, Inc., a bankruptcy-
_remote; special purpose entity (“Bastogne”), entered into a Master Agreement with SunTrust Bank,

Atlanta, Georgia (“SunTrust”) with respect to acnvmes in our Electronic Commerce Division. Under this

Master Agreement, SunTrust provides us with Automated Clearmg House (“ACH™) and other electronics
* funds transfer services, on behalf of Bastogne ini connection with the recelpt investment, custody and
transmission of subscriber funds: In addition, SunTrust Bank and its afﬁhates provrde us with' varicus
deposit accounts-and investment.accounts and services to Bastogne. CheckFree Services provrdes .
processing and administrative services to Bastogne to facilitate transactions'under the Master-Agreement.

SunTrust has agreed to provide a facility to Bastogne to cover overdrafts occurring from time to time due
to timing differences between transmission of subscriber funds and movement of funds from Bastogne’s
investment accounts to the zero balance demand deposxt account marntalned by. Bastogne with SunTrust.
In addition, SunTrust provides ACH services, and maintains and permlts Bastogne to use SunTrust’s
MasterCard ICA. transit number and' VISA bank identification fiimbers to facilitate: transactions in the
MasterCard and VISA systems. The obligations of Bastogne under-the Master Agreement to SunTrust are
guaranteed by CheckFree Services, which has pledged substantially all the assets of its Electromc
Commerce Division to secure such guarantee ‘ -

Line of Credit — We have a senior secured revolving credit facility that provides us with up to’
$185,000,000 in revolving credit loans, including swingline loans and the issuance of letters of credit. Our
revolving credit facility matures in Augnst 2007 and borrowings are-subject to periodic payments and bear
interest at one of two rates, at our option, either Prime: plus 0% to 1% or LIBOR plus 1% to 2%. In
addition to contalmng customary covenants, which are not expected to significantly affect our operations,
our secured revolving credit facility does not allow for the payment of cash dividends on our common

-~ stock. We had no outstanding balance under our secured revolving credit. facrhty as of June 30, 2005 and
2004 and:were in’ comphance with .all debt covenants. . coL s

NOTE 9 CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES

On November 29, 1999, we 1ssued $172 500 000 of 6 5% convertlble subordrnated notes that were due on
December 1, 2006. In Décetfiber 2003}-we redeemed the ndtes. The 8172,500,000 principal amount, along
with a call premium of $4,813,000, was paid in cash. In addmon we incurred a non-cash charge of
$2,407,000 due to the, wnte off of the remaining unamortlzed bond issuance costs. These amounts are
inctuded in interest expense for ‘the year ended Juné 30 2004. Interest on the notés was payable on June 1
and December 1 of each year, commencmg on June 1, 2000. Interest expense on the’ notes for the years
‘ended Jane 30, 2004, and 2003, was $7,755,000 and $12,023,000, respectively. There was no interest
"expense on the notes durmg ﬁscal year ZOOS as the notes were redeemed dunng the fiscal year 2004.

NOTE 10 CAPITAL LEASE AND OTHER LONG TERM. OBLIGATIONS

We lease certain equipment under capital leases. and purchase certain software licenses under long-term
agreements. We are requlred to pay certain taxes, insurance and other expenses related to the leased
property : L R SRR I

The components of our capltal leases 1nc1uded i our consolidated. balance sheets are as follows + - -
(in thousands) : -

- o June 30,

v L » ‘ ... 2005 2004
Equlpment and software hcenses e U el 0813, 583 $ 19,962
Less acoumulated deprecratlon and amornzanon AT R Clreee 8,310 8,764

Property under caprtal Ieases net. e R 5273 $.11,198




Future minimum lease payments required by our capital lease commitments are not material to us as of
June 30, 2005.

Additionally, we have purchased software licenses under agreements with extended payment terms. Total
amounts due under these agreements are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2000 o $ 498
2007 407
2008 32
Total future minimum lease payments . ...........c.. i, 937
Less: amount representing INterest ... .....oouuu vt 78
Net future minimum Payments . ... ..o u ittt $ 859

On April 2, 2004, we received a $25,000,000 deposit from a customer in connection with a contract
modification relating to the timing of transaction settlements. The agreement has an initial term of four
years and automatically renews thereafter unless terminated with 180 days notice. During the term of the
agreement, we are required to pay the customer a variable rate of interest on a monthly basis equal to the
then current overnight repurchase agreement rate. The deposit is reflected as a long-term liability in our
consolidated balance sheets. There are no restrictions on the deposit, and the funds are available to us for
general use. The deposit will be refunded to our customer upon termination of the agreement.

NOTE 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases — We lease office space and equipment under operating leases. Certain leases contain
renewal options and generally provide that we are required to pay for insurance, taxes and maintenance. In
addition, certain leases include rent escalations throughout the terms of the lease. Total expense under all
operating lease agreements for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $19,895,000,
$23,500,000 and $23,917,000, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments on June 30, 2005 under these leases are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2006 .. $ 15,120
2007 e 12,794
2008 . 12,176
2000 L e 12,322
2000 11,813
CThereafter ..o 38,654

Future minimum lease payments ............ ... .. ittt .. $102,879

We have pledged certain available-for-sale investments as collateral for payments due under our operating
leases and have three standby letters of credit related to our operating leases. In conjunction with our
operating leases, the total amount of our collateralized available-for-sale investments and standby letters of
credit at June 30, 2005 and 2004 was approximately $2,953,000 and $3,866,000, respectively. The standby
letters of credit associated with our operating leases expire at various dates through April 2006 but
automatically renew yearly through the underlying lease expiration dates. Our operating leases expire at
various dates through February 2014, We had classified a deposit in the amount of $3,000,000 as a
restricted investment as of June 30, 2003 until the lease associated with such deposit expired during fiscal
year 2004, '

Guarantees — In connection with our MSFDC, L.L.C. (“TransPoint’}) acquisition, we entered into
commercial agreements with Microsoft and FDC to provide payment processing services. These
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agreements included ‘minimum guaranteed revenue commitments totaling $180,000,000 over five years.

The monthly minimum commitments from Microsoft and FDC increase over the five year term of the :
agreements. Currently, Microsoft and FDC are each operating substantlally below their minimum monthly
commltments and we do not expect these customers to increase their activity such that they would operate .
above the minimum commitments pnor to the ‘expiration of the commercial agreements "

FASB Interpretation 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,»Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” (“FIN 45”) requires that a guarantor recognize, at the
inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair.value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.
The following is a summary of agreements that we have determined to be within the scope of FIN 45:

(1) We warrant that our software products will perform in all material respects in accordance with
our standard published specifications in effect at the time of delivery of the licenséd products to
the customer for 90 days. Additionally, we warrant that our services will be performed consistent
with generally accepted industry standards or specific service levels through completion of the
agreed upon services. If necessary, we would provide for the- estimated cost of product and
service warranties based on specrﬁc warranty claims and- clalm history, however, we have not
incurred srgnrﬁcant recurring expénse under our product or service warranties. As a result we
believe the estimated liabilities rélated to these agreements are not materral

(2) CheckFree Services guarantees the obligations of one of its wholly owned subs1d1anes See
Note 8.

We have entered into the following guarantees related to our walk-in payment operations. The transmittal
of consumer funds for three customers is guaranteed. We have issued bonds and letters of credit totaling
$21,500,000 on behalf of consumers in the event that consumer funds are not remitted to billers
Historically, payments made related to us settling claims under these arrangements have not been

significant. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value of any unsettled claims is nominal. Accordmgly, ’

we have no liabilities recorded for these arrangements as of June 30 2005. -

Litigation — We are party to a number of other'claims and lawsuits that are incidental to our business. In
our opinion, the ultimate outcome of such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a
material.adverse impact on our financial position, liquidity or results of operations.

NOTE‘ 12. CAPITAL STOCK

On November 1, 2000, our stockholders approved an increase in the number of authorized shares from
165,000,000 to 550,000,000, consisting of 500,000,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value,
48,500,000 shares of preferred stock, $.01 par value, and 1,500,000 shares of Series A Junior Participating
Cumulative Preferred Stock, $.01 par value. The preferred stock may be issued in one or more series and
may be established with such relative voting, dividend, redemption liquidatlon conversion and other
powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions as our board of directors may
determine without further stockholder approval No preferred shares have been dissued ‘through

June 30, 2005. ‘

In January 1997, our board of directors declared a dividend distribution of Preferred Share Purchase
Rights (“Rights”) to protect our stockholders in the event of an unsolicited attempt to acquire us. On
February 14, 1997, the Rights were 1ssued to our stockholders of record, with an expiration-date of - -
10 years. Until a person or group acqu1res 15% or more of our common stock the Rights will = .
automatically trade with our shares of common stock. Only when a person or group has acquired 15% or
more of our common stock, will the Rights become exercisable and separate certificates issued. Prior to
the acquisition by a person or group of beneficial ownership of 15% or more ‘of our common stock the
Rights are redeemable for$.001 per Right at the option of our board of directors. .
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NOTE 13. TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Employee Plans

During 1995, we adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan”). The options granted under the
1995 Plan may be either incentive stock options or non-statutory stock options. The terms of the options
granted under the 1995 Plan are at the sole discretion of a committee of members of our board of
directors, not to exceed ten ycars. Generally, options vest at either 33% or 20% per year from the date of
grant. The 1995 Plan originally provided us with the ability of granting options for not more than
5,000,000 shares of common stock to certain of our key employees, officers and directors. In November
1998 and again in November 2000, the 1995 Plan was amended by a vote of our shareholders to extend
the maximum option grants to not more than 8,000,000 shares and not more than 12,000,000 shares,
respectively. Options granted under the 1995 Plan are exercisable according to the terms of each option,
however, in the event of a change in control or merger as defined, the options shall become immediately
exercisable.

In November 2002, our stockholders approved the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Plan”). Under
the provisions of the 2002 Plan, we have the ability to grant incentive or non-qualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock, performance units or performance shares for not more than
6,000,000 shares of common stock (such shares to be supplied from the 12,000,000 shares approved for
the 1995 Plan) to certain of our key employees, officers and non-employee, directors. The terms of the
options, SARs, restricted stock, performance units or performance shares granted under the 2002 Plan are
determined by a committee of our Board of Directors, however, in the event of a change in control as
defined in the 2002 Plan, they shall become immediately exercisable. The 2002 Plan replaced the 1995
Plan, except that the 1995 Plan continues to exist to the extent that options granted prior to the effective
date of the 2002 Plan continue to remain outstanding. At June 30, 2005, there were 3,566,456 additional
shares available for grant under the 2002 Plan.

In the event that shares purchased through the exercise of incentive stock options are sold within one year
of exercise, we are entitled to a tax deduction. The tax benefit of the deduction is not reflected in our
consolidated statements of operations but is reflected as an increase in additional paid-in capital.

The following table summarizes the activity under our 1995 and 2002 Plans, including restricted stock
from July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2005:

Year Ended
June 30, 2005 June 30, 2004 June 30, 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number of  Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding — Beginning of period ... 5,657,281 $25.07 = 7,236,216 $31.72 8,084,673 $34.25
Granted ........... .. ... .. .. ...... 571,669 8.10 661,529 17.13 1,195,168 15.89
EXercised .. ......vuii . (731,661) 1412 (571,844) 1251  (533263) 13.01
Cancelled ..o ovo i (355.041)  21.24 (1,668,620) 5507 (1,510,362) 39.37
Outstanding — End of period ...... .. 5,142,248  $25.11 5,657,281  $25.07 7,236,216  $31.72

Options exercisable at end of period... 3,793,662 $28.81 3,494,088 $28.82 3,972,477 $37.79

Weighted average per-share fair value
of options granted during the year .. $22.28 $21.10 $12.25

85




The following table summarizes information about our stock options and restricted stock outstanding as of
June 30, 2005:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average oo ‘Weighted

. " Remaining © Average

. Number of ~ Contractual . Exercise Number of Exercise

Range of Exercise Price - Options ’ Llfe Price Options - ‘Price .
$000—8 1500.......... U 1,816,756 45 $1031 1,039,505 $ 13.69
$1501 —$ 3000, ........ ... 1,549,635 . 6.7 21.02 1,073,614 - 19.03
$30.01 — $ 60.00...... P 1,685,732 53 - 40.56 1,590,418 41.00
$60.01 —$ 90.00.......... e — — - = —
$90.01 — $120.00. ... ... ..ot 90,125 4.5”‘ 10450 90,125 . 104.50
5,142,248 . $ 25.11 3,793,662 $ 28.81

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used.for grants in the years ended .
June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively: dividend yield of 0% in all periods; expected volatility of 55%, -
61% and 95%: risk-free interest-rates of 3.15%, 2.95% and 3. 47%, and expected lives of three to six yéars.

On August 6, 2004, we granted 341,837 shares of restncted stock related to a Long Term Incentlve
Compensation (“LTIC”) program under our 2002 Plan and recorded unearned compensation of
$8,721,000 within stockholders’ equity during the year ended June '30, 2005. The shares of réstricted- stock
granted under the LTIC program have a five-year vesting penod with an accelerated Vestmg provision of
three years based on achievement of specific goals and objectives. We recorded ‘an expense of- .
approximately $2,553,000 for the year ended June 30, 2005 related to the vesting of the restricted ‘stock..

In June 2003, we made an offer (the “Tender Offer”) to certain of our employees to exchange options
with exercise prices greater than or equal to $44.00 per share outstanding under our 1983 Incentive Stock
Option Plan, 1983 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan, 1993 Stock Option Plan, Third Amended and
Restated 1995 Plan, BlueGill Technologies, .Inic. 1997 Stock Optron Plan, BlueGill Technologles Inc. 1998
Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Qption Plan, and 2002 Plan, for restricted stock units of our common
stock, and in certain cases, cash payments. Restricted stock units issued under the Tender Offer vest -

« ratably over a three-year period. The offer period closed on July 17, 2003, and employees holding

1,165,035 options participated in the Tender Offer. We made cash payments fotaling $586,000 in July
2003 representing the cash consideration portion of the Tender Offer, and we will issue approximately -
153,000 shares of restricted stock under the 2002 Plan on or about July 17, 2006. We recorded an expense
of 82,112,000 and $2,994,000 for the years ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for cash payments
made and the vesting of restricted stock units. There was.no financial impact to us for the year ended
June 30, 2003. On July 19, 2004, we issued 51,143 shares relating to the portion .of the Tender Offer that
vested on July 17, 2004. In total, 80,588 shares actually vested, of which.29,445:shares were retdined by us
to fund the employee’s payroll taxes associated with the vesting. On July 19, 2005, we issued 42,756 shares
relating to the portion of the Tender Offer that vested on July 17, 2005. In total, 67,174 shares actually
vested, of which 24,418 shares were retained by us to fund the employee s payroll taxes associated with the -
vesting. ‘

Under our 1997 Associate Stock Purchase Plan, effective for the six-month period beginning

January 1, 1997, we are authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of our common stock to our full-time
employees, nearly all of whom are eligible to participate. In November 2002, cur stockholders approved-an
increase in the number of shares reserved and available for sale under our 1997 Associate Stock Purchase
Plan from 1,000,000 shares to 2,000,000 shares. Under the terms of the Associate Stock Purchase Plan,
our employees can choose, every six months, to have up to 15% of their salary withheld to purchase our
common stock. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lower of its beginning-of-period or end-of-
period market price. Participation in the plan by eligible employees has ranged from 25% to 50% in any
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given six-month period. Under the Plan, we issued 67,204 shares in July 2005, 92,805 in January 2005,
72,293 in July 2004, 74,952 in January 2004, 98,741 in July 2003 and 128,033 in January 2003 from our
employees’ salary withholdings from the respective previous six-month period. As of June 30, 2005, there
are 791,983 shares available for future issuance to our employees under our Associate Stock Purchase
Plan. On June 13, 2005, we amended our Associate Stock Purchase Plan to-remove the look-back feature.

Following is a summary of the weighted average fair market value of the look-back feature estimated on
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the related assumptions used:

June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31,

2005 ‘ 2004 2004 2003 2003 2002
Fair value of options......... $ 9.27 $ - 761 $§ 736 $ 846  § 7.73 $ 5.08
Assumptions: C o : o
Risk-free interest rate. ... 2.6% 1.7% 1.0% 1.0% 1.2% 1.8%
Expected life ........... 3 months ~ 3 months 3 months 3 months - 3 months 3 months
Volatility .............. 33.9% 33.5% 43.7% 53.8% 107.9% 71.8%
Dividend yield . ......... 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

In January 1997, our board of directors approved an amendment to our 401 (k) plan, which authorized up
to 1,000,000 shares of our common stock to be used by us to match our employee contributions to our

401 (k) plan. Our board of directors authorized an additional 1,000,000 shares of our common stock for the
matching contribution in November 2002, We issued 108,484 shares in August 2004,-149,844 shares in
August 2003 and 402,102 shares in August 2002 to fund our 401(k) match that had accrued during the
years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of June 30, 2005, there were 965, 469 shares
available for future contributions to our 401 (k) plan. In August 2005, we issued §2,242 shares to fund the
employer contribution of our 401 (k) plan for fiscal year ended June 30, 2005

Stock Related Transactions Wlth Third Parties — In October 2000, we completed an agreement to
acquire various electronic billing and payment assets from Bank of America in exchange for

10,000,000 shares of our common stock, $35,000,000 in cash and warrants to acquire an additional
10,000,000 shares of our common stock. In connection with a December 2003 modification of the terms of
our processing services agreement with Bank of America, the amount of shares available under the
warrants was reduced to 5,000,000. Bank of America has the ability to earn warrants for up to

5,000,000 shares, 3,000,000 of which vest upon achievement of specific levels of active subscriber adoption
of electronic billing and payment services and 2,000,000 of which vest upon achievemeént of specific levels
of electronic bills delivered, as defined. The warrants have a strike price of $32.50. At the time that
vesting of a portion of these warrants becomes probable, we will record a charge for the fair value of the
portion of the warrants earned to date based on Bank of America’s progress towards achieving the
milestones set forth in the agreement. We will continue to record a charge each period for any additional
portion of the warrants earned, plus any change in fair value of the cumulative amount of warrants carned
to date, up to the point in time that the milestones are.achieved and actual vesting occurs. Any charge
associated with these warrants will be recorded as a reduction of revenue up to the aggregate amount of
revenue received from Bank of America.

In October 1999, we entered into an agreement with one of our customers. Under the terms of the
agreement, the customer purchased 250,000 shares of our common stock and has been issued warrants on
1,000,000 shares. All warrants reflect a strike price of $39.25 and became exercisable on

September 15, 2002. During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, vesting of the warrants for 1,000,000 shares
became probable. As such, we recorded a non-cash charge to revenues of $2,748,000 for the fair value of
the portion of the warrants earned through June 30, 2002 based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model
valuation. At September 15, 2002, upon actual vesting, we determined the final fair value of the 1,000,000
warrants taking into consideration the market value of our stock at that date. During the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash increase in revenue of $644,000, reflecting the portion of the :
warrants earned during the quarter and the final fair value of the 1,000,000 warrants that vested on ’
September 15, 2002. Fair value was determined based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model valuation.
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‘NOTE 15. EMPLOYEE, BENEFIT PLANS

In January 1998, we entered. into a ten-year proc‘es»s'i‘ng agreement with a s’trategic partner. Under the
~terms of the agreement, the partner acquired ten-year warrants exercisable at $20'%:s for 10,000,000 shares

qf— our common stock. 3,000,000 warrants vested upon ‘_th,e;exc;‘cution of -a related ,pr‘obc_essing outsourcing
agreement’on. March 9, 1998, During the year ended June 30, 2001,.the strategic partner’s business was

dissolved, and~'theref0re, does, not have the ability to earn any of the remaining 7,000,000 warrants. During
each of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, the strategic partner exercised 750,000 of the

vested warrants and 1,500,000 remain outgt‘aﬁding‘at June 30; 2005.

NOTE 14. EARNINGS (LOSS), PER SHARE

" The ’folloiwin'g tablé‘reconcilés‘the differences in earnings (loss) ‘per share and shares outstanding between.
“basic and dilutive for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended June 30, 2005 Year Ended June 30, 2004 ’ Ye'ér Ended June 30, 2003 '

Net Income Shares Earnings Net Income- -Shares ' Farnings Net Loss Shares " Loss
) (Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share (Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share (Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share
: :Basic EPS.... ... ... '3 46,801 90,7678 . 0528 10,535 . 89870 $. . 0128  (52,184) .. 88,807 §  (0.59)
‘Effective of dilutive © .
securities: )
7.7 - Options and ‘warrants. . Lo 2,148 ) = 1,994 = T - S
Dili:‘t'ed‘EPS‘f..‘._._‘.4‘.‘:. $. 46801 . 929158 0508 Closys - 918648 O01$  (52084)  88807TS  (0.59)

Anti;&il_l,i:tioqzé_rQVisibns of SFAS 128 r:eqlvli"rfe cohsiétency-'bthéeﬁ dilixtéd:‘pér-cbmmon-share_ amounts and
basic per-common-share amounts .in loss periods. Had we recognized net income, an additional 3,567,000 = -
of in-the-money options and warrants would have been included in the diluted earnings per share

‘ 4

- calculation for the year ended June 30, 2003. Using the treasury stock method prescribed by SFAS 128,

‘this wpqldfhayé increased, our diluted‘?sha_res outstanding by 747,000 for the year-ended June 30, 2003. -

Our diluteq welghted a\{g:r}'age céfrimoﬁ: shares outsrf.'andingi for ,tlilé years, ended. June 30, 20705,,2004 and
2003, also exclude the effect of approximately 2,603,000, 3,222,000 and 6,411,000 of out-of-the-money

options dnd warrants, respectively. In addition, our diluted weighted average common ‘shares outstanding

. for fiscal year 2003 éxcludes the-2,357,000. share effect for-the assumed conversion of the convertiblé
" subordinated notes, as their effect would be anti~ dilutive. The after-tax effect of interest expense on our
- convertible subordinated notes for the year ended June 30, 2003, was not added back to the numerator, as
" its effect, would be aj__riti\;dilllitivve‘.‘l" he convertible subordinated notes were redeemed in-December 2003.

T

Retirement Plan — We have a.defined cdntﬁbuﬁ(é'n’. 401(k) retiremént plan covering substantially all of

-our Ur.'S_.‘-b;{sed._ ¢m‘ploy‘é‘e"s4. Under the plan, eligible employees ma)r/‘contribilte‘a‘portion of their salary
--until retirement’ and e, at our’ discretion, may match"a portion”of our employee’s contribution. In January
-+ 2002, we.added a'similar plari covering substantially all our non U.S.-based employees. Total expense under
" both of our plans amounted to $3,040,000, $3,009,000 and $3,476,‘OOO for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004

and 2003; respectively. e L . o ‘
Pension Plan — We have a.defined contribution bcnsion plan for our eligible United Kingdom employees. -°

- Total contributions amounted to-$361,000, $130,000 and $56,000 for the years ended June 30; 2005; 2004 -

and 2003; respectively. --

Deferréd-- Compe;]sa‘tio‘n' Plan.— In January («1- 999, wé:established a.deferred compensatioﬁ plan (the -

“DCP”) _cbvcring our highly compensated employees as defined by the. DCP. Under the plan, eligible

..~ employees may contribute a portion of their salary on a pre-tax basis. The DCP is a non-qualified plan, -
T therefore the associated liabilities are included in our-consolidated balance sheets as.of June. 30, 2005 and -
" 2004. In addition, we have established a rabbi- trust-to finance our obligations under the DCP with

corporate-owned life insurance ‘policies on participants,- The cash surrender value of such policies is also




included in our consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2005 and 2004. Total expense under the DCP
for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 amounted to $229,000, $161,000 and $131,000, respectively.

Group Medical Plans — Effective January 1, 2000, we converted all of our U.S.-based employees to a
group medical self-insurance plan. We have employed an administrator to manage this plan. Under terms
of this plan, both we and eligible employees are required to make contributions. The administrator reviews
all claims filed and authorizes the payment of benefits. We have stop-loss insurance coverage on all
individual claims exceeding $300,000. Prior to January 1, 2000, we had a group medical self-insurance
plan covering certain of our employees, and medical insurance coverage under managed care health plans
covering the remaining employees. We provide supplemental medical insurance coverage to our non
U.S.-based employees. Total expenses for medical insurance coverage including premiums amounted to
$16,113,000, $13,014,000 and $11,434,000 for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Under the self-insurance plan, we expense amounts as claims are incurred and liabilities are recorded for
incurred but not reported claims. At June 30, 2005 and 2004, we accrued $3,155,000 and $2,924,000,
respectively, as a liability for costs incurred but not paid under this plan.

In December 1998, we created CheckFree Management Corporation to administer our employee medical

benefits program. We owned a controlling interest in the subsidiary until June 30, 2004 and, therefore, the
accompanying consolidated financial statements include our subsidiary’s results of operations until that date.
On June 30, 2004, we legally merged CheckFree Management Corporation into CheckFree Services Corporation.

NOTE 16. REORGANIZATION CHARGES

Reorganization of fiscal year 2005 — On June 16, 2005, we terminated the employment of approximately
200 associates, re-scoping many positions with the intent to re-hire as quickly as possible, and the
elimination of some others. As part of the action, we announced that our Electronic Billing and Payment
operations at our Waterloo, Ontario, Canada facility will be moved to our headquarters in Norcross,
Georgia, before October 31, 2005.

Following the guidance of SFAS 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,”
we recorded $5,585,000 of reorganization charges for the year ended June 30, 2005, which consisted of
severance and related benefits costs. We will record the charges related to the exit costs from our
Waterloo facility, if any, when we are no longer in the facility, which is expected to be before October
2005. We expect our reorganization to be completed by April 2006 and anticipate no additional charges
relating to the reorganization charge. '

A summary of our reorganization charge recorded by us during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2005 by
reportable segment is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
June 30, 2005

Reorganization charge:

Electronic CommMETICE . . ... v\ v ittt et e e e e e $ 3,208
Tnvestment SEIVICES . ...\ttt e - 313
SO WAL . . oo 1,876
COTPOLALE « . ottt e e P 188

Total ..o S $ 5,585

As of June 30, 2004, we had approximately $732,000 of unpaid office closure costs related to our fiscal
year 2002 reorganization.




1]

A summary of activity related to our reorganization charge activities is as follows (in thousands):

Office
Severance Closure
and Other and .
Employee Business
» ) Costs Exit Costs Total
Balance as of June 30, 2003 ... ... \ouiirt $ . — $ 1537 $1,537
Cash payments year ended June 30, 2004 ................ .= (805) {803)
Balance as of June 30,2004 ................ N PP — 732 732
~ Reorganization charge ............ R ‘ 5,585 B 5,585
' Cash paymentsi year ended June 30,2005 .............. .. ‘ (385) (576) . (961)

Balance as of June 30, 2005 . ... .| SRR $ 5200 $ 156  $5.356

NOTE 17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We use derivative financial instruments to manage our exposure to the variability associated with the -
interest rate sensitive portion of our processing and servicing revenue, specifically, to effectively fix the
interest rate on a portion of our interest rate sensitive reveniie.” At inception, we formally-designate and
document our swaps as cash flow hedges of the variability in interest rate sensitive revenue and state the
risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction.

We formally assess, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the swap is highly effective in
offsetting changes in the cash flows of our underlying interest rate sensitive revenue. The critical terms of

_ the interest rate swap and the hedged interest rate sensitive revenu€ are the same. Accordingly, there is no
ineffectiveness relating to these interest rate swaps. Pursuant to SFAS 133, the effective portion of changes
in the fair value of these interest rate swaps are recorded, net of tax, as a component of accumulatéd other
comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equlty of our consolidated balance sheet. Any
ineffectiveness of the cash flow hedge would be reclassified to procéssing and servicing revenue as eammgs
are affected by the cash flow variability of the underlying interest rate sensitive revenue. '

On April 23, 2004, we entered into three interest rate swap agreements We also entered into two separate
interest swap agreements on July 23 and November 5, 2004. Each swap agreement has a notional amount
of $25,000,000, for a total of $125,000,000.

Changes in fair value of the net liability of approximately $1,500, 000 and $350,000 as of June 30, 2005 -
and 2004, respectively, related to our cash flow hedges included in accumulated other comprehenswe loss
as of June 30, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows (after-tax, in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2005 . 2004
Beginning balance ....... ... .. e 8 (544) $ —
Net losses from cash flow hedges ........... ... . ... .. ... . (549) (544)
Net amounts reclassified to earnings . ............................... ‘ — L —
Ending balance . ... .. o\ooro e R $ (1,093) $  (544)

We expect that approximately $895,000 of the ending balance of :deferred net losses associated with cash -
flow hedges will be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to processing and -
servicing revenues during the next twelve months. We expect that the amount reclassified will generally
offset the anticipated change in earnings relating to the variability of the cash flows.of the underlying
interest rate sensitive revenue. The maximum length of time over which we are hedging is four years,
although the average life of all outstanding interest swap agreements is currently one year.
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NOTE 18. INCOME TAXES

Our income (loss) before income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003
Domestic ..\t $ 75726 $§ 11,398 $ (81,903)
FOreign . ..ot e e (3,885) 332 (493)
Total income (loss) before income taxes.......... $ 71,841  $ 11,730  $ (82,396)

O\lI‘ income tax ex CI1SE benefit COHSiStS of the followin il’l thousands :
1% g
Year Ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003
Current:
Federal ....... .. ... . $ 36410 $ 11,780 § 1,700
State and local. ... ... .. . . . 2,518 2,191 —
Foreign......... .. (187) 154 341
Total current .. ... ... .. 38,741 14,125 2,041
Deferred:
Federal ... ... ... ... .. . (13,620) (11,209) (30,219)
State and local. . ......... .. ... ... .. 505 (603) 4,511
FOreign . ..ot (586) (1,118) (417)
Total deferred ................ ... . ... ..., (13,701) (12,930) (35,147)
Total income tax expense (benefit) ............ § 25040 $ 1,195 § (33,106)
Effective income taxrate . ...................... 34.9% 10.2% 40.2%

Our income tax expense (benefit) differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal
statutory income tax rate of 35 percent to income before income taxes as a result of the following
(in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003

Computed “expected” tax expense (beneﬁt) ........ $ 25144 % 4,106 § (28,838)
Nondeductible intangible charges .................. — — 2,094
State and local taxes, net of federal income tax

benefits.......... ... 2,142 (796) (4,715)
Deemed dividend from foreign affiliate ............. 144 1,329 —
Federal, state and foreign tax credits ............... (5,291) (3,779) (2,080)
Valuation allowance ........ .. ... ... ... .. ..... 1,624 1,114 —
Impact of change in effective state tax rates......... 1,287 (1,353) —
Other,net.. ... . o (10) 574 433

Total income tax expense (benefit) .............. $ 25040 $ 1,195 $ (33,106)




The tax effects of temporary differences that g{ve rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities at June 30, ‘2005 and 2004 are as follc_)'ws (in thousands):

June 30,
2005 2004
Deferred tax assets: .
Federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards........ $ 3,728 § 19,768
, Federal, state and foreign tax credit carryforwards .............. 3:,‘962 ' 14,530
Allowance for bad debts and returns .~ ... .. ... AU . 702 855
Accrued compensation and relatcd 1tems ..... e 2680 LSTT o :
Stock Warrants ........ ... e Lo 1244570 0 14,797
- Property and equipment ... ... e ‘ 849 - —
Other investments and other. . .................. ... ... ..... 7,183 C 4,702
Deferred revenue ................. P 1,232 - 1,481
Reserve accruals. . .............. R e 5,574 7,140
Capitalized software. .. ............. e P 443 .=
Other intangible assets . .. e " 11,691 o —
Déferred tax assets.......... . ..... [ " 50,489 v64,8'50
Deferred tax liabilities;
Capitalized soffware. ... — (1,101)
Property and equipment ............... e I — (2,346)
Intangible assets ... ... (4,967) (28,652)
Prepaid expenses............... e P (1,696) =~ = —
Deferred tax liabilities . . ... ...... ST DR L (6,663) - (32,099)
Valuation allowance .. ........... P L (2738) (L114)
Net deferred tax assets ................... e A, ... . % 41,088 % 31,637 -

At June 30, 2005, we had approximately $71,000,000 of state net operating loss carryforwards available,
expiring in 2006 to 2025 Additionally, at June 30, 2005, we had approx1mately $2,000,000 of state and
$1,800,000 of foreign tax credit carryforwards available, expiring in 2007 to 2013 and 2007 to 2010, ,
respectively. The tax attributes of certain positions we have taken on our statutory tax filings are complex
and we expect challenges from the taxing authorities, and accordingly such deductions will not be finalized
until'an examination of our tax returns has been completed. Accordingly,; we have provided a reserve of
approximately $9,200,000 and $8,600,000 for future resolution of these uncertain tax matters, as of

June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. While we believe the tax reserve is adequate the ultimate: resolution
of these tax matters may exceed or be below the reserve. : :

The realization of our deferred tax assets, which relate primarily to our net operating loss carryforwards .
and temporary differences, is dependent on our ability to geperate sufficient taxable income in' future
periods. At each year end, we evaluate the recoverability of pur tax assets. Based on our evaluation of our
expected future profitability and changes in certain states’ tax laws, we determined that it is more likely
than not that certain of our foreign research tax credits and state net operating loss carryforwards would
not be realized. Accordingly, we increased our foreign research credit valuation allowance by $303,000 to
$1,617,000 and established a valuation allowance relating to our state net operating loss of $1,121,000 for -
the portion of our carryforwards recorded as of June 30, 2005 that may not be utilized by us prior to
expiration. :
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NOTE 19. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
) ‘ Year Ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Interest paid................ ... i, e $ 970 $6,233  $12,028
Call premium for redemption of convertible notes .............. $ — $4813 § —
Income taxes paid, net .. ... ... .. $41,109 $8,152 $ 2,770
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing
activities:
Capital lease additions and acquisitions of other long-term » »
ASSEES .« it e $ 710 $1,247 $13,105
Stock funding of 401(k) match ............ ... .. ... .. ... $ 3,100 $3,144 §$ 3,229
Stock funding of Associate Stock Purchase Plan ............. $ 3997 $3,208 $ 3,274

NOTE 20. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We operate in three business segments — Electronic Commerce, Software and Investment Services. These
reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. A further
description of each of our business segments along with the Corporate services area follows:

» Electronic Commerce — Electronic Commerce provides services that allow consumers to receive
electronic bills through the Internet, pay bills received electronically or in paper form'to anyone and
perform ordinary banking transactions including balance inquiries, transfers between accounts and
on-line statement reconciliation. These services are primarily directed to financial institutions,
internet financial sites, personal financial management software providers and the customers of
these businesses.

» Software — Software includes software products and related services for electronic billing, ACH
processing and account reconciliation. These products and services are primarily directed to large
corporations and financial institutions.

» Investment Services — Investment Services includes investment portfolio management services and
investment trading and reporting services. These products and services are primarily directed to
fee-based money managers and financial planners who manage investments of institutions and high
net worth individuals. '

» Corporate — Corporate services include human resources, legal, finance and accounting and various
other of our unallocated overhead charges.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies.” We evaluate performance based on revenues and operating income (loss)
of our respective segments. Segment operating income (loss) excludes intangible asset amortization,
in-process research and development costs and significant one-time charges related to reorganizations and
various business and asset acquisitions. There are no inter-segment sales.
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The followmg sets forth certain financial information attnbutable to our business segments for the years

ended Junc 30, 2005,.2004 and 2003:

Year Ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003
) (In thousands)
Reveniies: v S
Electronic Commerce ......50......... AU PO $ 580,696 $ 452,732 $ 405,373
Investment Services . S e 96,064 86,270 81,562
Software ............... PR e 81,072 67,462 . 64,711
Total .o $ 757832 $ 606,464 $ 551,646
Segment operating-income (loss): ' _ SR . .
Electronic COMMETCe ... ..oovoron e, e % 207,796 $ 155,724 $ 115,539
Investment Services. ... .c........ooueeineenan... U 18,638 19,911 21,062
Software- ... .....c......... e e -~ 17,748 14,293 - 18,008
: Corporate . . e U (37,595) (33,256) (33,798)
11 e 206,587 156,672 - 120,811
Purchase accounting amortization ........ P (133,446) (136,558)  "(183,342)
Equity in net loss of joint venture ............. e S (2,984) (593) . —
Reorganization chafge ....... S I S (5,585) — "(1,405)
Write off of capltahzed software ....... e r e : _._",,(Alv,,039)_,_ T ——._ B
Gain (loss) on investments................ P D 592 —_— (3 228)
Impairment of intangible assets.. . . .. . O PP SR — — (10,228)
Impact of warrants-. . ... RPN e e i = - 644
In-process research and development ......... e = (324) —
Interest, net ......... JE 7,716 (7,467) (5,648)
Total income (loss) before i 1ncome taxes and cumiulative R B o
effect of accountlng change ..... e coee. § 71,841 0§ 11,730 $ (82,396)
Identifiable assets: ‘ ) ‘ o
Electronic Commerce ............... T eeeelo S1028,S11 $1,105,751  $1,046,063
TInvestment Services . . e e e 43 161 62,838 37,696
Software ............. SRR P 118252 - 40171 39,782
~ Corporate ............... e e P 379,992 ‘ 340,172 463,729
Total . .... el R .. 31569916  $1,548,932 . $1,587,270
Capital expenditures: ' ] , . ' I
Electronic Commerce ............. e h T .. % 26,783 0§ 18,113 31,963
Investment Services . ... . ... ...l ol 6,246 5446 - 4,857
Software .. ..o SRR e RO 651 708 ° 381
Corporate ................... P PR T DOk 462 228
Total oo ST $ 34603 S 24729 $ 37,429
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Year Ended June 30,
2005 2004 20603
(In thousands)

Depreciation and amortization:

Electronic COMMEICE ... .\ vv it e et ei e $ 157,756 $ 158,873 § 202,313
Investment ServiCes . ..ottt e e 7,919 6,725 8,126
Software . ... . e 7,076 7,115 10,665
COTPOrate ot 3,847 4,869 5,534

Total L. $ 176,598 § 177,582 § 226,638

For the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003, one customer accounted for $134,459,000,
$119,003,000 and $94,265,000 of our consolidated revenues, respectively. Revenues for that customer were
generated through our Electronic Commerce, Software and Investment Services segments. Foreign sales
based on the location of our customers, for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
$17,267,000, $13,157,000 and $9,491,000, respectively. Long-lived assefs by geographic area are as follows
(in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2005 2004
United S1ates . ..ot $ 856,032 $§ 992438
Other . o e 73,973 17,017
Total L $ 930,005 $1,009,455

NOTE 21. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following quarterly financial information for the years ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 includes all
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of our quarterly results of operations
(in thousands, except per share data):

Quarter Ended
September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30

FISCAL 2005

Total reVENUES . .ottt ettt e $177,833 $185,756 $191,220  $203,023
Income from operations .......................... 8,970 20,384 21,806 15,357
Netincome ..., 6,207 13,043 15,606 11,945
Basic earnings per share:
Net income per common share ................ $ 007 $ 014 $ 017 §$§ 0.13
Weighted average number of shares ............ 90,315 90,545 90,864 90,962

Diluted earnings per share:
Net income per common share ................ $ 0.07 $ 0.14 $ 017 $ 013

Weighted average number of shares ............ 92,212 93,019 93,052 93,054




FISCAL 2004

Total Tevenues . ..............ooennn...
Income (loss) from operations ..........
Net income (l0ss) . ............. P

Basw earnings (loss) per sharc

"Net income (loss) per commen-share
Weightcd average number of shares

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) per common share

'Weighted average number of shares

..............

- Quarter Ended

June 30

September 30~ December 31 March 31

$141264  $149936 $15523%  $160,026
(7,388) 5450 9387 12,341
(6,669) - (1,896) 7,696 11,404

$ (0.07) $ (0.02) $ 009 $ 0.3
89,463 ' 89,624 89,924 90,166

$ (007) $ (002) $ 008 $ 0.I2
89,463

89,624 . 92, 053

92,279

The sum of our quarterly eammgs (loss) per common share does not always equal the year-to- date
earnings (loss) per common share for the respective fiscal periods, due to changes in the We1ghted average

numbcr of shares outstandlng at each quarter-end.
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SCHEDULE I — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

BALANCE AS
OF CHARGES TO BALANCE AS
BEGINNING COSTS AND OF END OF
OF PERIOD EXPENSES DEDUCTIONS PERIOD
(In thousands)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
2005 . $ 834 $2,197 $ 460 $2,571
2004 ... $1,670 $ (757) $ 79 $ 834
2003 .. $2,000 $ (232) $ 98 $1,670
Reserve for Returns
2005 . $1,171 $1,247 $1,398 $1,020
2004 .. $1,262 $2,483 $2,574 $1,171

2003 . ‘ $1,706 $1,235 $1,679 $1,262
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on .Accodnting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures.
Evaluatwn of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information we are required to disclose in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and commumcated to our
management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardmg required disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our management, with the participation of our -
chief executive officer and chief financial officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Exchange Act. Based
upon this evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were (1) designed to ensure that material information relating to our
company is.accumulated and made known to our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, in a timely manner, particularly during the period in which this report was being
prepared and (2) effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to
disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Management believes, however, that a controls system, no matter how well designed and operated,
cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met, and no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control and instances of fraud, if any, within a company
have been detected.

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. With the participation of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, our.
management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, our
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of -

June 30, 2005.

Our independent auditor, Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
has issued a report on our management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. This
report appears on page 59 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act) during our fiscal quarter ended-
June 30, 2005, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

98




Part 111

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Election of Directors,”
“Executive Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy
Statement rélating to our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on November 2, 2005
(the “Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Information Concerning the
Board of Directors, Executive Officers and Principal Stockholders” and “Information Concerning
Compensation” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Ownership of Qur Common
Stock by Directors and Executive Officers,” “Ownership of Our Common Stock by Principal
Stockholders” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation™ in our Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is included under the caption “Fees of the Independent Public
Accountants for Fiscal 2005” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Sch‘edules‘.“

Part IV,

(a) The following documents are ﬁled'as part of this repOrt'

(1) The following financial statements are 1ncluded herem n Item 8&:

Report of Independent Reglstered Pubhc Accountmg Flrm on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting . RETITp N

Report of Independent Reglstered Pubhc Accountmg F1rm
- Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30 2005 and 2004

Consohdated Statements .of Operatlons for each of the three years in.the penod ended
June 30, 2005.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for each of the. three years in the period .
ended June 30, 2005.

- Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the perlod ended
June 30, 2005.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. - -

(2) The following'ﬁnancial_-statement schedule is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8:

Schedule 1T — Valuatlon and Qualifying Accounts

Schedules not hsted above are orrntted because of the absence of the condltlons under which

they are requ1red or because the required mformanon is mcluded in the financial statements or the
notes thereto.

Exhibit

Number

2(a)

2(b)

(3) Exhibits:
Exhibit Description
Agreement and Plan Merger and Contribution Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2000, among
Microsoft Corporation, First Data Corporation, Citibank, N.A., MS II, LLC, First Data, L.L.C,,
H & B Finance, Inc., First Data International Partner, Inc., MSFDC International, Inc., C1t1corp
Electronic Commerce, Inc., CheckFree Holdings Corporation,_ Chopper Merger Corporation, and
CheckFree Corporation. (Reference is made to Exhibit 2(b). of the Registration Statement on

Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-32644) filed with the Secuntres and Exchange Commission on
March 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.).

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 7, 2000 among CheckFree ‘
Holdings Corporation, Microsoft Corporation, First Data Corporation, Cltlbank N.A., H&B Finance, -
Inc., FDC International Partner, Inc., FDR Subsidiary Corp., MS FDC International, Inc,, Citi

TransPoint Holdings. Inc., TransPoint Acquisition Corporation, Tank Acquisition Corporation, Chop-
per Merger Corporation, CheckFree Corporation, Microsoft I, LLC and First Data, L.L.C. (Refer-

“ence is madeto Appendix A of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-41098).

2(¢)

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 10, 2000, and incorporated herein_by
reference.)

Amended and Restated Strategic Alliance Master Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2000, among
CheckFree Holdings Corporation, CheckFree Services Corporation and Bank of America, N.A.
(Reference is made to Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Special Meeting of
Stockholders held on September 28, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit
Number

2(d)

3(a)

3(b)

3(c)
3(d)

4(a)

4(b)

4(c)

4(d)

4(e)

10(a)
10(b)

10(c)

Exhibit Description

Stock Purchase Agreement by and among UIL Holdings Corporation, United Resources, Inc. and
CheckFree Corporation, dated December 16, 2003 (Reference is made to Exhibit 2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on February 12, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference; the Company
agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedules to this Agreement to the Securities
and Exchange Commission upon request).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. (Reference is made to
Exhibit 4(e) to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-50322), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Certificate of Ownership and Merger Merging CheckFree Corporation into CheckFree Holdings
Corporation. (Reference is made to Exhibit 3(b) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
June 30, 2000, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 26, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

By-Laws of the Company. (Reference is made to Exhibit 3(b) to the Current Report on Form 8-K,
dated December 22, 1997, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 30, 1997,
and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Specimen Stock Certificate. (Reference is made to Exhibit 3(d) to the Company’s
Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2000, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Articles FOURTH, FIFTH, SEVENTH, EIGHTH, TENTH AND ELEVENTH of the Company’s
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation .(contained in the Company’s Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3(a) hereto) and Articles I1, II1, IV, VI and
VIII of the Company’s By-Laws (contained in the Company’s By-Laws filed as Exhibit 3(b) hereto.)

Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 1997, by and between the Company and The Fifth Third
Bank, as Rights Agent. (Reference is made to Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement on Form §-A,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 19, 1997, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement, dated as of February 5, 1999, between CheckFree
Corporation and the Fifth Third Bank, as Rights Agent. (Reference is made to Exhibit 4.2 to
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-26802), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment No. 2 to the Rights Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2000, between CheckFree
Corporation and the Fifth Third Bank, as Rights Agent. (Reference is made to Exhibit 4.3 to
Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-26802), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 3, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment No. 3 to the Rights Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2002, between CheckFree
Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as Rights Agent. (Reference is
made to Exhibit 4.4 to Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-26802),
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

CheckFree Services Corporation 401 (k) Plan (restatement as of June 30, 2005).*

CheckFree Services Corporation Defined Contribution Plan and Trust, sponsored by SunTrust
Bank — Basic Plan Document #02, June 2002 (Prototype plan for CheckFree Services Corporation
401 (k) Plan) (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(b) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on February 8, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.)

CheckFree Corporation Third Amended and Restated Associate Stock Purchase Plan. (Reference is
made to Exhibit 4(a) to the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-101284), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 13, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit
Number

10(d) .,

10(e)

10(f)

Exhlblt Descnptlon

CheckFree Corporation 2002 Stock Incentive Plan. . (Reference is made to Appendix B to the
Company’s Definitive. Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual ‘Meeting of Stockholders held on
November 6, 2002, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commlsswn on October 3, 2002, and
incorporate herein by reference.)+

Form of Restricted Stock Award ‘Agreement for Non Employee Dlrectors (Reference is made to
Exhibit 10(d) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
December 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Comm1ss10n on February 8, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.)+ - .

Form of Performance Accelerated Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Reference is made to

.Exhibit:.10(e) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for. the quarterly, period. ended. .

o December 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commlssron on February 8, 2005, and = :

10(g)

incorporated herein by reference.)+

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement. (Reference is made: to Exhibit 10(f) to the Company s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended. December. 31, 2004, filed with:the

. Securities and Exchange Commission on February 8, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference. )+

10(h)
10(i).

10(9)

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan. (Reference is
made to Exhibit 10(g) to the Company’s Quarterly. Report on Form 10-Q. for the quarterly period
ended December 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commlss1on on February 8, 2005,
and incorporated herein by reference.)+

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (Reference is made
to Exhibit 10(h) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
December 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commlss1on on February 8,.2005, and

incorporated herein by reference. )+ ST )

CheckFree Corporation Third Amended and Restated l995 Stock Opt10n Plan. (Reference is made to
Exhibit 4(d) to Registration Statement on Form S-8, as amended (Registration No. 333-50322), filed

- with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2000, and 1ncorporated herein by

10(k)

10(1)-

reference.)+

CheckFree Corporation Amended and ‘Restated 1993 Stock Option Plan. (Reference is made to
Exhibit 4(a) to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8, as amended (Registration
No. 33-98442), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 9, 1998, and

incorporated herein by reference.)+ . o

BlueGill Technologies, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (reference is made to Exhibit 4(a) to Reglstratlon

* Statement on form S-8 (Registration No. 333-35812), filed with the Securltles .and- Exchange

Commission on April 28, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)+

10(m) BlueGill Technolog1es Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Incentive and Non- Quahﬁed Stock Option

10(n)
10(o0)

10(p)

10(q)

10(r) .

Plan (Reference is made to Exhibit 4(a) to Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration
No. 333-35814), filed with the Securities and Exchange Comm1ss1on on Apnl 28,2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)+

CheckFree Corporation' Nonqualified Deferred Compensatmn Plan dated December 31, 1998.*+
Amendment No. 1 to CheckFree Corporann Nonquahﬁed Deferred Compensatlon Plan, dated
May 5, 2000.*+ .

Second Amendment to the CheckFree Services Corporat1on Nonquahﬁed Deferred Compensation
Plan, dated January 1, 2002.%+-

Form of Indemnification Agreement. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(a) to Registration Statement
on Form S-1, as amended (Registration No. 33-95738); filed with the Securities and- Exchange
Commission on August 14, 1995, and incorporated herein by reference.)+

‘Schedule identifying material details of Indemnification Agreements substantlally identical to Ex-
hibit 10(h). (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(i) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on. Septémber 15, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference )+
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10(s) Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement, dated May 7, 1999, between Peter J. Kight and the
Company. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(j) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10(t) Noncompetition Agreement, dated February 11, 2003, between Mark A. Johnson and the Company.
{Reference is made to Exhibit 10(k) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2003,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2003, and incorporated herein
by reference.)

10{u) Confidentiality and Nonsolicitation Agreement, dated February 11, 2003, between Mark A. Johnson
and the Company. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(1) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year
ended June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10(v) Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Peter J. Kight. (Reference is made to
Exhibit 10(z) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1997, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 26, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.}+

10(w) CheckFree Corporation 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan. (Reference is made to Appendix A to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on October 29, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)+ '

10(x) Form of Stockholder Agreement entered into between the Company and each of Microsoft Corpora-
tion and First Data Corporation. (Reference is made to Exhibit:10(ff) of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-41098) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 10, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.) **

10(y) Form of Registration Rights Agreement entered into between the Company and each of Microsoft
Corporation and First Data Corporation. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(gg) of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-41098) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 10, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.)**

10(z) Form of Registration Rights Agreement entered into between the Company and Citibank, N.A.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 10(hh) of the Company’s Registration Statemient on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-41098) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 10, 2000
and incorporated herein by reference.) **

10(aa) Form of Commercial Alliance Agreement entered into between the Company and Microsoft Corpora-
tion. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(ff) of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-32644) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 18, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.)**

10(bb)Form of Marketing Agreement entered into between the Company and First Data Corporation.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 10(gg) of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-32644) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 18, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.)**

10(cc) Master Agreement, dated August 5, 2003, among Bastogne, Inc., CheckFree Services Corporation and
SunTrust Bank. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(v) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.) **

10(dd)Revolving Credit Agreement, dated August 20, 2004, among CheckFree Corporation, CheckFree
Services Corporation and CheckFree Investment Corporation, as Borrowers, the lenders from time to
time party thereto, SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication
Agent and KeyBank National Association, US Bank and BNP Paribas, as Documentation Agents.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 25, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).




Exhibit :
Number o Exhlblt Description

10(ee) First Amendment to Revolving Credit. Agreement made and entered.into-as of December 7 2004 by:

. and among CheckFree Corporation, CheckFree:Services Corporation, and CheckFree Investment
Corporation, the several banks and other financial-institutions from time to time party thereto (the = =
“Lenders™), and Sun Trust Bank, in its capacity as administrative. agent for the Lenders, as issuing
bank, and as swingline lender. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(c). to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2004, filed with the Securities and

- Exchange Commission on ‘February 8, 2005, and 1ncorporated herein by reference.)
21 Subsidiaries of the Company.*

23..  Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP *

24 Power of Attorney.*

31 (a) Certification of Chief Executive Ofﬁccr under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
31(b) Certification of Chief Financial Ofﬁcer under Section 302 of Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 *

32(a) Certification of Chief Executive Ofﬁcer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 20()2 *oHk
32(b) Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002.%%*

* Filed with this report

, ** Portions of this Exhibit have been given conﬁdentlal treatment by the Secuntrcs and Exchange
- Commission. ‘

*** Furnished with this report. .

+ Management compensatory plan required to be ﬁled pursuant to Item 14(c) of thls Annual Report

- Report on Form 10-K. ‘
(b) Exhlblts

The exhrblts to th1s report follow the Slgnature Page.

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules.

The financial statement schedule is included in Item 8.to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CHECKFREE CORPORATION

Date: September 2, 2005 By: /s/ David E. Mangum

David E. Mangum, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on our behalf and in the capacities indicated on the
2nd day of September, 2005.

* Peter J. Kight Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Peter J. Kight (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  David E. Mangum Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
David E. Mangum (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/  John J. Browne, Jr. Vice President, Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer

John J. Browne, Jr. (Principal Accounting Officer)

* William P. Boardman Director
William P. Boardman

* James D. Dixon Director

James D. Dixon

* Mark A. Johnson Director
Mark A. Johnson

* Lewis C. Levin Director
Lewis C. Levin

* Eugene F. Quinn Director
Eugene F. Quinn

* Jeffrey M. Wilkins Director
Jeffrey M. Wilkins

*By: /s/ Curtis A. Loveland

Curtis A. Loveland,
Attorney-in-Fact
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